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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Good morning.

          3  Good morning, everyone. Thank you for joining us

          4  today. My name is City Councilman Jim Gennaro, Chair

          5  of the New York City Council Committee on

          6  Environmental Protection. I would like to welcome

          7  you to this joint hearing with the Committee on

          8  Education, chaired by Council Member Eva Moskowitz.

          9                 Today we'll hear testimony on five

         10  bills, Intros 414, 415, 416, 417, guess what the

         11  next one is? No, you guessed wrong. It's 428. Okay.

         12                 As a group these bills seek to

         13  protect the environment and health of New York

         14  City's residents, visitors, and workers, by

         15  minimizing harmful emissions from motor vehicles.

         16                 Motor vehicle emissions, diesel

         17  exhaust in particular, pose serious health and

         18  environmental concerns. According to the USEPA, who

         19  is joining us this morning, diesel exhaust is not

         20  only a potential carcinogen, but pollutants, but

         21  also all of the pollutants that are associated with

         22  regular auto emissions, such as particulate matter

         23  and nitrogen oxide, they result in respiratory

         24  problems, such as aggravated asthma and decreased

         25  lung function.
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          2                 The Environment and Human Health,

          3  Incorporated, are a non-profit organization of

          4  doctors, public health professionals, and policy

          5  experts, report that there is no known safe level of

          6  exposure to diesel exhaust for children,

          7  particularly those with respiratory illness.

          8                 As a matter of fact, we even have a

          9  baby in attendance today to dramatize this point.

         10                 One of the bills that we'll be

         11  hearing today, Intro. 428, directly addresses diesel

         12  emissions from school buses. There is absolutely no

         13  reason that vehicles that transfer our children

         14  should be belching out toxic fumes that are

         15  dangerous to their health.

         16                 Intro. 428 was drafted by Council

         17  Member John Liu, who is joining us, and I'll be

         18  asking him to make a statement on that bill shortly.

         19                 In addition, the legislation would

         20  also require ultra-low sulfur diesel fuel, and the

         21  best available technology to be used in vehicles,

         22  including solid waste and recycling vehicles,

         23  sightseeing and school buses. The result of these

         24  bills, what we hope will be, will be a great

         25  reduction in dangerous emissions from vehicles that

                                                            7

          1  ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AND EDUCATION

          2  operate in the City of New York.

          3                 I firmly believe that the legislation

          4  under consideration today is an important step for

          5  our City. Five common sense pieces of legislation

          6  will provide major improvements to our health and

          7  environment.

          8                 Now, before I call on my first

          9  witness from the EPA, I would like to recognize

         10  Council Member Moskowitz, Chair of the Committee on

         11  Education, to make some opening remarks.

         12                 Of course, this is a joint hearing of

         13  my Committee and Eva's, and so it's my honor and

         14  pleasure to call upon my friend and colleague, Eva,

         15  to make an opening statement.

         16                 Council Member Moskowitz.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Thank you very

         18  much.

         19                 I just want to say, and give a little

         20  context for Intro. 428, I think there's a consensus

         21  that we have to do something about school bus

         22  emissions. I don't think anyone can argue with the

         23  harmful effects of our current situation. And just

         24  for context, the Education Committee was actively

         25  involved in this issue starting from about 18 months
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          2  ago, and we were hopeful that the Department of

          3  Education would be able to move quickly and to their

          4  credit they have tried to make use of certain state

          5  monies at our prodding, but it's been a very, very

          6  slow process and I think that we really need the arm

          7  of the law to motivate everyone to do this quickly

          8  and efficiently so that our children are protected

          9  and the air quality is protected.

         10                 So, I look forward to hearing the

         11  testimony and refining this bill, but it seems very

         12  clear that we need to move in an active way. Thank

         13  you very much.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you. Thank

         15  you, Eva.

         16                 I would like to call upon John Liu to

         17  make an opening statement on his school bus bill.

         18  John Liu.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Thank you, and

         20  Council Member, Chairwoman Moskowitz, for conducting

         21  this hearing.

         22                 The set of bills before you today are

         23  of I think vital importance to all New Yorkers.

         24                 First, let me excuse myself in

         25  advance. I think I do have to go convene another
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          2  hearing that is at this point a half an hour late,

          3  but I did want to be here to talk about the bill

          4  that I have the fortune of introducing to our body

          5  in the City Council, that Intro. 428, which requires

          6  that our school buses, our City school buses, begin

          7  to operate using ultra-low sulfur diesel, which does

          8  not have a huge fiscal impact in the immediate

          9  future, and it will also enable us to begin to run

         10  the school buses on an even cleaner basis in the

         11  future once we get to the ULSD fuel.

         12                 This morning I was standing, waiting

         13  for my three and a half year old to get into school,

         14  and all of the little pre-k children were lined up

         15  along the fence about eight feet away from a line of

         16  school buses whose engines were running, and those

         17  fumes were literally being spewed in the faces of

         18  these little three, four and five year old children,

         19  because their faces are not much above the level of

         20  the four-inch wide exhaust pipe that comes out of

         21  the school buses. These fumes are very visible, and

         22  more importantly, they go straight into the lungs of

         23  our youngest school children.

         24                 This is something that we, as a

         25  Council, must do, must take action upon, because
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          2  we've waited too long for the Department to take the

          3  appropriate actions to clean up these school buses,

          4  and rid our school, rid our school fronts of these

          5  fumes that are spewed directly into the face of our

          6  youngest school children.

          7                 So, I want to commend your leadership

          8  for pushing this bill forward, and I look forward to

          9  not only this hearing, but a vote in the future on

         10  this important bill. Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you,

         12  Council Member Liu. I just would also like to state

         13  for the record, the other four bills that we're

         14  considering, 414, 415, 416, 417, are sponsored by

         15  Speaker Gifford Miller, myself and many other

         16  Council members.

         17                 I also would like to recognize the

         18  presence here of Council Member Koppell and Council

         19  Member Peter Vallone, two members of the Committee

         20  on Environmental Protection, two valued members of

         21  that Committee, and I also would recognize the good

         22  work of the staff that made this hearing possible,

         23  Donna DeCostanzo and Rich Colon, my own staff. Peter

         24  Washburn and Brittany Moriarti, and, of course, we

         25  always get a lot of great help from Chris Manning
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          2  from the Mayor's Office, and also Mark Lanigan from

          3  DEP.

          4                 So, we'd like to ask the witnesses

          5  from the EPA, Ray Werner, long-time friend, Mike

          6  Moltson of the EPA. Any other witnesses? Thank you

          7  for being here today.

          8                 I just want to remind my colleagues

          9  that although there are maybe other things that the

         10  Council Members may want to pose questions to, to

         11  EPA, of course, we're going to -- I'm asking my

         12  colleagues to focus their questions for EPA on the

         13  subject matter of today's testimony or today's bills

         14  only. So, with that said, welcome. Welcome,

         15  gentlemen. Thank you for being here.

         16                 Donna DeCostanzo, the Counsel to the

         17  Committee, will give the oath and then you can state

         18  your names for the record and proceed with your good

         19  testimomy.

         20                 Thank you.

         21                 MS. DeCOSTANZO: Please raise your

         22  right hand.

         23                 In your testimony that you're about

         24  to give, do you swear or affirm to tell the truth,

         25  the whole truth and nothing but the truth?
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          2                 (Witnesses Sworn.)

          3                 MS. DeCOSTANZO: Thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: You have to have

          5  the light off on the microphone there. When the

          6  light is off, the microphone is on. And you've got

          7  to speak sort of right into the mic, close like I'm

          8  doing.

          9                 MR. WERNER: How is this?

         10                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay, why don't

         11  you move it closer to you? That way you could not

         12  have to bend over so far.

         13                 MR. WERNER: Well, thank you, Chairman

         14  Gennaro, and the other members of the Committee for

         15  the invitation to testify today. I appreciate the

         16  opportunity to talk about ultra-low sulfur and clean

         17  fuels and the retrofits that we can do and the

         18  benefits the City can derive from an initiative like

         19  this.

         20                 I'd also like to applaud the City for

         21  its ambitious efforts to reduce diesel emissions. We

         22  appeared before this Committee last year on

         23  legislation regarding idling of diesel engines, and

         24  controls of diesel emissions from construction

         25  equipment. And as you know, we supported that
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          2  legislation, and I'd like to congratulate you for

          3  keeping the momentum in this case.

          4                 Just so you don't think that you're

          5  alone in trying to deal with your air quality

          6  problems in the City, even outside of the

          7  transportation sector, a lot of the City's air

          8  pollution comes from outside of the City, from

          9  powerplants in the mid-west, and I just want to

         10  point out that EPA does have a clean air interstate

         11  rule that will reduce emissions from Midwest

         12  powerplants whose emissions come into New York City,

         13  contribute to the smog problem and the particle

         14  problem, and that's sort of the other shoe in this.

         15  And we hope that by ten or 12 years from now, we can

         16  have reductions of about 65 to 70 percent of the

         17  amount of smog, pollution and particles that are

         18  coming into New York City. So, this will compliment

         19  the very necessary measures that we're talking about

         20  today.

         21                 We know why we're here today, diesel

         22  exhaust can cause lung damage, respiratory problems,

         23  exacerbate asthma, an existing allergy, the fine

         24  particles can result in premature death. And, of

         25  course, EPA has found that long-term exposure to
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          2  diesel exhaust can increase the risk of lung cancer.

          3                 There's over 40 hazardous compounds

          4  in diesel exhaust, and as if this wasn't bad enough,

          5  diesel exhaust contributes to the smog problem in

          6  the region, the City and the region as a whole, and

          7  to the fine particle problem. Diesels comprise a

          8  very large percentage, 50 and 75 percent of the

          9  emissions of particles and nitrogen oxides in the

         10  mobile source sector.

         11                 This summer, EPA has recommended that

         12  the five-boroughs of New York City be determined to

         13  be out of compliance with the health-related

         14  standards for fine particles. That is, the fine

         15  particle levels, we also call PM 2.5, are high

         16  enough to cause health effects on the citizenry.

         17                 Earlier in the year we did determine

         18  finally that the air quality in the region,

         19  including New York City exceeds EPA's new

         20  health-related standards for ozone or smog, so we

         21  have a broader problem, an acknowledged problem in

         22  the air quality in this region and in New York City.

         23                 An initiative like this are important

         24  steps forward. As you know, EPA does regulate and

         25  has adopted regulations that will reduce
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          2  smog-forming compounds and particles from diesels.

          3  The two biggest components of that, in addition to

          4  the ones that have already been accomplished are in

          5  the year 2006, in mid-2006, nationwide all diesel

          6  fuel will be required to be ultra-low, what they

          7  call "ultra-low sulfur." That, in itself, will

          8  reduce emissions, but more importantly, perhaps, it

          9  allows for the use of the most efficient control

         10  devices, catalysts, to be put on engines that are

         11  capable of getting between 90 and 95 percent

         12  reduction.

         13                 And that actually will be required on

         14  model year 2007 diesel engines, including school

         15  buses.

         16                 However, those are new engines, okay?

         17  And this is 2006. What the City is doing today is

         18  talking about retrofitting the diesel engines that

         19  are going to be on the road for many years. A diesel

         20  engine is a work horse in our society, they last a

         21  decade or more. So this is why this type of

         22  consideration of retrofitting is so important to the

         23  air quality of the people of New York.

         24                 There are some issues with the

         25  proposed legislation.
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          2                 The Federal Clean Air Act of 1990 is

          3  the Clean Air Act of the Federal Clean Air Act of

          4  the land, and in that, the Clean Air Act regulates

          5  the fuel quality, the kind of fuel that can be sold,

          6  and the kind of emission controls required on new

          7  engines. And the idea was that there would be a

          8  consistency in this effort nationwide, and as a

          9  result there are some provisions in the federal law

         10  that preempt local entities, states and cities, from

         11  controlling certain aspects of fuel and types of

         12  control equipment.

         13                 In Local Law 77, which we testified

         14  on, we testified that is not a problem, if, in fact,

         15  these are vehicles that the City either owns or

         16  contracts the services for, okay? Because, in fact,

         17  you're not regulating that segment, you are, in

         18  fact, you have a sovereignty, you can in fact

         19  regulate equipment you own or your contract for. And

         20  I would like to just discuss a few instances where

         21  there may be some conflicts.

         22                 Section 211 specifically of the Clean

         23  Air Act would preempt the City from establishing

         24  fuel requirements for private vehicles operated in

         25  this City, and this might affect Introductory bill
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          2  417, which specifically requires private sightseeing

          3  bus fleets to use ultra-low sulfur diesel. Since the

          4  City does not own or contract these buses, the

          5  service of these buses, in fact are considered a

          6  private fleet, and it's considered that the City is

          7  establishing a fuel requirement. So, there is a

          8  preemption issue there.

          9                 In addition, in Introductory Bill

         10  428, with respect to school buses, if these are

         11  private fleets, not under contract to New York City,

         12  or not owned or operated by New York City, again, it

         13  could be viewed that the proposed legislation 428

         14  would be a preempted activity.

         15                 There are ways I think of addressing

         16  this, and one of these, to avoid this legal issue,

         17  is in the case of the low sulfur, ultra-low sulfur,

         18  as I said, in mid-2006 it will be the federal

         19  requirement.

         20                 Now, if the City could synchronize

         21  its proposed legislation, with the requirements that

         22  ultra low sulfur be used in mid-2006, because that's

         23  the only fuel you'll be allowed to buy, that would

         24  avoid that preemption issue.

         25                 It would be a small delay in a small
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          2  part of the fleet that the City is willing to

          3  control, or is wanting to control, but it would

          4  avoid any sort of legal pitfalls.

          5                 In addition, with Section 209 of the

          6  Clean Air Act, applies to preemption for newly

          7  manufactured diesel engines. And Introductory Bill

          8  414 talks about requiring private bus fleets to

          9  purchase at least 50 percent alternative fueled

         10  buses, and that newly-operated buses in the City

         11  must be alternative fuel buses.

         12                 That may be an issue 'cause it would

         13  appear that the City is requiring, is applying a

         14  requirement for newly purchased vehicles. It's

         15  establishing a climate that may be preempted.

         16                 So, we'd like to discuss our options

         17  with that at some other time. Perhaps we could meet

         18  and we could go over that possible problem and we

         19  could find a solution to that.

         20                 I really want to emphasize, though,

         21  that while I've talked about some possible

         22  preemption issues here, we do very strongly support

         23  this legislation, okay? And we think that we could

         24  work around any legal issues with the Federal Clean

         25  Air Act, and still accomplish the goal that's
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          2  intended by this legislation, which is a very

          3  laudable goal and we fully support.

          4                 With respect to best available

          5  control technology, or best available technology for

          6  vehicles, there's been a couple of developments. EPA

          7  has signed a memorandum of understanding with the

          8  California Air Resources Board, which is a pioneer

          9  group in controlling emissions from motor vehicles,

         10  and what we have is both EPA and CARB, California

         11  Air Resources Board, have verified technologies. And

         12  essentially this memorandum of understanding allows

         13  EPA to accept the California verified technologies.

         14  So, it's essentially expanded the list of verified

         15  technologies at New York City and other areas could

         16  choose from. So, I think that's good news, and as we

         17  continue to verify these technologies, that list

         18  will be expanded.

         19                 We would like to suggest an approach

         20  for determining best available technology, which

         21  relied on a set of criteria, and we testified on the

         22  regulations associated with Local Law 77 when the

         23  City proposed regulations to implement that

         24  legislation, that there be a set of criteria by

         25  which the person seeking to comply with the
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          2  regulation would have choices.

          3                 They would be able to look at their

          4  equipment, the type of horsepower, the kind of

          5  equipment, and go to that list and pick out the

          6  technology that's best suited for them. We think

          7  that's an excellent approach, and we would work with

          8  you to structure that type of an approach. And in

          9  fact, we have commented to the New York City

         10  Department of Environmental Protection in that

         11  regard, and we, I think, attached a copy of that to

         12  today's testimony.

         13                 So, just to summarize, I'd just like

         14  to reiterate a few points. We know diesel emissions

         15  emit harmful exhaust. We know they contribute

         16  substantially to the mobile source segment of

         17  pollution in New York City. We know these engines

         18  will be in use for many, many years, and have the

         19  potential to pollute for many, many years.

         20                 We know that this problem is

         21  addressable, through retrofits and the use of clean

         22  fuels. We fully support these bills. We have a few

         23  issues, legal issues, of course, and we want to work

         24  with you to get the best legislation possible that

         25  avoids these, and as I said, for the most part, we

                                                            21

          1  ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AND EDUCATION

          2  don't have any preemption issues with most of the

          3  legislation, and that constitutes our testimony.

          4  Thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you, Mr.

          6  Werner. Thank you for your comprehensive testimony,

          7  and thank you for your ongoing commitment to clean

          8  air in our City and in our region. I have just one

          9  or two questions for you.

         10                 Before I do that, though, I'd like to

         11  recognize the presence of two of my colleagues from

         12  Queens, Council Member Gallagher and Council Member

         13  Comrie. So, I thank them for joining us this

         14  morning. And in your testimony, Ray, you made

         15  reference to the ultra low sulfur diesel standard

         16  which will be in place as of 2006, and what is the

         17  level of sulfur in that fuel? What is the EPA

         18  definition of ultra-low sulfur diesel?

         19                 MR. WERNER: Fifteen parts per

         20  million.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Fifteen, okay.

         22                 MR. WERNER: Yes.

         23                 And I just want to point out

         24  something that I think all of you know is, that

         25  while it's required and will be the only fuel
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          2  supplied as of mid-2006 --

          3                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Right.

          4                 MR. WERNER: That it is available now.

          5  And as you know, the MTA fleet uses it, and, so,

          6  where it's not preempted, we certainly encourage the

          7  City to require it.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Yes. And I would

          9  like to just recognize that I believe we're joined

         10  of Mr. Levy from the Sprague Company, who has been a

         11  real -- where is he? Mr. Levy, are you here? Okay.

         12  Who has been a real leader in trying to provide

         13  ultra-low sulfur diesel, and really has been a

         14  pioneer in that area. So, yes, it is available now,

         15  which is why we want to try to push the envelope a

         16  little bit and get these bills done so that we can

         17  get the clean air benefits a couple of years in

         18  advance. I think we owe the citizens of New York no

         19  less.

         20                 One brief question about the PM 2.5

         21  standard. You know, certainly in order for the State

         22  to comply with the Clean Air Act they have to do

         23  their state implementation plan. So, it used to be

         24  -- and we were under the PM 10 standard, I believe

         25  we were in pretty much substantial compliance,
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          2  except for I know Manhattan was borderline.

          3                 MR. WERNER: Yes.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: But now with the

          5  PM 2.5 standard, we have four out of five boroughs

          6  out of compliance, and isn't it the case that doing

          7  the bills that we're considering today, would be

          8  exactly the type of thing that would be necessary to

          9  try to come into compliance with the 2.5 standard?

         10                 MR. WERNER: Yes, absolutely. In fact,

         11  when you look at the array of air monitors around

         12  the New York City metropolitan area, it's the ones

         13  that are in the densely populated high-trafficked

         14  areas that have the highest-measured level. So,

         15  there's very clearly an association between the

         16  transportation sector and high levels of fine

         17  particles.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Now, when you

         19  say four out of five boroughs are currently not in

         20  attainment with the PM 2.5 standard, why don't we

         21  just name the four boroughs.

         22                 MR. WERNER: Well, actually EPA has

         23  proposed that all five boroughs be designated.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Oh, all five.

         25                 MR. WERNER: Yes.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: So we're all in

          3  this boat together.

          4                 MR. WERNER: Yes.

          5                 And in fact, EPA has recommended that

          6  the surrounding counties of Nassau, Suffolk,

          7  Westchester and Rockland, and Orange County be added

          8  to that list, because we feel that vehicles from the

          9  outer counties can also impact the monitors in New

         10  York City as they commute and go about their daily

         11  run.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Right. Okay.

         13                 Thank you. I'd like to recognize some

         14  of my colleagues for questions.

         15                 We have questions from Chair

         16  Moskowitz. Eva.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Thank you. And

         18  thank you very much for being here, and I'm

         19  obviously delighted to hear that you are in support

         20  of these bills, although I understand some of the

         21  legal questions have to be worked out, and it seems

         22  that it should be possible to synchronize so that we

         23  don't have the preemption issue.

         24                 I guess I wanted, though, to ask you

         25  about money.
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          2                 MR. WERNER: Yes.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: I'm glad to

          4  hear that the president is in support of reducing

          5  pollutants, but is there any anticipation of money

          6  coming from the federal government to help

          7  localities do this? Everybody wants to do it but we

          8  need funds and we're always hearing about unfunded

          9  mandates, and is there any help forthcoming that you

         10  anticipate?

         11                 MR. WERNER: Yes, that is a good

         12  question.

         13                 The funding to date, and the funding

         14  that's proposed in the future is mainly geared

         15  towards school buses, and you can obviously

         16  understand why. I mean, that is our most sensitive

         17  population are our children. And there are grant

         18  programs, and indeed very shortly we will formally

         19  announce that there is a $20 million that's been

         20  made available by the Toyota Corporation in

         21  settlement of a compliance issue, and that

         22  localities can apply for grant funds very

         23  specifically for cleaning school buses.

         24                 In addition, in this year's budget

         25  there was a request for I think the latest request
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          2  is about $30 million to support school bus

          3  retrofits.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: But New York

          5  City doesn't own its bus fleet, so doesn't that mean

          6  that's not going to help us?

          7                 MR. WERNER: Recently we awarded

          8  NYSERDA, New York State Energy Research Development

          9  Authority?

         10                 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: Correct, there

         11  was $7.5 million.

         12                 MR. WERNER: Right. We just added

         13  $500,000 to their grant pool, and I would anticipate

         14  they would apply for additional monies, and they

         15  have subsequently taken that money and allocated it

         16  to school districts. So, even in cases where a

         17  locality does not own its school buses, there are

         18  other ways of distributing grant funds, and in this

         19  case through NYSERDA.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Well, this

         21  particular federal government and this

         22  Administration has not always been as sympathetic to

         23  urban areas, and since we face a particular

         24  situation not owning our bus fleet, I would hope

         25  that the Administration would find creative ways of
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          2  leveling the playing field so that we are not at a

          3  disadvantage because the owner -- we don't own our

          4  fleet.

          5                 MR. WERNER: Okay, duly noted.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Thank you very

          7  much.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you. Thank

          9  you, Council Member Moskowitz.

         10                 I recognize Council Member Vallone.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Thank you,

         12  Mr. Chair.

         13                 Let me just briefly back up just to

         14  Liu's school bus story. I took my daughter to school

         15  this morning, we parked and walked the last block,

         16  and as we walked next to a line of cars getting

         17  ready to drop their kids off, there was one bus in

         18  that line. And my daughters handed me their school

         19  bags and went running up ahead so that they would

         20  not have to breathe in the fumes. Me, of course, got

         21  stuck with two tons worth of books and a face full

         22  of noxious emissions, but they made it in front of

         23  that bus.

         24                 It's very important to keep this air,

         25  these fumes away from our kids, and that's why I'm
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          2  proud to be a sponsor of every one of these bills,

          3  especially because you just testified that the EPA

          4  has designated every borough as having unhealthy air

          5  in Queens, and your most recent report was cited as

          6  having more particles in it than every other borough

          7  combined, and I represent western Queens.

          8                 My question to you is, do laws like

          9  this on the local level exist anywhere else that you

         10  know of.

         11                 MR. WERNER: Yes, California has been

         12  a leader in these kinds of legislation.

         13                 There are other areas of the country

         14  that are considering them, but I think for the most

         15  part it's been California because they, like the

         16  large cities in the east, do have a very serious

         17  ozone smog problem and particle problem.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: And as far as

         19  you know, have they been able to implement these

         20  standards without any problems, with the relations

         21  to the cost or the availability of this type of

         22  fuel?

         23                 MR. WERNER: Yes. The answer is yes.

         24  I'll turn to Mike Moltzen, who is our mobile source

         25  expert here. But, yes, they have been implemented,
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          2  and including some that parallel what New York City

          3  has done with anti-idling, and construction

          4  equipment, but also in the area of on-road trucks

          5  and school buses.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Thank you for

          7  your trip down today and for your support.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you. Thank

          9  you, Council Member Vallone. We're joined also by

         10  Council Member Yassky. We're glad that he could join

         11  us today. And just once again I'd like to I guess

         12  end this as I began, by thanking you and all the

         13  good people from the EPA for your great partnership

         14  that we've established on air issues, and all the

         15  great work that you've done regarding to Local Law

         16  77. I think that was a great victory for everyone,

         17  and your ongoing partnership with us and with the

         18  staff of the Committee. It's been wonderful, and we

         19  look forward to having further discussions with you

         20  about these preemption issues, so that we can move

         21  these bills down the track.

         22                 So, best regards, thanks so much for

         23  being here. I appreciate it.

         24                 MR. WERNER: Thank you, Chairman.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: And our next
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          2  panel of witnesses, we have representatives of the

          3  Bloomberg Administration. Okay, so we have David

          4  Tweedy, from DEP. Virginia Ross from DCAS. Rocco

          5  DiRico, from the Department of Sanitation. And Marty

          6  Oestreicher, from the Department of Education.

          7                 Okay, greetings. Greetings to all.

          8  Thank you all very much for being here, and while

          9  the Sergeants are passing out the testimony, we'll

         10  have Counsel to the Committee, Donna DeCostanzo, do

         11  the little ritual to get you all prepped. So,

         12  without further ado, Donna DeCostanzo.

         13                 MS. DeCOSTANZO: Please raise your

         14  right hands.

         15                 In the testimony that you're about to

         16  give, do you swear or affirm to tell the truth, the

         17  whole truth, and nothing but the truth?

         18                 (Witnesses sworn.)

         19                 MS. DeCOSTANZO: Thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you. Thank

         21  you, all, for joining us, and for all of the good

         22  things that you do for our residents every day. We

         23  appreciate that. And as I understand it, the order

         24  of testimony would begin with First Deputy

         25  Commissioner Tweedy from DEP.

                                                            31

          1  ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AND EDUCATION

          2                 So, David, thanks very much for being

          3  here. We look forward to your testimony. If you can

          4  just state your name for the record, and commence.

          5                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER TWEEDY:

          6  Chairman, thanks. I'm David Tweedy, First Deputy

          7  Commissioner of the Department of Environmental

          8  Protection. DEP appreciates, Chairman, the

          9  opportunity to address several of these bills today,

         10  and thank you to the other members.

         11                 With your concurrence, I'm going to

         12  start with a statement concerning 415, the low

         13  sulfur intro, and then follow addressing 414, and my

         14  colleagues here will also have individual statements

         15  specific to their agencies. Thank you.

         16                 So, regarding 415, the Bloomberg

         17  Administration is firmly committed to pursuing

         18  strategies to make existing diesel engines cleaner.

         19  City agencies have been working on reducing diesel

         20  emissions well in advance of the 2006 mandate was

         21  alluded to earlier for use of ultra-low sulfur

         22  diesel fuel, and the 2007 mandate for use of

         23  diesels, such as particulate traps and catalytic

         24  converters.

         25                 For example, as you'll be hearing,
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          2  the Department of Sanitation has already converted

          3  its entire fleet of diesel vehicles to run on ultra

          4  low sulfur, and the Department of Transportation is

          5  in the process of transitioning from conventional

          6  diesel to ULSD, to ultra low sulfur.

          7                 DOT is currently utilizing ultra low

          8  sulfur fuel in the boroughs of Manhattan and Bronx,

          9  as well as their central fueling hubs in Queens and

         10  Brooklyn.

         11                 At this point, approximately

         12  three-quarters of DOT's diesel fleet is already

         13  using low sulfur fuel. By the end of the calendar

         14  year, DOT will only be buying ULSD for diesel

         15  equipment.

         16                 In addition, 20 of DOT's heavy duty

         17  dump trucks are retrofitted with diesel particulate

         18  trap filters, and five heavy duty dump trucks with

         19  diesel oxidation catalysts.

         20                 Through working with diesel engines

         21  operating with catalysts, or particulate filters,

         22  and/or using ultra low sulfur, agency fleet managers

         23  and procurement specialists have acquired experience

         24  that informs our comments on Intro. 415.

         25                 In addition, the work that DEP and
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          2  other City agencies have done in meeting Local Law

          3  77's mandates, also guide our comments on this bill.

          4                 I first would like to talk about the

          5  issue of availability of ultra low sulfur fuel.

          6                 In approximately two years, as we've

          7  heard, federal regulations will require nationwide

          8  use of diesel fuel containing 15 parts per million

          9  or less of sulfur.

         10                 In anticipation of that requirement,

         11  refiners and distributors have been creating the

         12  infrastructure necessary to provide the product.

         13                 As the Council knows from discussions

         14  prior to enactment of Local Law 77, there is

         15  currently a single vendor supplying New York City

         16  with ULSD, at an additional average cost of

         17  approximately 13 cents per gallon or about 11 and a

         18  half percent.

         19                 Unless the market provides additional

         20  vendors, Intro. 415, as written, will essentially

         21  require the City to increase its reliance on this

         22  single vendor. And the City will have to accept the

         23  risks and the costs that go along with buying a

         24  product from a market that is, as yet, very small.

         25                 In addition, some emission control
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          2  devices will not work while using conventional fuel.

          3  As a result, if ultra-low sulfur diesel were

          4  temporarily unavailable, diesel vehicles equipped

          5  with particulate filters may not be able to operate

          6  unless either the filter is removed, or a much more

          7  aggressive maintenance program is put in place.

          8                 Finally, the City intends to continue

          9  increasing its use of ULSD, but we would need to act

         10  carefully before making commitments that increase

         11  reliance on a single fuel vendor.

         12                 Regarding this bill, some budget and

         13  operational concerns. The Administration also has

         14  budgetary and operational concerns about

         15  retrofitting existing equipment. In many cases the

         16  cost to retrofit may well exceed the actual value of

         17  the vehicle, as retrofit equipment costs between

         18  $4,500 for a simple catalyst, up to about $20,000

         19  per unit for nitro oxide reduction catalyst with a

         20  particulate filter.

         21                 The equipment may also require

         22  specific design and installation on a class of

         23  vehicle which would first require an assessment of

         24  each vehicle class to determine if the particular

         25  emission control equipment could function correctly
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          2  on that class of vehicle.

          3                 There is also a long lead time in

          4  ordering some of this equipment.  And furthermore, a

          5  decision would need to be made on whether an agency

          6  would be trained to self-install this equipment, or

          7  contract it out.

          8                 The end result is that an agency may

          9  be forced to custom retrofit a nearly retired diesel

         10  vehicle with a $25,000 oxidation catalyst. The

         11  equipment would also require maintenance, thus

         12  adding to cost concerns.

         13                 Some comments on the limitations of

         14  best available technology as the standard for

         15  emission control devices.

         16                 Similar to a requirement in Local Law

         17  77, Intro. 415 requires DEP to make determinations

         18  as to what constitutes the Best Available

         19  Technology, or BAT, for reducing the emissions of

         20  particulates and nitrogen oxides.

         21                 However, Local Law 77 provided the

         22  DEP Commissioner to identify as a BAT a technology

         23  not verified by the USEPA or the California Air

         24  Resources Board.

         25                 Intro. 415 does not permit the DEP

                                                            36

          1  ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AND EDUCATION

          2  Commissioner to allow the use in New York City of

          3  BATs that are not EPA or approved through the

          4  California Air Resources Board.

          5                 Although DEP would rely greatly on

          6  the California Board and on EPA lists of certified

          7  devices, restricting BATs to those lists may reduce

          8  the City's ability to use, if only for pilot

          9  purposes, devices that have not received approval by

         10  the EPA or the California Board regarding

         11  authorizing pilot or experimental use of best

         12  available technologies.

         13                 Intro. 415 does not allow DEP to

         14  procure small pilot quantities of emission control

         15  devices that may constitute best available

         16  technology.

         17                 Such a provision would assist fleet

         18  managers in testing emission control devices or

         19  configurations of devices, that are best suited for

         20  each agency and could be phased in for the remaining

         21  equipment.

         22                 Finally, a comment on compliance

         23  timetables, regarding this bill. As written, Intro.

         24  415 requires all diesel vehicles to use best

         25  available technology by January 2006. That deadline
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          2  does not take account of the time required to

          3  identify BATs, purchase them and equip all diesel

          4  vehicles in the City's fleet with emission control

          5  devices.

          6                 In addition, this bill requires the

          7  DEP to publish a list of BAT every six months. It

          8  would be prudent to change the time frame to meet

          9  the City's administrative and procurement time

         10  lines.

         11                 This concludes my prepared remarks.

         12  Thank you. I will be happy to answer questions.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you. Thank

         14  you.

         15                 And, yes, we do have questions, but

         16  we'll have questions for the entire panel, once all

         17  completed their respective statements. And the next

         18  witness will be --

         19                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER TWEEDY: I'm

         20  going to continue on 414.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Oh, fine. Fine,

         22  okay.

         23                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER TWEEDY: If

         24  it's okay with you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay, sure.
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          2                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER TWEEDY:

          3  Intro. 414 repeals Local Law 6 of 1991, which

          4  mandated the purchase of alternative fuel vehicles,

          5  or AFVs.

          6                 Intro. 414 replaces the Local Law 6

          7  AFV program with new purchase requirements based on

          8  the Low Emission Vehicle 2 on LEV 2 program

          9  promulgated by the California Air Resources Board,

         10  and subsequently adopted by New York State.

         11                 The LEV 2 program generally requires

         12  vehicle manufacturers to meet more stringent average

         13  fleet emission standards beginning with model year

         14  2004.

         15                 Among other standards, the LEV 2

         16  package requires most mini vans, pick-up trucks,

         17  sport utility vehicles up to 8,500 pounds gross

         18  weight to reduce emission levels by 2007.

         19                 These vehicles currently certify to a

         20  less stringent medium duty vehicle standard.

         21                 Intro. 414 would require that

         22  beginning with July 2005, all light and medium-duty

         23  vehicles purchased from one of the six categories

         24  established under LEV 2. Intro. 414 would require

         25  that the vehicle purchased be of the least emitting
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          2  category available for that type of vehicle.

          3                 This is a clean as possible approach

          4  with the cleanest option being a Zero Emission

          5  Vehicle, known as a ZEV, and the dirtiest being a

          6  Low Emission Vehicle, or a LEV.

          7                 The legislation would also prohibit

          8  the purchase of additional bi-fuel vehicles, create

          9  annual reporting requirements, require that an

         10  inventory of C02 emissions from the City fleet be

         11  created by October of 2005, require a two percent

         12  reduction in C02 emissions by 2006, and an

         13  additional two percent each subsequent year capping

         14  out at ten percent in 2010.

         15                 And it would create an alternative

         16  fuel vehicle requirement of 50 percent of all

         17  purchases for Sanitation vehicles and buses operated

         18  in the City.

         19                 Our comments on LEV 2 purchase goals

         20  are as follows. The availability of LEV 2 vehicles

         21  in New York State is a very important tool for

         22  reducing emissions from mobile sources.

         23                 As it is done with other emerging

         24  vehicle technologies, such as AFVs, electric

         25  vehicles and hybrid electric vehicles, New York City
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          2  plans to take full advantage of the LEV 2 vehicles

          3  as they become available and to the extent they are

          4  appropriate additions to the City fleet.

          5                 The Administration therefore supports

          6  the general objective and purpose of Intro. 414 in

          7  reducing vehicle emissions through acquisition of

          8  LEV 2 vehicles.

          9                 However, while the Bloomberg

         10  Administration supports the aggressive use of the

         11  LEV 2 program, the specific purchase mandates in

         12  Intro. 414 do raise a few red flags.

         13                 First, there is uncertainty

         14  concerning the availability of the cleanest LEV 2

         15  vehicles.

         16                 Second, there is concern that the

         17  cost differential between the cleanest available

         18  vehicle and another LEV 2 vehicle may be

         19  prohibitive.

         20                 Third, selecting a vehicle based only

         21  on emissions criteria does not allow for fleet

         22  managers to use their judgement on what type of

         23  vehicles are most reliable and best suited for

         24  whatever role the vehicle plays in delivering

         25  services to our City.
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          2                 I believe some of the other

          3  colleagues from the other agencies that are here

          4  will be speaking to the importance of making vehicle

          5  choices based on a variety of factors, including but

          6  not limited to emissions.

          7                 With respect to the section of the

          8  bill regarding bi-fuel motor vehicles prohibiting

          9  the use of conventional fuels in bi-fuel vehicles,

         10  will clearly have some drawbacks. Most

         11  significantly, the bi-fuel vehicles that now

         12  comprise the City fleet were not designed to run

         13  solely on one type of fuel.

         14                 The vehicle manufacturers advise

         15  running bi-fuel vehicles on regular gasoline at

         16  regular intervals in order to maintain overall

         17  engine performance.

         18                 Preventing them from doing so would

         19  essentially render them inoperable or lead to

         20  increased maintenance costs.

         21                 With respect to the provisions in

         22  this bill concerning reporting, the requirements are

         23  very detailed and require the tracking of

         24  consumption data on a per vehicle basis.

         25                 While off-site fueling is a
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          2  card-based system presently, the City's current

          3  on-site fueling system is manual and does not track

          4  fuel consumption on a per-vehicle basis.

          5                 Additionally, monitoring individual

          6  vehicle carbon dioxide emissions would be extremely

          7  difficult.

          8                 Finally, Local Law 6 and Intro. 415

          9  carve out an exception for emergency vehicles. Local

         10  414, as currently constituted, does not.

         11                 It is important to provide an

         12  exemption for emergency service vehicles, as it may

         13  not be possible to retrofit these vehicles with the

         14  necessary custom police, fire, and emergency

         15  response packages.

         16                 Additionally, the conditions under

         17  which these vehicles operate do not support the use

         18  of alt fuel vehicles.

         19                 Any increase in the number of

         20  disabled emergency vehicles, or a decrease in the

         21  vehicle performance may negatively affect the

         22  emergency response times throughout the City.

         23                 Final comment on the carbon dioxide

         24  reduction goals that are within this proposed bill.

         25  The Administration recognized the value of reducing
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          2  carbon dioxide emissions from both stationary and

          3  mobile sources when it joined the City's per climate

          4  protection campaign, a voluntary greenhouse gas

          5  emissions inventory and reduction program in 2002.

          6                 New York is one of 147 US cities and

          7  more than 600 cities worldwide that are

          8  participating in this program, however, this

          9  legislation may require the City to use more CNG,

         10  which could potentially emit significant amounts of

         11  greenhouse gases, and we feel this is going to have

         12  to be looked at.

         13                 Finally, before committing to C02

         14  reduction goals, the City needs to understand how

         15  the addition of LEV 2 vehicles to its fleet will

         16  effect fuel efficiency and C02 emissions.

         17                 For instance, purchase of a LEV 2

         18  Taurus or equivalent may reduce fleet fuel

         19  efficiency and raise fleet C02 emissions if the LEV

         20  2 Taurus is replacing a smaller and lighter vehicle.

         21                 So, obviously the mix of the fleet at

         22  any point in time and how it's changing over time

         23  will affect the measurements that are taken around

         24  results.

         25                 Without further analysis, the
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          2  Administration cannot support the specific targets

          3  in Intro. 414 as written.

          4                 For further comments specific to

          5  agencies, I'd now like to introduce Department of

          6  Citywide Administration Services, Deputy

          7  Commissioner for Municipal Services, Virginia Ross.

          8                 Thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you. Thank

         10  you, Mr. Tweedy. Thank you, Ms. Ross. As I said, I'm

         11  not going to question you, David, until everyone has

         12  made their statement, other than to say I'm not

         13  going to even wait for the questioning, to say that

         14  I completely agree with you with regard to the carve

         15  out for the emergency vehicles. I completely agree

         16  with you, and I wasn't going to even wait for the

         17  question period to sort of make that statement.

         18                 So, with that said, Ms. Ross, thank

         19  you very much for being here. We appreciate it very

         20  much. We ask that you state your name for the

         21  record, and proceed with your testimony.

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ROSS: Good

         23  morning, Chairman Ross, and members of the

         24  Environmental Protection Committee. I am Virginia

         25  Ross, Deputy Commissioner for Municipal Supply
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          2  Services at the Department of Citywide

          3  Administrative Services.

          4                 Thank you for this opportunity to

          5  discuss Intro. 414.

          6                 As you may know, DCAS's Division of

          7  Municipal Supply Services is the Primary Purchasing

          8  Agency of goods for the City of New York. I am

          9  pleased to inform you that the end of Fiscal Year

         10  2004, the City's fleet included 2,975 alternative

         11  fuel vehicles.

         12                 This includes 173 dedicated

         13  compressed natural gas vehicles, 1,203 bi-fuel CNG

         14  vehicles, 151 methanol-fueled vehicles, 557

         15  ethanol-fueled vehicles, 795 hybrids, and 96

         16  dedicated electric vehicles.

         17                 Let me introduce the City's

         18  alternative fuel vehicle purchasing program by

         19  stating that we are in full compliance with Local

         20  Law 6 of 1991.

         21                 The City's original alternative fuel

         22  vehicle legislation. DCAS carefully reviews every

         23  vehicle requisition from Mayoral agencies for

         24  compliance with Local Law 6 requirements.

         25                 Our alternative fuel vehicle
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          2  compliance since 1999 is as follows. For Year 1999,

          3  83 percent. Year 2000, 80 percent. Year 2001, 80

          4  percent. Year 2002, 85 percent. Year 2003, 97

          5  percent. And Year 2004, 89 percent. The City

          6  generally far exceeds the Local Law 6 mandate that

          7  80 percent of new light-duty vehicle purchases be

          8  alternative fuel vehicles.

          9                 In procuring vehicles for the City of

         10  New York, DCAS creates bid solicitation documents in

         11  accordance with applicable state law and Procurement

         12  Policy Board rules.

         13                 We design these documents to address

         14  the operational needs of the agencies. In theory, it

         15  would be possible to draft specifications and

         16  attempt to procure vehicles that fall into each of

         17  the California LEV 2 standards. But cost and

         18  availability are critical factors that need to be

         19  addressed in determining what vehicles should

         20  comprise the City's fleet.

         21                 And as other agencies will testify,

         22  vehicles with the lowest emissions may not meet the

         23  agency's needs or address serious operational

         24  concerns.

         25                 The City currently has five different
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          2  requirements contracts in place for the purchase of

          3  alternative fuel vehicles.

          4                 I will briefly describe how the

          5  City's fleet of alternative fuel vehicles and

          6  current requirements contracts relate to the

          7  California LEV 2 standards delineated in Intro. 414.

          8                 The City does own almost 100

          9  dedicated electric vehicles. They are mainly

         10  electric motor cars commonly known as "gems," the

         11  vast majority of which were donated to the City of

         12  New York by Dimler Chrysler.

         13                 However, because it is our

         14  understanding that such vehicles are generally not

         15  appropriate to meet agencies' needs, there is

         16  currently no requirements contract for zero emission

         17  vehicles.

         18                 We have a requirements contract for

         19  Honda Civics, a hybrid electric vehicle with an

         20  advanced technology partial zero emissions vehicle

         21  rating, running until 2006.

         22                 In addition, numerous agencies fleets

         23  own Toyota Prius hybrid vehicles that are also

         24  classified as advanced technology partial emission

         25  vehicles.
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          2                 However, Toyota is no longer selling

          3  Prius's to fleets which seriously limits competition

          4  in this rating class.

          5                 This corporate decision was based

          6  upon vehicle availability and high retail demand. We

          7  recently registered a contract for Ford Escapes, a

          8  hybrid electric SUV, and a partial zero emissions

          9  vehicle. This contract runs into 2006. However, Ford

         10  has informed DCAS that only 30 of these new vehicles

         11  will be made available to the City for purchase this

         12  year, because there is limited availability during

         13  production start-up.

         14                 In addition, the gasoline powered

         15  Ford Focus is a partial zero emissions vehicle and

         16  is currently on contract. There are 56 of these

         17  vehicles in the City's fleet.

         18                 Two contracts are in place for

         19  vehicles in the super ultra low emission vehicle

         20  category. Our contract for Honda Civic CNG vehicles

         21  was set to expire next month, but we expect to reach

         22  an agreement with a vendor on a one-year extension.

         23                 In addition, DCAS is awarding a

         24  requirements contract for Chevrolet Silverados, a

         25  hybrid electric pickup truck that will expire in
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          2  2006.

          3                 This contract should be registered by

          4  November 1st.

          5                 In the ultra low emissions vehicle

          6  category, DCAS has a requirements contract in place

          7  until 2005 for ethanol-fueled Ford Taurus's. In

          8  addition, gasoline powered Chevrolet Cavaliers,

          9  Impalas, and Malibus have been on contract and meet

         10  all this emission standards.

         11                 The City has a number of vehicles on

         12  contract and included in the City's fleet which fall

         13  within the low emission vehicle standard. These

         14  vehicles include Chevrolet Astro vans, Ford

         15  Excursions, Ford Escapes, Ford Taurus's, Ford Crown

         16  Victorias, all of which are gasoline powered.

         17                 As I already stated, the City's

         18  current alternative fuel vehicle program is working

         19  and we are building on the program every year.

         20                 As the primary procurement agency of

         21  goods for the City, we are charged with purchasing

         22  vehicles which meet agency needs within the confines

         23  of all applicable laws and budgetary constraints.

         24                 The automotive field is highly

         25  dynamic with the continual introduction of new types
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          2  of vehicles meeting new emission standards. Any

          3  legislation involving vehicle purchasing needs to

          4  take the dynamic nature of the industry into

          5  account. For example, as currently drafted, Intro.

          6  414 will limit the City's ability to procure what is

          7  referred to as "bi-fuel" vehicles. In the future, we

          8  may not be able to take advantage of the newest and

          9  best technology vehicle because it will be

         10  classified as "bi-fuel." Manufacturers will likely

         11  introduce other types of innovative vehicles in the

         12  future and our ability to take full advantage of all

         13  new technologies should not be limited.

         14                 Intro. 414 would mandate a

         15  significant amount of reporting that relies on

         16  information that is not currently tracked by the

         17  Citywide fleet management database. We currently

         18  track vehicle inventory, mileage, maintenance and

         19  parts usage. City agencies do not have the staffing

         20  to input fueling information. If the legislation

         21  before you were enacted, City agencies would either

         22  have to request additional new needs funding from

         23  OMB to hire personnel, or new needs capital funding

         24  would need to be approved to complete an extensive

         25  upgrade of the Citywide fleet database and the
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          2  City's on-site fueling stations.

          3                 The definition of "purchase" in 414

          4  must be amended to exclude "obtain by gift." Recent

          5  experiences, especially immediately after 9/11 when

          6  numerous municipalities donated replacement vehicles

          7  to New York City, show that it is in the City's best

          8  interests to accept these gifts as offered.

          9                 Thank you for the opportunity to

         10  discuss our current alternative fuel vehicle program

         11  and to outline our concerns with Intro. 414.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you. Thank

         13  you very much, Ms. Ross, for your testimony.

         14                 I'll have some comments for you, as

         15  well, once the other panelists finish their

         16  comments. We're joined by Council Member Recchia,

         17  and Council Member Jose Serrano was here and I thank

         18  them for coming, and I believe our next witness is

         19  Mr. Rocco DiRico of the Department of Sanitation.

         20  Thank you for being here, Mr. DiRico.

         21                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER DiRICO: Thank

         22  you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: If you could

         24  state your name for the record and proceed with your

         25  testimony.
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          2                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER DiRICO: Okay.

          3  I'm Rocco DiRico, Assistant Commissioner of Support

          4  Services for the New York City Department of

          5  Sanitation, and of course, good morning to all, to

          6  you, Chairman Gennaro, and members of the Committee

          7  on Environmental Protection.

          8                 I join my colleagues at DEP and DCAS,

          9  as well as other City agencies, in support of

         10  reasonable and achievable air emission reduction

         11  measures, designed to improve the City's overall air

         12  quality and public health.

         13                 I will supplement the testimony

         14  already provided by my colleagues, in connection

         15  with Intro. 414, and then briefly comment on Intro

         16  416, which is also consideration by the Committee.

         17                 The Department of Sanitation is at

         18  the forefront of the nation's advanced technology

         19  and alternative fuels research and development.

         20                 In addition to keeping the streets of

         21  the City clean, this Department is proactively

         22  undertaking great measures to ensure that it uses

         23  the most environmentally sound vehicles in its

         24  regular day-to-day cleaning operations.

         25                 I welcome this opportunity to
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          2  highlight to you a small portion of our clean air

          3  initiative to date.

          4                 The Department of Sanitation

          5  pioneered the use of alternative vehicles in New

          6  York City and it was the first Mayoral agency to use

          7  ultra low sulfur in New York City.

          8                 The Department continues to utilize

          9  and test state-of-the-art technology on its fleet to

         10  reduce diesels exhaust emissions.

         11                 On May 13th, 2004, this Department

         12  was singled out and praised by United States EPA for

         13  reducing diesel pollution through the implementation

         14  of our ultra low sulfur diesel fuel programs.

         15                 The Department's entire diesel fleet

         16  now uses ultra low sulfur.

         17                 Additionally, all of the Department's

         18  medium and heavy duty diesel vehicles utilize the

         19  industry's latest computer-controlled and regulated

         20  clean diesel engines. Constant electronic monitoring

         21  of these diesel engines allows for further reduction

         22  of emissions.

         23                 The use of ultra low sulfur diesel

         24  fuel provides the Department with the basic platform

         25  needed to test advance emission control
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          2  technologies, such as DPFs, DOCs, and other types.

          3                 DPFs and DOCs are precious

          4  metal-based exhaust after treatment devices that are

          5  designed to reduce carbon monoxide, hydrocarbon and

          6  particulate matter emissions.

          7                 Currently there are over 500 vehicles

          8  equipped with these types of technologies. This

          9  program encompasses on-road, off-road and

         10  stationary-type diesel-powered equipment.

         11                 The Department has retrofitted more

         12  than 100 sanitation collection trucks with DPFs and

         13  the testing of the technology is ongoing.

         14                 In addition, the Department has

         15  retrofitted over 350 of its mechanical sweepers with

         16  DOCs. The use of ultra low sulfur fuels, coupled

         17  with these exhaust after treatments has proven to be

         18  equally as effective as pure compressed natural gas

         19  and reducing particulate matter.

         20                 Ten years ago the Department of

         21  Sanitation developed the first dedicated CNG sweeper

         22  and collection truck. We currently have over 700

         23  vehicles that operate on CNG, ethanol and hybrid

         24  electric. 224 are CNG, of which 26 are CNG

         25  collection trucks, 481 are ethanol-powered vehicles,
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          2  and six are hybrid electric vehicles.

          3                 The Department's first CNG fueling

          4  facility is still under construction in Woodside,

          5  Queens.

          6                 This facility will be designed to

          7  accommodate a small portion of the Department CNG

          8  vehicles.

          9                 The Department was the first agency

         10  to use ethanol fuel as well, which is comprised of

         11  85 percent ethanol, and 15 percent gasoline and it's

         12  light duty-free.

         13                 We currently have six ethanol fueling

         14  stations in operation throughout the City.

         15                 From 1992 to present, the Department

         16  has been utilizing and testing state-of-the-art

         17  technology. Nonetheless, the Department believes

         18  Intro. 414, as proposed, would seriously impact the

         19  Department's current programs and operations.

         20                 Intro. 414 requires that as of July

         21  1, '05, 50 percent of vehicle purchases by the

         22  Department of Sanitation consist of alternate fuel

         23  sanitation vehicles.

         24                 In addition, this bill defines

         25  alternate fuel vehicles as sanitation vehicles
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          2  operated solely on an alternative fuel or on an

          3  alternative fuel combined with gas or diesel.

          4                 That being said, the bill does not

          5  permit the use of ultra low sulfur diesel fuel in

          6  alternative fuel sanitation vehicles.

          7                 The Department, at this time, cannot

          8  comply with the purchase requirements by July '05,

          9  as there is insufficient amount of lead time for

         10  compliance.

         11                 Not only is this data unrealistic,

         12  but also the Department has serious concerns about

         13  the many operational and infrastructure obstacles

         14  that 414 poses.

         15                 Among the alternative fuels allowed

         16  for in Intro. 414, CNG is the only fuel suitable for

         17  our application.

         18                 However, if the Department was

         19  required to use CNG collection-type trucks, I would

         20  have listed operational and logistical problems that

         21  we would be faced with.

         22                 These difficulties include, first of

         23  all, there does not exist a sufficient number of CNG

         24  fueling stations within the City to accommodate the

         25  Department's fleet.
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          2                 The Department cannot operate CNG

          3  vehicles in districts that are not located near

          4  accessible CNG fueling stations.

          5                 Additionally, the existing CNG

          6  fueling stations do not operate 24 hours a day, and

          7  this would be problematic during snow removal

          8  operations at best.

          9                 Less than half of the 11 CNG fueling

         10  stations operating Citywide are large enough to

         11  accommodate a Sanitation collection truck. Most of

         12  these stations were designed to accommodate

         13  light-duty vehicles, and many may be operating at or

         14  near capacity.

         15                 CNG collection vehicles would

         16  necessitate larger parking, staging, entrance and

         17  exit areas, as well as major building modifications

         18  to house and repair the larger vehicles.

         19                 Any building where CNG vehicles are

         20  housed must also comply with the Building Code's

         21  recommended safety practices. The Code requires CNG

         22  leak emergency response systems at each facility

         23  housing these vehicles.

         24                 CNG collection vehicles are also more

         25  costly to purchase and to maintain. The initial cost
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          2  is about $70,000 more per vehicle than a straight

          3  diesel collection truck.

          4                 They also require additional routine

          5  maintenance, and are historically mechanically less

          6  reliable than diesel vehicles, and require

          7  additional cost for employee training tools and

          8  specialized equipment.

          9                 In addition, CNG collection trucks

         10  are 24 inches longer than a diesel truck. Therefore,

         11  the truck requires a greater turning radius, and is

         12  unable to turn onto many tertiary streets in New

         13  York City.

         14                 The CNG's collection trucks

         15  maneuverability is further limited when equipped

         16  with a snow plow.

         17                 The truck could be as long as 40 feet

         18  in this instance.

         19                 And, of course, I don't have to tell

         20  you that this snow removal operation is paramount to

         21  us, and tertiary streets, there are quite a few and

         22  in big numbers.

         23                 CNG vehicles take much longer to fuel

         24  than diesel vehicles. To fuel a CNG truck takes

         25  approximately 20 to 30 minutes, compared to about
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          2  five minutes for a diesel.

          3                 And lastly, a CNG vehicle has a

          4  limited driving range. CNG vehicles would need to be

          5  refueled every day, compared to refueling every

          6  second or third day for an existing diesel truck.

          7                 CNG vehicles have experienced

          8  mechanical difficulties during cold weather

          9  operation as well, and that makes it just one more

         10  obstacle for us to overcome.

         11                 Because of the difficulties with CNG

         12  collection vehicles, the Department believes that

         13  it's best to mirror the initiatives taken by the

         14  federal government and the diesel engine

         15  manufacturers and continue using ultra low sulfur

         16  fuel and to conduct further testing on after

         17  treatment devices, such as DOCs and DPFs, to

         18  determine the most efficient and effective

         19  emission-reducing methods.

         20                 With that I'll now briefly discuss

         21  Intro. 416, if I may? 416 requires all contractors

         22  and subcontractors managing any portion of the

         23  City's solid waste or recyclables to use ultra low

         24  sulfur and best available technology.

         25                 The Department supports the intent of
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          2  Intro. 416 but has concerns that private contractors

          3  may not be able to comply within the time

          4  constraints proposed in this bill.

          5                 Ultra-low sulfur fuel is relatively

          6  new and there is currently only one distributor in

          7  the greater metropolitan area.

          8                 If the private waste haulers are

          9  unable to convert their fleets from diesel to ultra

         10  low and BATs, as required by 416, it could impede

         11  the City's ability to export the 12,000 tons per day

         12  of Department-managed solid waste out of the City.

         13                 This would create enormous problems

         14  for the Department, and for the entire City.

         15                 Additionally, it would be

         16  particularly difficult for the private companies

         17  with which the City contracts for solid waste

         18  disposal services to ensure that the long-haul

         19  trucks driving the City's waste out of the City us

         20  ULSD fuel and best available technology.

         21                 The long-haul trucks are almost

         22  exclusively driven by independent contractors.

         23                 With that, I would like to thank you

         24  for the opportunity to testify this morning, and, of

         25  course, I would be happy to answer any questions
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          2  from anyone when you're ready.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you,

          4  Commissioner DiRico. I appreciate your comprehensive

          5  testimony.

          6                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER DiRICO: Thank

          7  you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: We'll hear from

          9  Mr. Oestreicher of the Department of Ed and then

         10  we'll have some questions and comments.

         11                 MR. OESTREICHER: Good morning. Thank

         12  you, Chairman Gennaro, Chairwoman Moskowitz, and

         13  members of the Committees for inviting the

         14  Department of Education to testify regarding Intro.

         15  428.

         16                 I am Marty Oestreicher, Chief

         17  Executive for the Office of School Support Services,

         18  which includes the Office of Pupil Transportation.

         19                 The Department shares the Council's

         20  goal to reduce diesel fuel emissions from its school

         21  vehicles.

         22                 Every day, the Department's 52

         23  contractors transport 180,000 students on

         24  approximately 6,000 buses. While a portion of the

         25  fleet contains smaller vans that do not use diesel
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          2  fuel, the majority of the buses consume diesel fuel

          3  and can participate in a program to reduce

          4  emissions.

          5                 Working with 7.2 million in funding

          6  provided by State agencies, the Department is

          7  currently working on three fronts in its emission

          8  reduction efforts. One, we are working with the New

          9  York Power Authority to install emission reduction

         10  equipment, either diesel particulate filters or

         11  diesel oxidation catalysts, and approximately 1,000

         12  vehicles operated by four of our major bus

         13  contractors.

         14                 Diesel oxidation catalysts, or DOCs,

         15  have been installed already on 246 buses.

         16                 As part of the same program, NYPA is

         17  subsidizing the usage of ultra low sulfur diesel

         18  fuel for all diesel buses at depots belonging to

         19  these contractors.

         20                 Third, under a grant from NYSERDA,

         21  the New York State Energy Research Development

         22  Authority, the Department is working with one

         23  contractor to install emission reduction equipment

         24  on approximately 200 buses.

         25                 The Department entered into a bulk
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          2  fuel contract last year that included ultra low

          3  sulfur diesel fuel. That contract is still in place

          4  for the ultra low sulfur diesel fuel.

          5                 As noted, NYPA subsidizes this

          6  difference in cost, which comes to about 14 cents a

          7  gallon. Our buses began using the ULSD in February

          8  of this year. Currently, about 55 percent of the

          9  diesel fuel purchased for our buses is ultra low

         10  sulfur diesel fuel.

         11                 We had hoped to install DPF and more

         12  DOCs by this time, but our bus contractors had

         13  encountered serious maintenance difficulties with

         14  the ultra low sulfur diesel fuel.

         15                 Since this fuel is required for the

         16  DPS, NYPA and DOE could not move forward with the

         17  installation until the problem was resolved.

         18                 Currently NYPA has an RFP that will

         19  be on the street for emission equipment to be used

         20  on the 1,000 buses.

         21                 The number of vehicles that will take

         22  each type of equipment, whether it's DOC or DPF,

         23  cannot be fully determined until the eventual vendor

         24  evaluates the buses and measure the amount of heat

         25  they generate on their routes.
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          2                 DOE is about to enter into an

          3  agreement to install this equipment under the

          4  NYSERDA program, however, and the first installation

          5  on this program can take place as early as next

          6  month.

          7                 DOE's current bus contracts expire on

          8  June 30th, 2005. As we move forward we will plan for

          9  the implementation of all relative regulations and

         10  requirements in the acquisition of new school buses.

         11  Considering the age of diesel buses, the number of

         12  buses to be equipped under the current program, and

         13  the anticipated rate of replacement, we believe that

         14  70 percent of our standard general education buses

         15  will contain the emissions reduction equipment by

         16  2010. There is no question that this will be a

         17  significant cost factor that bidders will build into

         18  their proposals.

         19                 Intro. 428, however, calls for 100

         20  percent of general education buses to be equipped

         21  with emission reduction equipment by September 1st,

         22  2005. This would add an additional 700 buses above

         23  our plan mix at a cost of about three to

         24  five-million dollars.

         25                 Moreover, we believe this State to be
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          2  unrealistic for installing emission equipment on all

          3  buses. New contracts will not be awarded until the

          4  spring of 2005. And even after our current programs

          5  are completed, the current programs that we have,

          6  NYPA and NYSERDA, are completed, there would still

          7  be 1,000 buses that require installation. Over a

          8  thousand, actually.

          9                 This would be nearly impossible to

         10  achieve in such a short period. The only way for

         11  contractors to meet this deadline would be to

         12  replace their fleet with newer buses that would

         13  already contain the equipment.

         14                 This would significantly increase

         15  their cost, and would be reflected in their bid.

         16                 Federal legislation only requires

         17  that model year 2007 buses contain this equipment.

         18                 We believe we could reasonably meet

         19  our common objective without this 100 percent

         20  requirement or the unrealistic deadline.

         21                 The bill also calls for all diesel

         22  fuel buses to use ultra low sulfur diesel by that

         23  date.

         24                 The deadline for use of ULSD would

         25  advance the federal regulations by about a year.
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          2                 Though this would have some cost

          3  impact, we believe that that cost impact would be

          4  mitigated by a continued NYPA reimbursement through

          5  June of 2005.

          6                 However, we do have a concern for the

          7  ability of some contractors to obtain this fuel on

          8  relatively short notice. Companies that fuel at

          9  commercial fueling stations and not at their depots,

         10  may have difficulty finding the ULSD at the pump.

         11                 While we share the goals of this bill

         12  and are prepared to implement an aggressive emission

         13  reduction program, the rather strict deadlines in

         14  relation to our contract timetable will make full

         15  implementation extremely difficult and expensive.

         16                 The 100 percent fleet requirement,

         17  would also add significant additional cost to the

         18  first year of the contract.

         19                 Therefore, we would recommend that

         20  you reconsider these aspects of the proposed

         21  legislation.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you. Thank

         23  you. Thank you all for your very, very comprehensive

         24  testimony. We greatly appreciate leaving us with

         25  almost nothing to ask. But thank you for the depth
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          2  to which you have probed all the aspects of the

          3  legislation before us, and we do greatly appreciate

          4  that.

          5                 If I can just, I guess I'll try to go

          6  in order a little bit, and I'll be quick, because as

          7  I said, your comprehensive testimony gave us a lot

          8  to ponder certainly.

          9                 Mr. Tweedy, with respect to, you made

         10  reference, as I believe others did, about the single

         11  vendor for ultra low sulfur diesel, and I guess if

         12  there was such an ultra low sulfur diesel mandate

         13  that was created through legislation, and given that

         14  I would imagine the whole industry is ramping up

         15  because of the 2006 EPA mandate, wouldn't it be fair

         16  to say that other vendors would sort of come to the

         17  marketplace in order to --

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ROSS: Hi. I'll

         19  answer that. I buy the fuel.

         20                 We have had one experience with a

         21  vendor who participated in the bid also with

         22  Sprague, who is the primary contractor now. He ended

         23  up having serious supply problems. He was not able

         24  to get the amount that he needed to supply under the

         25  contract.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: I see.

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ROSS: So, it's

          4  been a problem so far.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Right.

          6                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ROSS: Our feeling

          7  is by 2006 of course the infrastructure will be

          8  there, but between now and then they're building.

          9                 We did have competition in the last

         10  bid. We had another company that participated, but

         11  their bid was higher.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: I see.

         13                 And with regard to, Ms. Ross, you

         14  mentioned the City's 1,203 bi-fuel CNG vehicles, and

         15  I think part of the rub that we feel, I guess, is

         16  that these bi-fuel vehicles run predominantly on

         17  regular fuel, on like regular gasoline; is that the

         18  case with most of the bi-fuel vehicles, you know,

         19  regularly fuel with just regular gasoline? Isn't

         20  that fair to say? Do you have any numbers or

         21  statistics on --

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ROSS: We know we

         23  spend about $250,000 a year on CNG. I know ethanol

         24  has been, the stations have been coming on line, so

         25  that's been a little bit, it's been a little bit
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          2  slower. Those vehicles don't have the opportunity

          3  until probably within the past six months to have as

          4  many locations.

          5                 The other thing is that there are

          6  more and more CNG stations coming on line, so we

          7  have a handout for you that might be interesting to

          8  see where they are, and as the CNG industry puts

          9  more stations out there.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Right.

         11                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ROSS: But all of

         12  those vehicles do, the manufacturers do require that

         13  usually at least two gallons per month be run

         14  through the system in order to keep other aspects of

         15  the vehicle running properly.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Two gallons of

         17  regular gasoline needs to be run through the system.

         18  And we believe it's probably the case that because

         19  of access to fueling stations and others that like

         20  the majority of the bi-fuel vehicles, really pretty

         21  much just run on straight gasoline, you know,

         22  notwithstanding the attempts of all gathered here

         23  today to try to push the envelope, and to try to

         24  increase the CNG use, which kind of I guess backs me

         25  into a statement that I should have made at the
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          2  outset, upon the completion of your testimony is

          3  that, I guess it's more of a general comment, that

          4  the good news here is, you know, all of the good

          5  things that each of the agencies are doing

          6  respectively, not only to meet the Local Law 6

          7  targets, but, you know, to go above and beyond the

          8  great record of DOS with the fleet running entirely

          9  on the low sulfur and it clearly is -- I think we're

         10  both coming from the same orbit in our, you know,

         11  desire to try to press forward with whatever speed

         12  we can to sort of hasten the arrival of a cleaner

         13  and cleaner and cleaner fleet.

         14                 So, that's kind of the good news

         15  here, but we just want to sort of help you do that,

         16  you know, in our own little, in our own way by

         17  legislation, and I think we can work out some of the

         18  details on.

         19                 And I just, Mr. DiRico, in your

         20  comments about Intro. 416, about the issues that

         21  would face some of the players in the private

         22  market, and those concerns have been brought to our

         23  attention and we'll be hearing more about that, and

         24  we certainly have an appreciation for those

         25  considerations, and we thank you for bringing those
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          2  up and also wish to congratulate you on your award

          3  that you got in May for changing your fleet entirely

          4  to ULSD.

          5                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER DiRICO: Thank

          6  you very much.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: With regard to

          8  -- Marty, we'll do that -- with regard to the 6,000

          9  buses that transport our 180,000 students, you know,

         10  currently you have how many of the buses that are

         11  currently outfitted with the new technologies?

         12                 MR. OESTREICHER: Well, they're not

         13  outfitted yet. We would plan to have, we would

         14  guess, about 1,200 of the buses.

         15                 Keep in mind that the 6,000 buses,

         16  they're not all large buses, which are the ones that

         17  take this type of emission.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Right.

         19                 MR. OESTREICHER: We have a

         20  significant number of those buses, our minivans and

         21  so forth, that would not take this equipment anyhow.

         22  They would use the ultra low sulfur diesel in some

         23  cases, but the impact of the emissions on those type

         24  of buses would not be that great. So, it really is a

         25  smaller universe of the large buses. So, we say
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          2  1,200, this year is our goal to get 1,200 buses

          3  equipped with either the DOCs or the DPFs.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you. Thank

          5  you.

          6                 Certainly doing everything we

          7  possibly can to help you do what you want to do,

          8  which is, you know, to reduce the amount of diesel

          9  emissions that our school children are subjected to,

         10  we're going to be working with you in a very

         11  aggressive way to do whatever we can to get a bill

         12  done that will give us the best outcome that we

         13  possibly can.

         14                 And other than that, I could go in

         15  much more depth, but you have certainly, and also

         16  let me indicate this, just to say it again for the

         17  record, Mr. Tweedy's comments made regarding the

         18  emergency vehicles, I certainly share your concerns

         19  on those and agree with you entirely. And we have

         20  some other questions from my colleagues, and

         21  notwithstanding the differences that we obviously

         22  have, and I hear what you're saying and it's

         23  appropriate for you to indicate what your problems

         24  would be with trying to comply with some of this.

         25                 We heard, I guess, similar kinds of
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          2  impediments that were kind of put before us, and you

          3  know, 1991, when we were doing Local Law 6, I was a

          4  staff member to the Committee at the time, and we

          5  managed to overcome some of those hurdles, and I

          6  have a good feeling that we'll be able to overcome

          7  some of the valid concerns that you bring to the

          8  table, and maybe we could turn you around on a

          9  couple of those. And so we do look forward to

         10  working with you on that.

         11                 I have to be stepping out briefly to

         12  a press conference, but I will be returning for the

         13  other witnesses. I'll only be gone a couple of

         14  minutes, but I am going to turn over the questioning

         15  to some of the other members of our panel who have

         16  questions for you.

         17                 I'd like to recognize Council Member

         18  Yassky who has questions, and to ask Council Member

         19  Lopez to fill in for me for a couple of minutes as

         20  chair. I guess David is, this is a joint hearing, I

         21  guess David is sitting in for Eva now, and is taking

         22  her place as chair for that aspect of the Committee,

         23  and I would ask Margarita, if you could just, you

         24  know, chair in the Environmental Protection part of

         25  the hearing for a couple of minutes while I step
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          2  out. We have Council Member Yassky who is going to

          3  be asking questions, and then we're going to

          4  recognize you for questions.

          5                 So, I recognize Council Member Yassky

          6  to be followed by Council Member Lopez, who will

          7  chair in my absence until I return in a couple of

          8  minutes, and I thank the panel once again for your

          9  comprehensive testimony and all of your good work,

         10  and I'll be back in a few minutes for the other

         11  witnesses.

         12                 Thank you. Council Member Yassky.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Thank you,

         14  Chair Gennaro. Good afternoon to the panel. I want

         15  to focus particularly on the school bus portion of

         16  the testimony.

         17                 Mr. Oestreicher, good morning. Good

         18  afternoon.

         19                 MR. OESTREICHER: How you doing?

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Good morning.

         21  There we go.

         22                 So, I just want to make sure I

         23  understand the context here. When you referred in

         24  your testimony to $7.2 million roughly of funding

         25  from state agencies, this is probably not too
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          2  relevant, but there are two pieces, right, a 6

          3  million piece and a 1.2 million dollar piece; when

          4  were those made available?

          5                 MR. OESTREICHER: They were given at

          6  the beginning of last year. I would say the

          7  beginning of last year that funding became

          8  available. Last fiscal year.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: You mean

         10  somewhere like June 2000, July 2002?

         11                 MR. OESTREICHER: It's even more

         12  towards 2000. We had hoped to start moving with the

         13  implementation in the '03/'04 year. So, I don't know

         14  exactly what date.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: I believe it

         16  was some time 2002. I could be mistaken.

         17                 MR. OESTREICHER: Perhaps.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: And, so, two

         19  years later.  I want to make sure you get this. In

         20  your testimony you said there are some 246 buses

         21  that have the  diesel oxidation catalysts, the DOCs?

         22                 MR. OESTREICHER: That's right.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: And none to

         24  date have been outfitted with particulate filters;

         25  is that correct?
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          2                 MR. OESTREICHER: Correct.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: And I just

          4  want to make sure I understand, the relative

          5  effectiveness of those two, I have in my head that

          6  the particulate filters are more effective in

          7  reducing emissions than the oxidation catalysts; am

          8  I correct?

          9                 MR. OESTREICHER: Correct.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: And you use

         11  one or the other, right? Or do you use both? I'm not

         12  sure.

         13                 MR. OESTREICHER: One or the other.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: One or the

         15  other, okay.

         16                 And you said in your testimony that,

         17  or I can think of a response to maybe Chair Gennaro,

         18  that the hope is that by the end of this year to

         19  have 1,200 vehicles with one or the other?

         20                 MR. OESTREICHER: Correct.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: When you say

         22  one or the other, is that -- would we be expecting

         23  oxidation catalysts or particulate filters?

         24                 MR. OESTREICHER: That's a little

         25  tricky. Because the oxidation catalyst can fit on
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          2  most buses. But the diesel particulate filters

          3  cannot be put on any bus that's generally '95 or

          4  prior, and we still have a number of those kind of

          5  buses on the road.  And then even the ones that are

          6  post '95, the vendors have to take a look at the

          7  buses and see the routes that they're on and the

          8  heat that they generate, because the DPF will not

          9  work unless there's a certain amount of heat

         10  generated by the engine, and that depends somewhat

         11  on the length of the route. So, basically the

         12  vendors have to come in and analyze the buses and

         13  see if this bus can take the DPF.

         14                 Obviously, that's what we prefer to

         15  put on, because that's the more effective. But if

         16  they feel it's not going to work, then they'll go

         17  and put a DOC on it.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Okay. So, only

         19  buses that are eight years or so.

         20                 MR. OESTREICHER: First, you divide

         21  the pool when you say anything pre '95 can't take a

         22  DPF.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Okay.

         24                 MR. OESTREICHER: And then the post

         25  '95, certain amount of buses are eligible and will
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          2  be suited for and there will be some that will not

          3  be suited for.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: And am I

          5  right, it's roughly 5,000 buses, not counting the

          6  vans and whatnot? So, it's roughly 5,000

          7  diesel-using vehicles?

          8                 MR. OESTREICHER: I think there are

          9  more like 4,000 standard-sized buses.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Four-thousand.

         11                 MR. OESTREICHER: Yes.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Of the 4,000,

         13  do you know how many of them are pre-'95? I mean, is

         14  that a few at this point, or is that --

         15                 MR. OESTREICHER: It's not a few, and

         16  I think we have about, I'd say about a thousand

         17  school buses generally, maybe even more, that are

         18  pre-'95, probably about 1,700.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Oh, really?

         20                 MR. OESTREICHER: The standard buses.

         21  And then we have the hydraulic lift buses, which

         22  would also take diesel, we have another 200 of those

         23  that are pre-'95. So, you're talking about 2,000

         24  pre-'95 buses.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: So, it's of
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          2  the 4,000 vehicles, what we're really focusing on

          3  here, it's about half and half pre and post?

          4                 MR. OESTREICHER: Yes. But, again, the

          5  pre-'95 can still take a DOC.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Right.

          7                 MR. OESTREICHER: Which would still

          8  reduce, from what I'm told, about 35, 40 percent of

          9  the emissions.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: And then of

         11  the 2,000 that are not ruled out by their age for

         12  particulate filters, then you've got to do

         13  individualized determinations based on which route

         14  they do?

         15                 MR. OESTREICHER: That's what we've

         16  been told, that the experience has shown that the

         17  engine has to develop a certain heat level for the

         18  DPF to work in them. To get more technical than

         19  that, I really can't tell you the scientific basis

         20  for that. That is what --

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Can you

         22  require your vendors to use, to shift around their

         23  buses so that the ones, whatever deep routes would

         24  make a DPF filter work, that's where they're using

         25  the newer buses that can take the filters?
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          2                 In other words, to maximize the

          3  number of buses that you can put the DPFs on?

          4                 MR. OESTREICHER: We can certainly

          5  work with them, to encourage them to do that.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Have you made

          7  an effort to do that yet?

          8                 MR. OESTREICHER: It's premature to do

          9  that yet, because when the vendor comes in and will

         10  determine the different routes and make those

         11  determinations, the RFP is just out yet, that will

         12  have to be worked out with the vendors and so forth,

         13  and I'm sure we could work along those lines.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: And as you

         15  said, your existing contracts expire some time in

         16  2005; is that right?

         17                 MR. OESTREICHER: Correct.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: So what's the

         19  RFP cycle for that? What's the timetable? When do

         20  you put out RFP for the next cycle?

         21                 MR. OESTREICHER: The RFP, it will

         22  probably be out in the next couple of months. You

         23  would want to have a contract vendor selected by the

         24  spring so you have contracts in place for July, the

         25  current contracts expire at the end of June.
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          2                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Council

          3  Member Yassky, the Committee has 20 witnesses

          4  invited here.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Gotcha.

          6                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: And this

          7  needs to be wrapped up.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Let me just

          9  ask two more very brief, and --

         10                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: How about

         11  one?

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: One more very

         13  brief then.

         14                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Okay, thank

         15  you.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: It sounded

         17  like from your testimony, that what the RFP will

         18  simply restate whatever the kind of minimum

         19  emissions criteria are coming down from the federal

         20  government, why not put more stringent emissions

         21  criteria in your next RFP?

         22                 In other words, if now, if part of

         23  the problem is over the last two years that's

         24  resulted in virtually none of the money being used

         25  in two years, has been that you don't control the
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          2  vendors, then why not have your RFP that's going out

          3  in a couple of months require your vendors to use

          4  the DPFs to the greatest extent possible, and DOCs

          5  in other cases?

          6                 MR. OESTREICHER: Well, without

          7  getting into details of what's in the RFP, what will

          8  be out there, we are going to go beyond what's just

          9  in the federal regulations. Way beyond, in terms of

         10  the requirement.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Okay. Thank

         12  you.

         13                 Thank you, Chair Lopez.

         14                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Thank you,

         15  sir.

         16                 From my part I only have two

         17  questions. Number one. The market currently doesn't

         18  exist for the type of fuel that you were talking

         19  about, but if the market will exist, then the fuel

         20  will show, correct?

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ROSS: Yes.

         22                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Then this

         23  legislation will create the market.

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ROSS: Well, the

         25  federal government actually is creating the market
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          2  by 2006.

          3                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Pull this

          4  toward you. It's okay, it's a friendly microphone

          5  although it looks ugly.

          6                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ROSS: By 2006,

          7  the federal government is requiring that this be in

          8  place. So, the whole nation will be ready for this

          9  fuel by 2006.

         10                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Exactly.

         11  But, you see, New York City is a special place. We

         12  embrace what is supposed to happen two years and

         13  three years later, because we are desperate to cure

         14  and to take control over the asthma of children.

         15                 Then the crisis in this City is

         16  serious, particularly in communities of color. Our

         17  children are really, really beyond belief on the

         18  issue of asthma, and we know that this is an item

         19  that create the asthma. This is a pollutant for our

         20  children. And they are not only exposed to it by

         21  what we breathe, because they go in the buses that

         22  have it every day.

         23                 Then the independently that the

         24  government is going to implement it, from here to

         25  three years, or two years, right now the gasoline
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          2  exists, the technology exists, and if we pass this

          3  legislation, the area where the people are going to

          4  be buying this will be created, correct?

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ROSS: Absolutely.

          6                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: And this

          7  will stimulate Wall Street, because we will have new

          8  businesses being born out of this, correct?

          9                 Then this legislation will be good,

         10  correct?

         11                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ROSS: Yes.

         12                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Thank you.

         13                 Then saying that, my last question is

         14  --

         15                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER TWEEDY: Can

         16  I just comment on that, please?

         17                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Yes.

         18                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER TWEEDY:

         19  Absolutely the goal is I think you have a lot of

         20  consistency. We all have children in the City, we

         21  all are breathing the same air, it's really a matter

         22  of the operational issues and costs.

         23                 As we said in our testimony, you

         24  create risk, and it's for all of us to decide how

         25  much of that risk we want to bear to accelerate
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          2  these laudable goals. There are operational risks,

          3  there are supply and market risks. So, really, I

          4  think that will be DEP's response.

          5                 Absolutely, you're right, it will

          6  help drive us toward that goal but what happens in

          7  that two-year interim, are operating costs, et

          8  cetera.

          9                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Then I will

         10  ask you a question.

         11                 I am not an expert. I don't know

         12  anything about marketing, and how the economy move.

         13  I'm an ignorant person in regard to that.

         14                 But what you said, the fact that you

         15  begin moving ahead, and ahead of time with this

         16  issue in other areas of the country, what that will

         17  mean and will imply, is that in this part of the

         18  nation we will begin planning ahead to put those

         19  things in place. And by the time that's supposed to

         20  happen, we are not going to have a hearing here

         21  saying, you know what? We knew that was supposed to

         22  happen on the sixth, because now as we're putting

         23  this in place, it's going to start moving and we

         24  need an alternative to expand the time in which

         25  supposed to be implemented.
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          2                 If we begin now, that means that most

          3  likely than not we will begin stimulating the

          4  economy right now by creating these opportunities

          5  immediately in September next year, correct?

          6                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ROSS: Can I just

          7  bring up one point with supply and demand?

          8                 One of the things with ultra low

          9  sulfur diesel is it doesn't currently flow through

         10  the pipeline, which is the way we get most of our

         11  fuel. It goes through the pipeline to get up here.

         12  It's brought in by barge, which with the weather in

         13  New York there could be issues with supply.

         14                 We hope by 2006, the technology will

         15  be in place where it will be able to be transported

         16  by pipeline and it will be more available at that

         17  point.

         18                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Then let me

         19  close my questions with saying this: Suppose that I

         20  tell you that I'm Santa Claus and I'm having a

         21  pipeline built before and on the 5th of September

         22  next year you're going to have that in here. Would

         23  you say that this legislation would be wonderful to

         24  be implemented and voted on?

         25                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER TWEEDY:
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          2  First I'd say I'd be very impressed, and second of

          3  all, it would certainly help. Yes, it would reduce

          4  our operational risk.

          5                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Okay. Then

          6  the operational risk will be reduced. And we know

          7  that this particular legislation will help on that.

          8  Thank you. I finished my questions.

          9                 The next persons are?

         10                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Rick Muller,

         11  Manhattan Borough President's Office, and Judd

         12  Schechtman from the Brooklyn Borough President's

         13  Office.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Sorry for that

         15  interruption.

         16                 We have Rick Muller, as has been

         17  announced, from the Manhattan Borough President

         18  Fields, and Judd Schechtman of Borough President

         19  Marty Markowitz.

         20                 Donna will swear you in and you can

         21  proceed with your testimony.

         22                 MS. DeCOSTANZO: Please raise your

         23  right hand.

         24                 In the testimony that you are about

         25  to give, do you swear or affirm to tell the truth,
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          2  the whole truth and nothing but the truth?

          3                 (Witnesses sworn.)

          4                 MS. DeCOSTANZO: Thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you. You

          6  can proceed in whatever order you wish. Just make

          7  sure your microphones are on and state your names

          8  for the record and proceed with your testimony.

          9                 MR. MULLER: Good morning, Mr. Chair,

         10  and members and staff of the Committee. My name is

         11  Rick Muller, I am pleased to deliver the comments of

         12  Manhattan Borough President C. Virginia Fields on

         13  the five proposed intros before this Committee.

         14                 Just one year ago today this

         15  Committee heard testimony on Intro. 191-A in

         16  relation to reducing pollution from non-road

         17  construction vehicles, and Borough President Fields

         18  supported your efforts.

         19                 Today the Committee and the Council

         20  take us five giant steps closer to a cleaner,

         21  healthier City, and Borough President Fields submits

         22  her testimony in support of these local laws, as

         23  well.

         24                 With education as one of her top

         25  priorities, the Borough President is glad to see the
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          2  Council address the inordinately high levels of

          3  diesel particulates to which the children riding

          4  school buses are exposed. This issue was addressed

          5  in a State Assembly hearing because the installation

          6  of retrofits for school buses has been proceeding at

          7  a snails' pace, in spite of available funding and

          8  incentives.

          9                 If action at the local level can

         10  speed this process, it should be taken.

         11                 Though the most egregious problems

         12  caused by one sightseeing bus company have been

         13  addressed, the City should compel the best use, the

         14  use of best available control technology, the use of

         15  ultra low sulfur diesel fuel, wherever it has the

         16  power.

         17                 This applies to private waste haulers

         18  as well. In a videotape shown by the Department of

         19  Sanitation to illustrate its success in cleaning up

         20  its fleet, the Department and private waste hauler

         21  trucks were shown passing an intersection on the way

         22  to a transfer station in the Bronx, the difference

         23  in visible emissions from the Department's trucks

         24  and the private trucks was dramatic.

         25                 Borough President Fields is aware
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          2  that there are issues of availability and cost of

          3  fuel, retrofits in vehicles that have been and must

          4  continue to be taken into consideration in carefully

          5  crafting legislation such as this. But none of these

          6  is insurmountable, and direct costs must always be

          7  balanced against the indirect cost of pollution to

          8  the health and well-being of our citizenry,

          9  especially our children.

         10                 Thank you for the opportunity to

         11  testify.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you.

         13                 Thank you, Rick. A pleasure.

         14                 Okay, Mr. Schechtman.

         15                 MR. SCHECHTMAN: Good morning,

         16  Chairperson Gennaro and esteemed members of the

         17  Committee on Environmental Protection and the

         18  Committee on Education.

         19                 I am Judd Schechtman, Borough

         20  President Marty Markowitz' environmental specialist.

         21                 Borough President regrets that he is

         22  not able to attend. On his behalf, I am pleased to

         23  have this opportunity to read his testimony in

         24  support of Intros. 414 through 417 and 428.

         25                 We all know the horrible effects
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          2  exposure to diesel emissions have on children and

          3  adults of the City. We know what it is like to

          4  experience breathing in the toxic fumes from the

          5  innumerable buses, trucks and cars that constantly

          6  inundate our streets.

          7                 And while we have made great strides

          8  in recent years in cleaning up our air in all forms,

          9  from improvements in emissions regulations to the

         10  successful smoking ban, we can do more.

         11                 We know that asthma affects children,

         12  disproportionately minority children from low-income

         13  areas, including Brooklyn neighborhoods, such as

         14  Bushwick and Crown Heights, where not coincidentally

         15  air pollution levels are exceedingly high.

         16                 The New York City Department of

         17  Health reported that children from low-income areas

         18  were four times more likely to be hospitalized for

         19  asthma than children from high-income areas.

         20                 These bills take significant steps

         21  towards helping to reduce some of our most egregious

         22  pollutants that contribute to this growing health

         23  crisis, and I thank you for considering the

         24  measures.

         25                 I would like to say, there are few
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          2  costs not worth assuming to ensure kids are

          3  healthier, allowing them to exercise saving medical

          4  expenses and critical loss of days of school, when

          5  considering the costs those factors should be

          6  balanced.

          7                 We know that in 2006, the Federal EPA

          8  will be requiring all diesel sold in the United

          9  States to be of the ultra low sulfur variety.

         10                 But it is the Borough President's

         11  hope that we can accelerate that process ahead of

         12  the new federal standards implementation.

         13                 The Borough President supports

         14  reducing the sulfur content of fuel in any way that

         15  is necessary as soon as is practicable.

         16                 And if the Council deems requiring

         17  this through the City's contracting power we've been

         18  discussing to be the best way to do so, then he's in

         19  favor of the bills as they are currently written.

         20                 We do have a few concerns regarding

         21  legislation. Of course, one of them is that

         22  requiring private companies might be difficult to

         23  implement and enforce, and of course there is the

         24  cost issue.

         25                 Bills require contractors have their

                                                            93

          1  ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AND EDUCATION

          2  own on-site fuel supplies if ultra low-sulfur fuel

          3  is not available in regular stations.

          4                 It will make it difficult for drivers

          5  to fuel on the road, and it will be difficult to

          6  enforce, save or stopping vehicles and taking

          7  samples from their tanks.

          8                 A better, more comprehensive solution

          9  would be for the State to require all diesel fuel

         10  sold in New York to be of the ultra low sulfur

         11  variety. The State could require it to be sold, much

         12  like we currently sell oxygenated blends for

         13  gasoline-burning vehicles, in the entire

         14  metropolitan area. This would expand the impacts of

         15  reducing harmful pollutants by requiring all private

         16  and public vehicles to use the higher quality fuel,

         17  without excessively burdening companies with complex

         18  logistics. Of course, it would also improve the

         19  market demand that we've heard from people opposed,

         20  as well.

         21                 We would like to applaud the City for

         22  implementing the requirements regarding low sulfur

         23  fuel in the Department of Sanitation's fleet, and

         24  Intro. 416 covering private waste haulers.

         25                 One thing the Borough President would
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          2  like to mention, though, is to make sure that given

          3  the new Solid Waste Management Plans, laudable

          4  reliance on barge transportation, that the Council

          5  do what it legally can to require barge traffic to

          6  utilize low sulfur diesel as well. You know,

          7  Brooklyn is going to be the host of the new

          8  recycling facility that the Mayor announced last

          9  week, and with the implementation of the Solid Waste

         10  Management Plan, we expect barge traffic to be

         11  increasing a lot on the City's waterways with regard

         12  to Sanitation facilities and the whole Brooklyn

         13  waterfront being revitalized.

         14                 Barges and ocean-going vessels

         15  emissions continue largely unregulated, making them

         16  some of the most dirty engines operation in the

         17  world.

         18                 It is also questionable as to whether

         19  the new United States Environmental Protection

         20  Agency standards for ultra low sulfur diesel will be

         21  applicable to marine traffic, and, of course, the

         22  significance is increasing, and the Council will do

         23  what it can.

         24                 And the Borough President would also

         25  like to mention that while he applauds the use of,
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          2  the expansion of the use of low sulfur fuels, we

          3  should continue to work toward zero pollution

          4  solutions, transportation problems, including future

          5  technologies, like development of fuel cells, and

          6  looking at zero pollution vehicles, such as studying

          7  a trolley system for downtown Brooklyn as he has

          8  previously suggested.

          9                 I urge you to pass the bill as a key

         10  step toward reducing horrible diesel pollutant, and

         11  continue to work on further action.

         12                 Thank you, Speaker, and Committee

         13  members, for the opportunity to testify today, and

         14  your dedicated work towards supporting the bills.

         15                 Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you, Mr.

         17  Schechtman. And thank you, Rick, for your comments

         18  on behalf of your respective Borough Presidents.

         19                 I note with interest, Mr. Schechtman,

         20  your statements regarding the barge traffic and the

         21  marine traffic, so that's something we'll take a

         22  look at as well.

         23                 I serve on the Sanitation Committee,

         24  so we'll be taking a look, of course, at the new

         25  Solid Waste Management Plan, and so thank you, as
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          2  always for coming, and for your outstanding

          3  commitment to clean air. We appreciate that.

          4                 Thanks a lot.

          5                 The next panel we have is Rich Kassel

          6  of NRDC, and Irwin Berlin of the Elmhurst -- of

          7  Elmhurst Hospital, and he's representing the

          8  American Lung Association, and Jenia Scott of

          9  Environmental Defense.

         10                 Thank you. Thank you, all, very much.

         11  Thank you for your patience.

         12                 So, what we'll do is, Donna, the

         13  Counsel to the Committee, will do the oath, and then

         14  you can proceed with your testimony.

         15                 MS. DeCOSTANZO: Please raise your

         16  right hand.

         17                 In the testimony that you're about to

         18  give, do you swear or affirm to tell the truth, the

         19  whole truth and nothing but the truth?

         20                 (Witnesses sworn.)

         21                 MS. DeCOSTANZO: Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Let the record

         23  show that I saw Rich. He gave a nod. I wasn't quite

         24  sure if he articulated, you know, he said it.

         25                 MR. KASSEL: I said it.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay, he said

          3  it. There you go. So, now that I embarrassed Rich,

          4  why don't we have him go first. We'll just go from

          5  my left to my right, starting with Rich. I'll hear

          6  your statements, and then we'll have comments or

          7  questions once we have heard everybody. Thanks for

          8  coming.

          9                 MR. KASSEL: Thank you very much, Mr.

         10  Chairman.

         11                 My name is Richard Kassel, and I'm a

         12  senior attorney with the Natural Resources Defense

         13  Council where I direct our National Vehicle and

         14  Fuels Project, which includes our Dump Dirty Diesels

         15  Campaign.

         16                 NRDC strongly supports all of today's

         17  proposals. They continue the Council's leadership on

         18  clean vehicle issues. It really dates all the way

         19  back to Local Law 6 of 1991. By immediately

         20  requiring ultra low sulfur diesel fuel and then

         21  afterwards advanced emission control technologies on

         22  all diesel fueled public vehicles, public and

         23  private draft hauling equipment, tour buses and

         24  school buses, the City would be taking an immediate

         25  and quantifiable step towards cleaner air and
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          2  improved public health.

          3                 By requiring a significant number of

          4  these vehicles to operate on alternative fuels, the

          5  City would be updating Local Law 6 and taking an

          6  additional step towards cleaner air, energy security

          7  and energy diversity.

          8                 Last, and certainly not least, by

          9  requiring this City to purchase the cleanest

         10  possible cars and light trucks and sport utility

         11  vehicles, and to reduce carbon dioxide emissions

         12  from these vehicles by ten percent by 2010, this

         13  City would really be converting the old slogan into

         14  action, "Think globally, act locally."

         15                 At NRDC we say for these three

         16  reasons bravo.

         17                 Now, I'd like to touch a bit on the

         18  historical context of today's proposals. Of course,

         19  I've already mentioned Local Law 6 of 1991, which

         20  was the country's first alternative fuel vehicle law

         21  of its kind and was replicated in cities and states

         22  around the country.

         23                 After Local Law 6 '91, we turned our

         24  attention to the problem of diesel buses with our

         25  Dump Dirty Diesel Campaign, which initially focused

                                                            99

          1  ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AND EDUCATION

          2  on the MTA fleets, and we've appeared before you

          3  many times to talk about the MTA buses. We all know

          4  that the MTA buses are cleaner today because of

          5  ultra low sulfur diesel fuel, particulate traps,

          6  diesel oxidation catalysts, and hundreds of natural

          7  gas and hybrid electric vehicles.

          8                 More recently and most recently

          9  members of this Committee proposed and the Council

         10  passed and the Mayor signed Local Law 77 last year

         11  which will extend the cleaner fuels, cleanest

         12  retrofit, cleanest new purchase concept to the

         13  construction equipment used on City contracts.

         14                 In each case we've had a very simple

         15  philosophy which the Council has put into law,

         16  require the cleanest fuels, which then opens the

         17  door to the cleanest possible emission control

         18  technology, and then replace the oldest and dirtiest

         19  first and retrofit what's left with effective

         20  emission controls.

         21                 We strongly, strongly encourage you

         22  to pass the full package that's before you today,

         23  but I want to focus the next few minutes on two

         24  aspects of those bills, and then also take a couple

         25  of minutes to respond to the comments that were made
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          2  by the Administration and EPA.

          3                 First, the C02 issue, there is no

          4  question that global warming is among the most

          5  pressing and difficult environmental issues of our

          6  time.

          7                 In the total absence of any national

          8  commitment to reduce greenhouse gas emissions, it

          9  makes absolute sense for New York City and other

         10  municipalities and other states to take actions

         11  themselves.

         12                 Indeed, this is increasingly

         13  happening. California right now is considering

         14  regulations to implement legislation that directs

         15  the State to reduce greenhouse gas emissions from

         16  its vehicles.

         17                 Governor Pataki has committed New

         18  York State to following the California program when

         19  it's finalized.

         20                 Connecticut and Massachusetts have

         21  also made that commitment. Four other states have

         22  adopted California's low emission vehicle program,

         23  and presumably may update their regulations to stay

         24  in sync with what California is going to do.

         25                 Other efforts are aimed at power
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          2  plants. The regional greenhouse gas initiative is a

          3  cooperative effort that is being put together by

          4  nine northeastern mid-atlantic states, including New

          5  York. There is a western cooperative as well. But

          6  none of these programs have adopted firm,

          7  quantifiable C02 emissions reductions targets, and

          8  in that sense, although we haven't talked much about

          9  it today, the proposed ten percent cut in C02

         10  emissions by 2010 is a critically important first

         11  step.

         12                 The technology clearly exists to meet

         13  this target handily. The City will cut its fuel

         14  costs by doing so.

         15                 In sum, passing Intro. 414 will save

         16  money for the City and will send a strong signal

         17  that in the utter and total absence of federal

         18  leadership on this issue, municipalities can and

         19  should start to take action on global warming.

         20                 This Council has taken that step on

         21  so many different environmental issues in the past,

         22  and they should do so here as well.

         23                 Our only suggestion for improvement

         24  is that we suggest that you add language to bind the

         25  City to future amendments to the California LEV 2
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          2  program automatically to avoid having to relegislate

          3  this issue every time California makes a

          4  modification to its program.

          5                 Second area I want to focus on is of

          6  course the diesel aspect of all of these proposals.

          7  Diesel engines power many of the -- most of the

          8  trucks and buses that keep this City ticking. But,

          9  of course, and unfortunately, diesel pollution

         10  remains a pressing public health problem for us.

         11                 I'm not going to reiterate what's in

         12  my testimony on all the different things that diesel

         13  pollution does, but I think the Committee is well

         14  aware of the health effects of diesel exhaust. I

         15  will note one thing, though. In 1995 we did a study

         16  where we estimated that more than 4,000 New Yorkers

         17  died prematurely every year as a result of breathing

         18  particulate matter emissions at those levels that

         19  existed then.

         20                 And at the same time, New York State

         21  DEC was estimating that half of the particulates

         22  that people breathed when they walked up Madison

         23  Avenue, came from a relatively small number of

         24  diesel engines.

         25                 Now, today we mostly focus on the
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          2  good news in the diesel world. The MTA program, the

          3  EPA regulations that will come into effect. But the

          4  reality is that most of the diesel engines that are

          5  in use in New York City come from those

          6  pre-regulatory era -- from the pre-regulatory era of

          7  the mid-1990s and continue to emit the very high

          8  particulate and NOX emissions that we saw in the

          9  mid-'90s.

         10                 The number of retrofits in a

         11  particular fleet might seem high, but in the grand

         12  scheme of things hasn't changed the diesel picture

         13  as much as it could have.

         14                 That's why passing this full set

         15  makes a lot of sense. Last year it made sense to

         16  focus on construction equipment, because of

         17  everything we learned about air quality related to

         18  the clean-up and the rebuilding of Lower Manhattan.

         19  Today this City is developing its 20-year Solid

         20  Waste Management Plan, which creates a historic

         21  opportunity to tackle the continuing problem of

         22  diesel emissions from the City's trash pick-ups.

         23                 Plus, of course, we remain in an

         24  asthma epidemic, and there's no need or reason to

         25  exacerbate the asthma of our children and others who
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          2  ride dirty diesel buses.

          3                 So, I'm going to shift now into

          4  addressing some of the concerns that have been

          5  raised already. I'm going to start with the

          6  alternative fuel requirement for Sanitation vehicles

          7  and buses.

          8                 Some people say we don't need it,

          9  given that diesels are cleaner than they used to be,

         10  especially if you combine low sulfur diesel with a

         11  particulate trap. But it remains worth nothing that

         12  natural gas continues to be the cleanest alternative

         13  for trash haulers, because the engines in those

         14  vehicles rarely hit the operating temperatures high

         15  enough and consistently enough to effectively

         16  regenerate the trapped particles.

         17                 What does that mean? It means that

         18  the promise of a 90 percent emissions reduction

         19  using a trap is unlikely to be a workable solution

         20  for most trash haulers in this City, and so whatever

         21  Sanitation does in terms of best available

         22  technology, probably will not be at anything close

         23  to that level.

         24                 Moreover, natural gas engines

         25  typically emit lower NOX emissions than their diesel
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          2  counterparts. Again, there's an environmental

          3  benefit there. And that exists even in the bus

          4  context.

          5                 The one suggestion for improvement I

          6  would make here, is to consider adding the 50

          7  percent alternative fuel purchase requirement to

          8  Intro. 428, which covers the school buses. Given

          9  that these vehicles transport our most vulnerable

         10  New Yorkers with some of the highest asthma rates in

         11  the country, we believe they deserve this extra

         12  protection, even given the extra costs that we

         13  certainly have heard and will hear about.

         14                 Some of the other comments that

         15  people have made today, it was raised by the

         16  Administration that effectively the Council, if it

         17  passes these bills, would be repealing Local Law 6,

         18  and that, of course, you know, that's the

         19  ground-breaking alternative vehicle law, how could

         20  we do that?

         21                 And our response to that is we've

         22  thought very long and hard about this, and we go

         23  back to what we originally said about Local Law 6

         24  back in 1991, which was it's critically important to

         25  start moving into alternative fuels, but we have to
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          2  do it in a way that gives us the best environmental

          3  bang for the buck.

          4                 Local Law 6 has worked if the goal

          5  was to make sure that 80 percent of the vehicles,

          6  light duty vehicles purchased were operated on

          7  alternative fuels, it worked. As we heard this

          8  morning, the City has complied with that, and

          9  exceeded that.

         10                 But Local Law 6 didn't require the

         11  cleanest possible vehicles, and so there are out

         12  there on City streets, natural gas and bi-fuel and

         13  ethanol and methanol vehicles that emit higher

         14  levels than a comparable gasoline vehicle could emit

         15  today.

         16                 Moreover and much more important,

         17  Local Law 6 only required 20 percent of the buses to

         18  use alternative fuels and asked nothing of school

         19  buses, trash haulers, tour buses and other vehicles

         20  that are covered by today. That's where the bang for

         21  the buck is in alternative fuels, going from an

         22  extremely dirty diesel bus or truck to an extremely

         23  clean retrofit or new bus.

         24                 So, we think that the tradeoffs that

         25  you're making here are the right ones, by requiring
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          2  cars and light trucks and SUVs to be as clean as

          3  possible, and by shifting our alternative fuel focus

          4  into the heavy duty world where it's better targeted

          5  for environmental reasons.

          6                 Second, hybrid electric availability

          7  was raised. The point was made that Toyota isn't

          8  selling the Pruis to fleets because right now

          9  there's a great retail demand for it.

         10                 That's good news for retail demand,

         11  it's not good news for the fleets. But you shouldn't

         12  set policy going forward on what the current state

         13  of the hybrid market is today, and that's what the

         14  Administration is asking you to do.

         15                 If there's anything we know from the

         16  state of the hybrid market is it's changing fast,

         17  and that over the next few years there will be many,

         18  many new hybrid vehicles brought to the market by a

         19  wide range of automobile manufacturers around the

         20  world, and I think that there will be plenty of

         21  availability.

         22                 Third, ultra low sulfur availability.

         23  We've heard about that over and over again. The

         24  funny thing about ultra low sulfur availability is

         25  that it will be nationally available in two years.
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          2  There is availability now, there's going to be more

          3  and more between now and then. There is not going to

          4  be an on and off switch that gets hit in the summer

          5  of 2006, suddenly 90 percent or 95 percent, as EPA

          6  predicts, of the market will be low sulfur.

          7                 I don't see that as being an issue at

          8  all.

          9                 LEV 2 availability was raised. I

         10  think that's the same issue. New York State is a LEV

         11  2 state. Cars that are sold here are LEV 2 cars. The

         12  cars are available and it's not inappropriate to ask

         13  the City to buy the cleanest ones.

         14                 Bi-fuel was raised, that's point

         15  number 5. The City wants to buy bi-fuel vehicles.

         16  Well, Mr. Chairman, I know you enjoy a joke, so I'm

         17  going to tell you a joke that unfortunately tells

         18  you more about the narrow world I live in than about

         19  my sense of humor. But there's a joke in the world I

         20  travel in. What's a gasoline vehicle with a tax

         21  break? The answer is a bi-fuel vehicle. The reality

         22  is that bi-fuel vehicles are made and sold by the

         23  car companies because it provides tax breaks to the

         24  private entities that buy them, and because it helps

         25  them with their cafe requirements, but in the real
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          2  world, these vehicles run almost exclusively on

          3  gasoline, and that's a dirty little secret that a

          4  lot of people know.

          5                 The City wants to maintain the

          6  ability to use these and it says that it's willing

          7  to run them on one fuel, but that is essentially

          8  what common sense, if you look at the fuel

          9  infrastructure, and the national data we've seen

         10  suggests, and we've heard no information that argues

         11  the other way, and, of course, the City doesn't even

         12  get the tax break of a bi-fuel vehicle.

         13                 We heard from one of the

         14  administration people that monitoring fuel and C02

         15  emissions would just be too hard. I can't believe

         16  they don't monitor their fuel consumption right now,

         17  and if they don't, they should. How could the City

         18  not have a very good idea of exactly how much fuel

         19  is being used by exactly which vehicles and which

         20  departments that are fueled in which depots. To get

         21  from fuel consumption to C02 is just a mathematics

         22  exercise.

         23                 We heard a lot about the deadline of

         24  July '05 as being too onerous. As though, again,

         25  it's an on/off switch. As you know, the bill is not
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          2  an on/off switch that suddenly every vehicle has to

          3  have retrofit technology, and to suggest that it

          4  does is a misunderstanding of what the bill actually

          5  asks.

          6                 Not all school buses have to be

          7  retrofit by July '05, but all school bus contracts

          8  have to include those provisions. There's a very big

          9  difference, and, of course, there are waiver

         10  provisions if necessary.

         11                 And last, I'm going to just close on

         12  the Clean Air Act for preemption issues on that. I'm

         13  happy to talk to you about that in more detail.

         14                 Our view of this is consistent with

         15  our view of Local Law 6, which is that neither Clean

         16  Air Act Sections 209 nor 211, will preempt the City

         17  from whatever fuel or vehicle it wants to purchase

         18  for its health, or from contractor licensing

         19  requirements that do the same thing. That's not

         20  setting an emissions standard, it's merely a

         21  purchasing or contracting requirement, and we think

         22  it's permissible.

         23                 And I'll close there and just say

         24  thank you, again, and bravo for the work you're

         25  doing.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you.

          3                 Thank you, Rich.

          4                 DR. BERLIN: Good afternoon. I'm Dr.

          5  Irwin Berlin, Chief of the Division of Pulmonary and

          6  Critical Care Medicine at Elmhurst Hospital Center,

          7  and a member of the Board of Directors for the

          8  American Lung Association of the City of New York.

          9  And I thank you for the opportunity to speak today.

         10                 For more than 100 years, the Lung

         11  Association has worked to prevent lung disease and

         12  promote lung health, among the residents of the five

         13  boroughs.

         14                 In that regard, I am pleased to

         15  provide testimony on behalf of the organization, in

         16  support of this comprehensive set of bills, which,

         17  if enacted, would significantly improve the health

         18  of New Yorkers.

         19                 The scientific record linking air

         20  pollution directly to lung disease is clear. Every

         21  day millions of New Yorkers are struggling to

         22  breathe with diseases like asthma, emphysema and

         23  lung cancer that are worsened and often caused by

         24  exposure to toxic air.

         25                 For the fifth year in a row the
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          2  American Lung Association's "State of the Air

          3  Report" ranked New York City among the 20 worst

          4  metropolitan areas for air quality.

          5                 That means that more than 5 million

          6  residents are at risk for respiratory disease from

          7  exposure to the two most dangerous air pollutants,

          8  ozone and particulate matter, both of which are

          9  attributable to vehicle emissions.

         10                 First ozone. The primary component of

         11  smog is a severe respiratory irritant. In high

         12  concentrations it eats through rubber. One can only

         13  imagine what it does to the sensitive lung tissue of

         14  a child.

         15                 Ozone has been shown to aggravate

         16  asthma, cause chest pain and cough, reduce lung

         17  function, and causes permanent lung damage. In

         18  addition to worsening existing asthma, studies in

         19  California have shown that exposure to ozone may

         20  actually increase a child's risk of developing a

         21  disease.

         22                 Next, fine particulate matter. It's a

         23  microscopic soot-like particle that invades the body

         24  and lodges deep within the lungs causing serious

         25  respiratory and cardiac illness.
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          2                 Exposure to fine particles is

          3  associated with increased asthma episodes, wheezing,

          4  coughing, lung cancer, and too often shortened

          5  lives.

          6                 On-road vehicles, including the

          7  vehicles addressed in the legislation under review

          8  today, are estimated to produce one-third of the

          9  nation's ozone particle-causing pollutants.

         10                 In the busy street canyons of New

         11  York City, these emissions are trapped and

         12  accumulate on the pedestrian-filled sidewalks. The

         13  current asthma crisis in New York City provides the

         14  most concise argument for emission reduction. New

         15  York City has the highest asthma mortality rates in

         16  the nation, with more than 300,000 children

         17  struggling to manage the serious chronic illness.

         18                 A child in our City who has asthma,

         19  is almost twice as likely to be hospitalized for the

         20  disease than a child anywhere else in the country.

         21  In low-income neighborhoods the prevalence of asthma

         22  is as high as one in four children, and the risk of

         23  hospitalization comes to more than four times the

         24  national average.

         25                 Additionally, just last week the
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          2  Office of the Mayor released new data showing that

          3  asthma hospitalization rates are actually on the

          4  rise.

          5                 At the Lung Association, we are

          6  working hard to help children with asthma get the

          7  resources and answers they need to better manage

          8  their illness, but the leadership of the City is

          9  essential to protecting them from the environmental

         10  triggers of the disease.

         11                 Enactment of these bills will ensure

         12  that our children with asthma are not forced to

         13  manage their disease with one hand tied behind their

         14  backs.

         15                 To truly help every New Yorker who is

         16  living with asthma, we need to be able to promise

         17  them that trucks, sanitation vehicles, sightseeing

         18  buses and school buses that move through our streets

         19  every day are the cleanest possible.

         20                 By reducing ozone and particulate

         21  matter, Intros 414, 415, 416, 417 and 428 will help

         22  improve the air quality and therefore the lung

         23  health of New Yorkers.

         24                 In conclusion, the American Lung

         25  Association of the City of New York is pleased to
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          2  offer its support for these bills, and we encourage

          3  the Council to act swiftly with their passage so

          4  that we can all breathe easier.

          5                 Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you, Dr.

          7  Berlin. Thank you.

          8                 MS. SCOTT: Good afternoon. And thank

          9  you for the opportunity to testify here today. My

         10  name is Janea Scott, and I am a staff attorney for

         11  Environmental Defense's Living Cities Program.

         12  Environmental Defense is a national non-profit

         13  organization that's headquartered in New York City,

         14  with about 50,000 members and activists in the New

         15  York area.

         16                 Our Living Cities Program focuses on

         17  actions that will help to improve water and air

         18  quality, clean up contaminated lands, support sound

         19  transportation investments, and reduce greenhouse

         20  gases.

         21                 And I wanted to let you know that

         22  Environmental Defense is strongly in support of New

         23  York City Council's Intros 414, 415, 416, 417 and

         24  428. We think these are great because right now New

         25  York is working with an old rule book when it comes
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          2  to the purchasing guidelines for the vehicles in

          3  this City, and these intros are going to be a new

          4  guide book.

          5                 The Clean Air Technologies are

          6  available, they're cost effective, and they're

          7  proven. The City Council has an opportunity with

          8  these intros to attract the cleanest vehicles to New

          9  York City streets and to set a valuable precedent

         10  for other cities.

         11                 We've already heard today that New

         12  York Metropolitan area fails to meet the basic

         13  public health standards for ozone and for fine

         14  particulates, and we know, just to throw out a

         15  couple of statistics, 80 percent of New York City's,

         16  these air pollutants, 80 percent of them are coming

         17  from the mobile source sector, and in New York City

         18  94 percent of the added air cancer risk from air

         19  pollutants is also coming from the mobile sector.

         20  So, that's why initiatives like these are so

         21  important.

         22                 You've heard a whole bunch of asthma

         23  statistics today, so I'm not going to read the whole

         24  list that I have in my testimony, but just second

         25  them and re-rehighlight how important it is to start
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          2  addressing the air pollution that causes these.

          3                 I did want to highlight, though, from

          4  our recent report "The Dangerous Days of Summer"

          5  that New York City has been ranked as third on the

          6  list of cities with the worst pollution impacts on

          7  the greatest number of kids.

          8                 Over the past three summers, air

          9  pollution levels have often been unhealthy for all

         10  kids in New York City area, and the dirty air can

         11  place a special burden on the children with asthma.

         12  So, this is just one of the many reasons, again, why

         13  we strongly applaud all five initiatives before the

         14  City Council today.

         15                 I also wanted to highlight the

         16  climate imperative, because we haven't heard a whole

         17  bunch about that. There is scientific consensus that

         18  the pollution from the burning of fossil fuels,

         19  deforestation and agriculture, has already caused an

         20  accumulation of greenhouse gases in our atmosphere.

         21                 As we like to say in environmental

         22  defense, earth is round, Elvis is dead, climate

         23  change is happening. And we applaud the State,

         24  Governor Pataki has started to address this, and we

         25  also are encouraged by the City Council's leadership
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          2  on this issue, and strongly support Initiative

          3  Number 414.

          4                 It's really important also because

          5  the transportation sector is the base contributor to

          6  both greenhouse gases and C02 emissions in New York

          7  State.

          8                 The other thing that I wanted to talk

          9  about a little bit is the practical imperative for

         10  doing this. New York City has already accomplished a

         11  lot in addressing the pollution from the mobile

         12  source sector, and I won't read through my whole

         13  list of examples, because you've heard a lot about

         14  it today, but, you know, we've got Local Law 77, we

         15  have a clean ferry, emissions reduction initiative,

         16  New York City agencies have already purchased a lot

         17  of vehicles and have done retrofits and are using

         18  the cleaner fuel. And really the point of this is

         19  that the technology and tools for improving our

         20  local air quality are available today and New York

         21  is already on the path to cleaner, healthier air.

         22                 So, this is why these initiatives are

         23  such a strong opportunity for New York. New York can

         24  build on the commitments that have already been

         25  made, by unifying them into a comprehensive network
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          2  for action.

          3                 The framework provided by these laws

          4  before the City Council today is practical, it's

          5  based on real world technology, and it's ready for

          6  implementation.

          7                 In addition, it can be a model for

          8  other cities and states around the country.

          9                 Another thing that we wanted to

         10  highlight that we heard a little bit about in the

         11  testimony earlier is the cleanest possible vehicle.

         12  And there's a second clause after that. What it says

         13  is that these five initiatives require the cleanest

         14  vehicle for the intended use.

         15                 So, we're not going to be asking

         16  people to just pick the cleanest vehicle if you

         17  can't use it in that situation.

         18                 The City retains the flexibility to

         19  find the cleanest car for any practical application

         20  and operating need, and these rules are consistent

         21  with others that have been passed in New York, like

         22  Local Law 77, and it provides the flexibility to

         23  pick the cleanest technology for the intended use.

         24                 In conclusion, I think the Council

         25  has a real opportunity here to create a framework
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          2  that works well in practice. It takes into account

          3  the operating needs of the City, it can be a model

          4  for other cities across the country, and it protects

          5  public health and the air quality.

          6                 Cost-effective sensible measures like

          7  those proposed by the New York City Council in this

          8  package of laws being discussed today are

          9  innovative, practical ways to reduce the adverse

         10  health and climate effects of air pollution.

         11                 Environmental defense applauds the

         12  Council for the broad scope of these measures and we

         13  strongly support all five initiatives before the

         14  Council today.

         15                 Thank you, again, for the opportunity

         16  to testify.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you.

         18                 Thank you, all, very much for your

         19  very supportive testimony. We greatly appreciate the

         20  work that all of you do every day on behalf of our

         21  citizens in various capacities, and also kind of

         22  forgive my fidgetiness, or whatever, we have so many

         23  people to hear from, that's why I look a little

         24  fidgety. Certainly it's very important for you to

         25  sort of set the stage for why these bills are so
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          2  important.

          3                 And we also look forward to hearing

          4  from, you know, many of the business people who will

          5  have to comply with this, so everyone's testimony,

          6  and everyone's perspective is very important. I want

          7  to give everyone ample time to make their case in

          8  full, and I thank you all for laboring, you know,

          9  every day for the benefit of our health, my health,

         10  and my children's health. And, so, you guys are

         11  great. Thanks. Thanks very much.

         12                 Okay, Glen Peter Goldstein, from

         13  NESCAUM, which is NorthEast States for Coordinated

         14  Air Use Management. And as Mr. Goldstein is taking

         15  his place, I just want to caucus with my folks for a

         16  second here.

         17                 Thank you. Thank you. Just had a

         18  little conference.

         19                 Thank you, Mr. Goldstein. I

         20  appreciate your being here, giving us the benefit of

         21  your views. You've been very, very helpful as we try

         22  to put these bills together.

         23                 We'll have Counsel to the Committee

         24  swear you in and we will hear your testimony.

         25                 MS. DeCOSTANZO: Please raise your
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          2  right hand.

          3                 In the testimony that you're about to

          4  give, do you swear or affirm to tell the truth, the

          5  whole truth and nothing but the truth?

          6                 (Witness sworn.)

          7                 MS. DeCOSTANZO: Thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: I notice, Mr.

          9  Goldstein, you have really voluminous testimony.

         10  Were you going to read the whole thing, or just

         11  going to summarize it for me? How do you want to

         12  approach that?

         13                 MR. GOLDSTEIN: I will briefly

         14  summarize --

         15                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Great.

         16                 MR. GOLDSTEIN:-- The testimony.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: We really

         18  appreciate everything you're doing for us.

         19                 MR. GOLDSTEIN: Sure.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: He's the

         21  gentleman who is going to speak on this new fuel?

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Pardon?

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: He's the

         24  gentleman who is going to speak on the distribution

         25  of the new fuel? The market access to this fuel? Or
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          2  he's another --

          3                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: I think he's

          4  going to cover a couple of -- why don't we just --

          5                 MR. GOLDSTEIN: Sure.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: -- Sit back and

          7  watch the movie, you know? Or whatever.

          8                 MR. GOLDSTEIN: That makes sense.

          9                 My name is Glenn Goldstein. I'm a

         10  Program Director for NESCAUM, the NorthEast States

         11  for Coordinated Air Use Management. And we are a

         12  Boston-based non-profit, founded in 1967, to

         13  represent the New England States, New York, and the

         14  great state of -- I'm sorry, New Jersey, and the

         15  great State of New York, on regional air quality,

         16  policy, planning, and technical issues.

         17                 What I'd like to do this morning very

         18  briefly is cover the work that we've performed in

         19  the region, and then touch upon areas in the

         20  legislation I feel could be improved, and then close

         21  in support of the legislative package.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay. Yes, as

         23  quickly as you can get to your actual substantive

         24  comments on the bills, that would be most

         25  appreciated.
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          2                 People know of NESCAUM's reputation.

          3                 MR. GOLDSTEIN: Great.

          4                 Let me then add that in this region,

          5  Sanitation and the Transit Authority are probably

          6  the best broad scale examples of fleetwide diesel

          7  emission control program implementation in the East

          8  Coast, and by the end of this year, these agencies

          9  will have approximately 3,000 buses, vehicles and

         10  construction equipment in-service with diesel

         11  emission control devices.

         12                 The Transit Authority has operated on

         13  the fuel since 2000, and together with the New

         14  Jersey Transit, both agencies combine for about 60

         15  million gallons of ultra low sulfur diesel

         16  consumption annually. Our experience with diesel

         17  controls, and the demonstrated track record of

         18  successful fleet programs, leads us to conclude that

         19  both the emission control technology and fuel

         20  infrastructure is sound, reliable, and in place to

         21  support further expansion.

         22                 With specific regard to the bills

         23  under consideration today, NESCAUM is fuel neutral

         24  and technology-driven in practice, and follows a

         25  performance-based approach to diesel emissions
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          2  control.

          3                 We would therefore support in 414, an

          4  alternative vehicle program that is still neutral

          5  and performance-based, rather than one that is

          6  prescribed.

          7                 This recommendation, if adopted in

          8  the legislation, may lead to even greater greenhouse

          9  gas, as well as particulate matter reductions.

         10                 We also support in 415 the mandated

         11  use of ultra low sulfur diesel for the legacy diesel

         12  fleet, because it is a sensible and necessary first

         13  step to achieving real clean air measures called for

         14  in the companion legislative pieces.

         15                 The fuel will reduce emissions from

         16  diesel engines on its own, and more importantly,

         17  enable the use of more aggressive control

         18  technologies.

         19                 Of equal importance, we support the

         20  use of a performance-based standard for retrofit

         21  best available technology determinations, as laid

         22  out in 416, 417 and 428, because it ensures that the

         23  latest technologies verified by EPA and California

         24  ARB will be part of the New York City emission

         25  reductions equation.

                                                            126

          1  ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AND EDUCATION

          2                 Toward this end, the definition of

          3  BAT must remain consistent throughout each

          4  introduction.

          5                 Further, the Committee must better

          6  define what other authorized technology means, and

          7  the process one would follow to authorize or

          8  introduce non-verified devices.

          9                 Consistent language will minimize

         10  ambiguity and interpretations, thereby creating

         11  definable boundaries within which technology

         12  providers can operate.

         13                 These boundaries create efficient

         14  markets and more efficient markets lead to greater

         15  competition, brighter innovation and ultimately more

         16  rapid technology transfer.

         17                 Subtle differences in the language

         18  could conceivably have a measurable economic impact

         19  on ease of retrofit program implementation, and

         20  overall emission reduction cost effectiveness.

         21                 In summary, this package of clean air

         22  bills is justified by the science, as we've heard,

         23  supported by a mature and fully commercialized

         24  retrofit technology industry, and endorsed by a long

         25  list of highly effective and successfully
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          2  implemented programs.

          3                 It's ready to be championed by this

          4  Council, as forward-looking, far-reaching and highly

          5  effective in response to a pervasive, occupational

          6  and public health problem endemic to this City and

          7  many other highly populated cities within this

          8  nation who so heavily rely upon the diesel economy.

          9  And I thank you for your time this afternoon.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you for, I

         11  guess all of the help you've given us on Local Law

         12  77 and all the ways in which you've contributed to

         13  some of the good things that we've done here, and

         14  for your specific comments regarding the fuel

         15  neutral, technology-driven comments that I think

         16  make a lot of sense, and I appreciate getting input

         17  on it.

         18                 NESCAUM is based in Boston?

         19                 MR. GOLDSTEIN: Yes. We're

         20  headquartered in Boston, and I'm based in New York

         21  City. All of my work that I list in the testimony is

         22  in New York City.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: I see. I see.

         24  Okay. Well, thank you. And you tell the folks at

         25  NESCAUM that we apologize in advance once again for
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          2  the Yankees beating the Red Sox, which is going to

          3  happen. You know, no hard feelings there.

          4                 So, we appreciate your giving us the

          5  benefit of your views and look forward to working

          6  with you and we do more work on this bill.

          7                 MR. GOLDSTEIN: Likewise. Thank you,

          8  Mr. Chair.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay, thank you,

         10  Mr. Goldstein.

         11                 Steven Levy from Sprague Energy, and

         12  I believe also there's supposed to be a

         13  representative of Sunoco; is that right? We had

         14  heard a rumor that someone from Sunoco was coming.

         15  We didn't see a slip, but I guess there's no slip

         16  because they're not here.

         17                 Mr. Levy, Steven, pleasure. Pleasure

         18  to have you here. And Donna will give you the oath

         19  and then we'll hear from you.

         20                 MS. DeCOSTANZO: Please raise your

         21  right hand.

         22                 In the testimony that you're about to

         23  give, do you swear or affirm to tell the truth, the

         24  whole truth and nothing but the truth?

         25                 (Witness sworn.)
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you,

          3  Steve, for being here. I appreciate it. Just state

          4  your name for the record. Also, do you have written

          5  testimony? Oh, okay, this is it. I finally got it.

          6                 Thank you. Thank you. You've got to

          7  turn the microphone on.

          8                 MR. LEVY: There we go. Thank you for

          9  the opportunity to speak today. My name is Steven

         10  Levy. I'm Managing Director of Clean Fuels for

         11  Sprague Energy.

         12                 Rather than go through my total

         13  comments, which you can read at a later date, I'm

         14  going to hit some high points, and I'd like to

         15  address some of the concerns that others have

         16  addressed this morning.

         17                 First off, during the last four

         18  years, the MTA, New York City Transit, and more

         19  recently New York City agencies and some private

         20  fleets have transitioned to use ultra low sulfur

         21  diesel fuel very seemlessly. Including the

         22  Department of Sanitation, as you've heard, the Parks

         23  Department, New York Police Department, including

         24  other State agencies as well, and more recently the

         25  DOE's contractors, as we'll discuss a little later
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          2  on as well.

          3                 It should also be mentioned that the

          4  tristate area is the largest consumer of ultra low

          5  diesel fuel throughout the country. Ultra low sulfur

          6  has been a proven product, which requires no engine

          7  or infrastructure modifications, when utilized it

          8  immediately reduces emissions.

          9                 Ultra low sulfur has been the gateway

         10  to advance emission control devices, which we have

         11  heard this morning, which when used together creates

         12  the greatest level of emission reductions,

         13  especially with diesel particulate filters.

         14                 As we have seen in New York, with New

         15  York being the largest user in the country, and with

         16  New York City Transit Authority being the largest

         17  user of ultra low sulfur diesel in the country,

         18  almost 15 million gallons per year, they have never

         19  lost a shift or bus breaking down because of lack of

         20  ultra low sulfur diesel fuel.

         21                 Although ultra low sulfur diesel fuel

         22  is not readily available at the retail service

         23  station level as yet, it is readily available for

         24  essentially few fleets, as well as mobile vehicles,

         25  as well. And as this market begins to grow, and as
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          2  Ray Werner mentioned from EPA this morning, in 2006

          3  it will be readily available at the retail level.

          4                 The good thing about ultra low sulfur

          5  diesel fuel, it does have the same supply and

          6  distribution infrastructures, conventional, diesel

          7  and other products.

          8                 Yes, although it is not currently

          9  being used through our network pipeline system

         10  throughout the United States, however, normal,

         11  conventional diesel and gasoline as well, also is

         12  serviced not using the pipeline as well. But we're

         13  confident in other parts of the country, where low

         14  sulfur diesel fuel is not available, when the

         15  pipeline start to use the product, it will.

         16                 As we have thus also witnessed in the

         17  past, the field of dreams build it and they come

         18  opportunity is happening with ultra low sulfur

         19  diesel fuel, because as users begin to increase

         20  demand, other supplies are beginning to supply the

         21  product.

         22                 As we were speaking last September,

         23  at this time there are only three refiners around

         24  the country making the product, now there's

         25  approximately seven.
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          2                 A lot of the refiners today are

          3  testing, making the product and sending it through

          4  the distribution system, which we are told beginning

          5  next year they will further test to see how they can

          6  further ensure product integrity through the

          7  infrastructure through the United States.

          8                 On the supply issue, currently there

          9  are four terminals around New York. Last year there

         10  were two that supplied ultra low sulfur diesel fuel,

         11  and I might add, from those two terminals, which

         12  were not even in New York City, the supply came into

         13  the Transit Authority, either through New Jersey,

         14  but today we have two terminals in the City, in New

         15  York, as well as the two in New Jersey. And, again,

         16  as increased demand, we'll have more storage.

         17                 Regarding the City of New York and

         18  the Transit Authority and other governmental

         19  agencies, as you know, it is a requirement for them

         20  to go through the bidding process. With the New York

         21  City Transit, with New York City DCAS, the bidding

         22  entity, the bids that they have had for ultra low

         23  sulfur, there has always been a minimum of two

         24  bidders.

         25                 I might also add, that most people
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          2  don't recognize, is that when the City of New York,

          3  as well as other governmental entities go out

          4  through the procurement process, other similar

          5  products, like conventional diesel and gasoline,

          6  there are still only two or three bidders as well,

          7  unlike going back to the sixties, seventies and

          8  eighties where there is a plethora of people.

          9                 So, the market itself, supply and

         10  distribution is also there. Other than that, I'll

         11  answer any questions you have, Mr. Chairman.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you. Thank

         13  you, Mr. Levy.

         14                 I just wanted to I guess clarify two

         15  points that you made that you kind of alluded to.

         16                 With regard to supply, you indicated

         17  with the creation of new facilities and terminal and

         18  so on, it has been your experience that it has never

         19  been a supply problem with getting ultra-low sulfur

         20  diesel to the appropriate entities that need it, and

         21  would it be your testimony that you do not believe

         22  that there would be any supply problems if we were

         23  to pass the legislation before us today?

         24                 MR. LEVY: That is correct. And I'm

         25  sure as the Council will do the due diligence in
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          2  speaking with the Transit Authority, Sanitation and

          3  other users ultra low, we've been very fortunate

          4  that we haven't.

          5                 As a matter of fact, even on our

          6  side, it's very transparent to them but we always

          7  make sure there's enough inventory and so on and as

          8  others supply as well.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: And one more

         10  question. It was the Administration's sworn

         11  testimony that there is really only one vendor, I

         12  guess that would be you. And it seems, and your

         13  statement is that in the bids that have gone out

         14  there have always been at least two bidders.

         15                 MR. LEVY: That is correct.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Now, could it be

         17  the case, I know you can't speak to them, could it

         18  be the case that when they speak of bidders, they're

         19  thinking of qualified, responsible bidders, or

         20  something like that, and they don't meet that

         21  qualification.

         22                 But by your knowledge of the process

         23  and the bidding of the City and so on, there have

         24  always at least been two bidders which the City

         25  requires as responsible and whatever and qualified.
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          2                 MR. LEVY: Correct. And I think you

          3  also have to understand, that there is a high price

          4  of entry currently into the ultra low sulfur diesel

          5  business, as it was five years ago when we made the

          6  investment in it. It's not just in supply, it's

          7  infrastructure, terminals, trucks and so on, and the

          8  first time, really first and second time the City of

          9  New York went out for its requirement, at the time

         10  it was really unknown as to what the usage would be.

         11  There was small usage that you were bidding on.

         12  Potentially all usage throughout the five boroughs,

         13  and as the markets matured over the last few years,

         14  since its last bidding process, there's additional

         15  usage in and around the City, which I think what

         16  you'll find if someone should win that procurement,

         17  they would make the investment in supplying the fuel

         18  and building infrastructure.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay.

         20                 And with regard to cost, what are

         21  your projections regarding the cost of ultra low

         22  sulfur diesel, as I guess more entities come on

         23  line, and people ramping up for 2006 and all that,

         24  what are your insights regarding the cost of this

         25  product from here on?
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          2                 MR. LEVY: Well, I'll use an example

          3  with regular leaded gasoline and unleaded. If most

          4  of us can recall, when we switched from leaded

          5  regular to unleaded in 1974, when unleaded first

          6  came on the market, it was about ten cents more than

          7  leaded regular. When the switch happened, because we

          8  were putting emission control devices on vehicles,

          9  the price for unleaded became lower than regular

         10  leaded, and regular leaded went by the wayside.

         11                 We see that happening. It might not

         12  happen in 2006. It might happen in '07 or so on, but

         13  the more people use it, as we approach 2006, we'll

         14  see that differential now.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay. Mr. Levy,

         16  thank you for coming here today. And the Counsel to

         17  the Committee, she's been telling me different

         18  things to say thank you for, and, so, for your help

         19  on all of the issues that we've dealt with regarding

         20  ultra low sulfur diesel and your appearance today,

         21  and your partnership in cooperation in general. So,

         22  Steve, thanks a lot.

         23                 MR. LEVY: Thank you very much for the

         24  opportunity again.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: The next panel,
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          2  Urszula MIezio from Johnson Matthey, Emission

          3  Control Converter Solutions people. Okay. And Glen

          4  Reid, of Clear Diesel Technologies, Incorporated.

          5                 Is Mr. Glen Reid in the house? Okay.

          6                 Okay, just one housekeeping item.

          7  There is a Cultural Affairs Committee meeting that

          8  was scheduled to commence here at 1:00. That 1:00

          9  p.m. Cultural Affairs Committee will be held across

         10  the street at 250 Broadway, on the 14th floor

         11  hearing room. Fourteenth floor hearing room, that is

         12  where the 1:00 p.m. Cultural Affairs 1:00 p.m.

         13  hearing across the street at the 14th floor hearing

         14  room.

         15                 Sergeant, anyone who comes in between

         16  now and the next ten minutes, it looks like they're

         17  looking for that hearing, please direct them to the

         18  14th floor hearing room at 250 Broadway.

         19                 Thank you. Thank you for being here.

         20  We appreciate the opportunity to hear from you.

         21  Counsel to the Committee will swear you in and then

         22  you can proceed with your statement.

         23                 MS. DeCOSTANZO: Please raise your

         24  right hand. In the testimony you're about to give,

         25  do you swear or affirm to tell the truth, the whole
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          2  truth and nothing but the truth?

          3                 (Witnesses sworn.)

          4                 MS. DeCOSTANZO: Thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you. Thank

          6  you very much. And in whatever order you wish to

          7  proceed. I have a written statement from Clean

          8  Diesel. Ms. Miezio, do you have a written statement

          9  as well? If you have copies of the written

         10  statement, you can submit them to the Sergeant for

         11  distribution. Okay, I've got it. I've got it.

         12                 Would you like to start off? Thank

         13  you. Just please state your name for the record and

         14  proceed with your testimony.

         15                 MS. MIEZIO: Good afternoon. Thank you

         16  very much for allowing me to testify. My name is

         17  Urszula Miezio.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Excuse me. If I

         19  could just be rude for a second, I didn't see my

         20  colleague Bill DeBlasio joining us, a valued member

         21  of this Committee. I want to recognize that he has

         22  joined us. It's good to see him and I apologize for

         23  the interruption.

         24                 MS. MIEZIO: My name is Urszula

         25  Miezio. I'm a commercial development manager for
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          2  Johnson Matthey heavy duty diesel business in North

          3  America. Johnson Matthey appreciates the opportunity

          4  to testify.

          5                 Johnson Matthey is a technology

          6  company that has been providing advanced keletic

          7  (phonetic) solutions to reduce emissions for over 30

          8  years.

          9                 We have worked with the EPA State and

         10  local government, as well as with industry to

         11  develop and provide advance technology solutions to

         12  reduce emissions from both mobile and stationary

         13  sources for new and retrofit equipment.

         14                 Johnson Mathey fully supports the

         15  goal of the New York City Council's efforts to

         16  significantly reduce particulate matter and oxides

         17  and nitrogen from New York City's inventory of

         18  diesel engines.

         19                 A worldwide leader in providing

         20  retrofit technology for diesel vehicles, Johnson

         21  Matthey has been involved with retrofit of diesel

         22  vehicles for more than 20 years on a worldwide

         23  basis.

         24                 We have provided over 150,000 diesel

         25  retrofit systems worldwide, 40,000 of them in the
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          2  United States.

          3                 In fact, Johnson Matthey has been

          4  working closely with New York City Transit for over

          5  five years now. We have successfully retrofit over

          6  3,000 transit buses serving New York City

          7  communities with our patented CRT filter and ULSD.

          8  The filter reduces PM carbon monoxide and

          9  hydrocarbon, including toxics by more than 90

         10  percent on a broad range of engines in many diverse

         11  applications.

         12                 We are also currently working

         13  successfully with New York Department of Sanitation

         14  to retrofit their diesel fleet with several

         15  different technologies, including oxidation catalyst

         16  or DOCs, CRT and our CCRT filter.

         17                 I'm going to comment just a little

         18  bit on maintenance. Diesel particulate filters are

         19  completely passive and they require no direct

         20  operator monitoring. They're equipped with

         21  electronic diagnostic equipment, which automatically

         22  monitors exhaust pressure and temperature and alarms

         23  operators well in advance on the rare occasion that

         24  exhaust conditions across the filter do not meet

         25  specifications, and the only major maintenance
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          2  requires a periodic filter cleaning recommended

          3  every hundred thousand to 150,000 miles.

          4                 Retrofit of existing vehicles can be

          5  challenging the variety of engines, configurations,

          6  applications is significant, and requires technology

          7  and applications at technology in an engineered

          8  fashion.

          9                 Because of that, as the first

         10  manufacturer to be verified with the particulate

         11  filter with the USEPA and with CARB, Johnson Matthey

         12  strongly recommends that all technology used to

         13  retrofit vehicles affected by the proposed

         14  legislation be verified technology, either by the

         15  EPA or by CARB.

         16                 Use of such technology assures

         17  regulators and users of the technologies durable is

         18  fit for use in the specific application, and that

         19  the reductions and criteria pollutants are measured

         20  and real.

         21                 Verification also indicates that

         22  manufacturers have made commitment in resources both

         23  financial and otherwise. With this type of

         24  commitment, we can be assured with the level of

         25  attention and support to the retrofit and customers.
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          2                 I'd like to especially bring this to

          3  your attention because it has only been since this

          4  past summer that a new product, that Johnson Matthew

          5  put out a new product. It's called the "CCRT." It is

          6  based on our same patented technology as the CRT,

          7  but it was developed specifically for challenging

          8  colder running applications, like Sanitation trucks

          9  and school buses. And that has been verified and

         10  available. And the school buses that were mentioned

         11  earlier today that perhaps in the past were not

         12  being able to be retrofitted will now have verified

         13  technology for the full 90 to 95 percent reduction.

         14                 Johnson Matthey will be happy to

         15  support the New York City Council and other

         16  interested parties in this process. We commend you

         17  for your proactive initiative to reduce emissions

         18  from the City's diesel fleet to the benefit of all

         19  New Yorkers and the environment they live in.

         20                 Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you. Thank

         22  you very much. And I'll have comments once we hear

         23  from Mr. Reid, right? Mr. Reid.

         24                 Mr. Reid, thank you for coming.

         25  Please state your name for the record and proceed
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          2  with your testimony.

          3                 Good afternoon, Chairman Gennaro, the

          4  Committee and Council members. My name is Glen Reid.

          5  I'm a Vice President and Officer of Clean Diesel

          6  Technologies, which is a publicly traded Stamford,

          7  Connecticut based diesel emission control technology

          8  company. I have actually formerly worked for Johnson

          9  Matthey and both with Corning, and have over 15

         10  years of experience in the field of diesel emissions

         11  control.

         12                 First I'd like to express clean

         13  diesel technologies commendation to the Council for

         14  its efforts to control emissions from diesel

         15  engines, as proposed under the stated changes to the

         16  Administrative Code proposed in your Initiatives

         17  416, 16, 17 and 28. We appreciate the opportunity to

         18  testify today before the Committee. Diesel emissions

         19  represent a significant health risk to the

         20  population, especially in the urban area. While new

         21  engines will see dramatic reductions in 2007, the

         22  EPA has challenged the industry to reduce the

         23  emissions of over 11 million engines that are

         24  currently in-service.

         25                 Clean Diesel Technologies has at this
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          2  point verified two retrofit technologies with the

          3  EPA. These technologies entail a combination of an

          4  EPA registered fuel-borne catalyst with a low cost

          5  diesel oxidation catalyst, better known as a DOC,

          6  and also with a more efficient catalyzed wire mesh

          7  filter, referred to as a CWMF. The EPA registered

          8  fuel borne catalyst is completely fuel soluble and

          9  winter temperature compatible, which when introduced

         10  in the fuel, acts as a combustion catalyst,

         11  enhancing the combustion efficiency and burning the

         12  fuel more completely.

         13                 I have attached a graph and on that

         14  you can see that the test results at Southwest

         15  Research Institute, in support of the EPA

         16  verification process was done on a 1995

         17  international engine, which is very typical of local

         18  delivery and school bus type fleet.

         19                 As you see, when the fuel-borne

         20  catalyst is combined with ultra low sulfur diesel,

         21  it results in a 20 to 30 percent reduction in

         22  particulate matter emission when compared to

         23  standard on-highway low sulfur diesel.

         24                 When this combination of ULSD and the

         25  fuel-borne catalyst is used in conjunction with a
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          2  relatively low cost device, a DOC, they typically

          3  are in their 1,000 to 2,000 dollar range depending

          4  on sizes. The PM reduced is as high as 50 percent on

          5  older engines and 40 percent on newer engines.

          6                 This reduction is further improved to

          7  65 to 75 percent, when the fuel-borne catalyst ULSD

          8  is combined with a more expensive but higher

          9  efficient catalyzed wire mesh filter.

         10                 The fuel-borne catalyst itself is

         11  safer use in all diesel engines, and it currently

         12  has over 20 million miles of trouble-free operation

         13  across a wide variety of vehicle types and services.

         14                 In addition to the verified systems,

         15  the FBC has been effectively used in conjunction

         16  with conventional wall flow diesel particulate

         17  filters to reduce soot-loading levels and reduce the

         18  temperatures at which the filters will regenerate.

         19                 There are currently over 100 of these

         20  fuel born catalysts DPF systems installed in heavy

         21  equipment and successfully operating today in

         22  underground mining applications.

         23                 When used with ULSD, the fuel-borne

         24  catalyst-based systems have also delivered

         25  reductions in N0x emissions, as high as nine

                                                            146

          1  ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AND EDUCATION

          2  percent, verified to as high as nine percent,

          3  ranging in five to nine, as well as substantial

          4  reductions in hydrocarbon and C0 emissions, which

          5  can also seep from the attached graph.

          6                 As stated earlier, the fuel-borne

          7  catalyst can be safely used by any vehicle without

          8  further evaluation.

          9                 The application of the fuel-borne

         10  catalyst DOC system will typically require some

         11  sizing of the DOC to ensure proper system back

         12  pressure levels are maintained. The DOC can be

         13  installed as an in-line device, similar to a

         14  catalytic converter, and in many cases now is being

         15  incorporated into a muffler, as a direct replacement

         16  for the existing silencers on the vehicle.

         17                 The catalyzed wire mesh filter is

         18  designed to replace an existing muffler, and because

         19  it is classified as a filter, and its verification

         20  requirements to have a data logging and back

         21  pressure monitoring system incorporated with it.

         22                 Today there is over 2,000 school

         23  buses, refuse trucks, local delivery trucks and

         24  construction and monitoring equipment, power

         25  generation units, using the fuel-borne catalyst and
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          2  applying the fuel-borne catalyst based emission

          3  control systems here in the US.

          4                 The States of Pennsylvania,

          5  Connecticut and Maine have awarded funding for the

          6  purchase and use of fuel-borne catalyst alone, and

          7  in combination with the after treatment devices.

          8                 The fuel borne catalyst is completely

          9  fuel soluble, it requires no special mixing or

         10  freeze protection, and can be bulk blended at the

         11  fuel terminal as tank trucks are loaded, or dosed

         12  into the fuel through automatic dispensing systems

         13  mounted on fuel delivery trucks or at

         14  fuel-dispensing pumps.

         15                 One gallon of fuel-borne catalyst

         16  treats 1,500 gallons of diesel fuel, and clean

         17  diesel technology has several on-board dosing

         18  systems in fuel trials at this time.

         19                 Proper dosing levels of the

         20  fuel-borne catalyst concentration can be monitored

         21  through fuel sample analysis.

         22                 In addition to the high level of

         23  emissions reduction which is achieved when vehicles

         24  are operated on fuel-borne catalysts treated fuel,

         25  these vehicles will also see an improvement in the
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          2  fuel economy of four to ten percent which will more

          3  than cover the typical cost of the fuel borne

          4  catalyst which run about six cents a gallon.

          5                 This fuel economy will provide,

          6  should provide a strong incentive for people to

          7  continue to use treated fuel.

          8                 A program to encourage or require the

          9  use of fuel-borne catalyst ULSD would give immediate

         10  reductions of 20 to 30 percent in PM and five

         11  percent in NOx and allow the addition of the

         12  appropriate emission control devices under the BAT

         13  review for each vehicle.

         14                 Thank you very much for this

         15  opportunity to share our experience and provide our

         16  support for this worthwhile initiative, and I would

         17  entertain any questions.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you. Thank

         19  you, both, for coming here and sharing your views.

         20  We're very pleased to hear about your product, Mr.

         21  Reid. And Ms. Miezio, thank you for all your work

         22  with Sanitation and New York City Transit, and one

         23  question, where is your company located?

         24                 MS. MIEZIO: Johnson Matthey is

         25  located in King of Prussia, Pennsylvania.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Pardon?

          3                 MS. MIEZIO: King of Prussia,

          4  Pennsylvania. Malverne, Pennsylvania our offices

          5  are.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: I see. I see.

          7                 I think given a very good description

          8  of what your technology can bring and how they could

          9  -- and how they can be used when we do this

         10  legislation, so I appreciate your coming here and

         11  being with us and having these products available

         12  for us. Without you guys, we wouldn't be able to do

         13  this. So, thanks very much.

         14                 MR. REID: Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: If I can have

         16  both your business cards, is that okay? I'll take

         17  business cards. Thank you.

         18                 Okay, let me just follow up on an

         19  announcement. Well, let me just call the next panel.

         20  Steve Changaris. I hope I'm saying that correctly.

         21  Of the National Solid Wastes Management Association.

         22  And Jeff Elmer of the General Contractors.

         23                 Anyone that is here for the Cultural

         24  Affairs hearing that was scheduled to start at 1:00

         25  p.m., anyone who is here for the Cultural Affairs
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          2  hearing, that hearing has been moved across the

          3  street to 250 Broadway to the 14th floor hearing

          4  room.

          5                 So, once again, Steve Changaris, and

          6  Jeff Elmer, if he's still with us.

          7                 Okay, and there is also an Economic

          8  Development hearing scheduled for now and I believe

          9  that that's going to be taking place next door in

         10  the Committee room. But because people thought the

         11  hearing was going to be here, for the last several

         12  minutes we've been graced by the presence of my good

         13  friend Rob Walsh. Nice to have you, Rob. And it

         14  looks like you guys are going to be next door.

         15                 Economic Development next door in the

         16  Committee Room. Cultural Affairs across the street

         17  at 250 Broadway, 14th floor hearing room.

         18                 Thank you, sir. Mr. Changaris, am I

         19  saying that right?

         20                 Now the Counsel to the Committee

         21  Donna DeCostanzo, who will give you the oath, and

         22  then you could state your name for the record and

         23  proceed with your testimony.

         24                 MS. DeCOSTANZO: Please raise your

         25  right hand.
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          2                 In the testimony that you're about to

          3  give, do you swear or affirm to tell the truth, the

          4  whole truth and nothing but the truth?

          5                 MR. CHANGARIS: I do.

          6                 MS. DeCOSTANZO: Thank you.

          7                 MR. CHANGARIS: We've submitted

          8  written formal testimony and I'll try not to read

          9  it. But I've got some outline notes that I just want

         10  to make sure I touch on for the Committee.

         11                 My name is Steve Changaris. I'm the

         12  NorthEast Regional Manager for the National Solid

         13  Waste Management Association. I work with the waste

         14  industry nationally northeast, as well as New York

         15  City. We want to thank you for the opportunity to

         16  testify. We've been active in New York City for

         17  about the last four years. We've been growing. We

         18  have a good active membership. We have small

         19  corridors who collect trash, recyclables to the

         20  major companies like ISI, waste management, and

         21  Allied BFI. And, again, we do everything in the

         22  waste and industry from recycling, transfer, to

         23  disposal, by landfilling or waste to energy, and we

         24  move the weights around the chess board to handle

         25  it, to protect the public health and the
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          2  environment.

          3                 My mission today is to express

          4  support for the legislation, Mr. Chairman, and

          5  commend the sponsors and really stress that we want

          6  to work with the Committee and the sponsors in a

          7  forward-looking way to improve the environment, and

          8  to try to improve the image of our company. I work

          9  for the garbage industry. There's a lot of bright,

         10  dedicated, hard-working people in this industry

         11  performing under an incredibly difficult regulatory

         12  set of rules and regulations, compliance, customer

         13  service, customer satisfaction, working with

         14  municipalities, working with neighborhoods. So,

         15  we're here, we try to do our best, and that's my

         16  mission. I've been working with them for 14 years,

         17  and I'm grateful to work for the industry.

         18                 I want to mention that partnering

         19  with government, this isn't the first time we've

         20  done this. We do it all the time, but particularly

         21  on air emissions, I wanted to mention that one of

         22  our large members runs a fleet of some 120 liquified

         23  natural gas trucks in Southern California, and

         24  that's been up and operational since 2000, and up in

         25  Massachusetts where my office is based I've been
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          2  working with a local independent corridor under the

          3  Clean Communities Act who has purchased two CNG

          4  trucks, and he's been running them out for the

          5  better part of the year, and he's learning how this

          6  technology -- these examples are where our industry,

          7  much like the Department of Sanitation is exploring

          8  this technology, finding out how it works and how we

          9  can integrate it into our operations to help achieve

         10  these standards. And for lack of a better way to

         11  view that, we're in a shake-out period, where we're

         12  trial and error. We're trying to get our hands

         13  around this technology and to learn how it works,

         14  cost implications, practical management

         15  applications. And so we're in that mix, too.

         16                 The industry has known about the EPA

         17  ultra low sulfur diesel fuel standard. We've been

         18  gearing up to respond to it. Our inventory of trucks

         19  and our future plans are all on line to comply with

         20  the USEPA's program. The biggest issue that we have

         21  right now is the cross-over of the time line, and,

         22  you know, we understand fully well why the City

         23  wants to move now. You know, I'm a political

         24  scientist by training and knowing all the things in

         25  the mix about just that good spirit to try to
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          2  improve the public health in the environment now,

          3  you know, to address some litigation, to avoid

          4  future litigation to comply with the new

          5  regulations, and to be sensitive to political

          6  constituencies. Those things are all very important

          7  that we recognize are the pebbles in your shoes, and

          8  we recognize that and we are on board to try to move

          9  this legislation forward.

         10                 Again, as I was mentioning a little

         11  earlier, the issue really is the overlap of the time

         12  lines, and that as time goes on and as the federal

         13  legislation takes hold, a lot of the types of the

         14  concerns that are in our testimony, and that I'll

         15  talk about today, will probably go away. So, it's in

         16  that intervening time, whether it's 12 months or two

         17  years, that's where we're going to have these kind

         18  of severe problems as we see them.

         19                 The example, when we read the

         20  legislation, we have questions about the reach of

         21  it. And when you look at the full package of the

         22  bills, and if you understand the City contracts with

         23  the private industry to transfer the waste out of

         24  state.

         25                 That operation is just, if you're
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          2  looking at concentric circles or the intersection of

          3  circles, that is just partially within New York

          4  City. When you look at school buses and other

          5  fleets, that's pretty much the jurisdiction of the

          6  City where you could develop a regulatory program

          7  much more in the direct control of the City.

          8                 Our trucks travel routes to Upstate

          9  New York, far places in Pennsylvania and

         10  out-of-state and the Mid-Atlantic and the Northeast,

         11  so, we have concerns about how that's going to shake

         12  out.

         13                 And specifically we wanted to ask the

         14  Committee, as we work with our truckers, if the idea

         15  is that they're to use this low sulfur fuel when

         16  they're in the City, and they come in from outside

         17  the City in the short-term, if they're not on a

         18  complete loop using the fuel, there will be

         19  contamination issues in the tank of the truck that

         20  will make that truck out of compliance.

         21                 But then, on the other hand, the

         22  truck, as it travels in its full loop to the

         23  destination, there may be, again, considering the

         24  vision that you create this local infrastructure

         25  sooner, as our loop is not just within the City
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          2  limits, where are these retail outlets going to be

          3  along our routes? And we've done some preliminary

          4  checking and the infrastructure is not there, and,

          5  you know, we understand about the ability to

          6  purchase this material for the fleet, but the way

          7  our industry is organized, I don't think that

          8  overlays the way we conduct that business.

          9                 And, again, so as the EPA program

         10  kicks in, a lot of these types of concerns will go

         11  away because these retail outlets will be available

         12  and the truckers will be in compliance with the EPA

         13  standards.

         14                 So, we're looking for some questions

         15  there, and this other issue about who is going to be

         16  responsible for the enforcement of this. Is it the

         17  transfer station operator that contracts with the

         18  City or the subcontractor that we contract with?

         19  And, you know, there has to be some kind of a due

         20  diligence standard or something in that, if we do

         21  our job and the third party doesn't perform, our

         22  permits and our contracts would be at risk.

         23                 So, we're very concerned about those

         24  kind of, you know, the devil is in the detail kind

         25  of thing, who is going to be responsible.
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          2                 You know, I just wanted to summarize

          3  four or five points in our, it's not the supply,

          4  it's the retail availability for the truckers on the

          5  routes that are well with outside the jurisdiction

          6  of New York City, and there are some issues about

          7  the contamination and the blending of the fuel, and

          8  things that are beyond our control.

          9                 We also raised in the written

         10  testimony, concerns about the fiscal impact. We

         11  heard some numbers earlier. The numbers we put in

         12  the testimony was that the price impact is about 25

         13  to 35 cents additional per gallon. Now, again, that

         14  may change. It may go up. It may come down, but that

         15  was the numbers that we pulled out of the

         16  information pool as of this week.

         17                 We raised the issue of economic

         18  efficiency in the testimony that we appreciate the

         19  three-year hold harmless provision that if we invest

         20  in something, we could have a three year for a

         21  payback, but in our industry, much like a department

         22  or an agency, sometimes the payback is more

         23  efficient, if you can run that over a longer period

         24  of time.

         25                 So, those are some cost benefit

                                                            158

          1  ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AND EDUCATION

          2  issues, and when we bring cost benefit issues up, it

          3  doesn't stand in stark comparison to the public

          4  health issue. It's not a zero sum game. It's a

          5  public benefit that legislators like yourself have

          6  to make a determination about, and then we'll

          7  respond to the ultimate legislative wisdom, but we

          8  find those types of discussions very helpful in the

          9  end product of legislation.

         10                 Again, we mentioned about the

         11  enforcement issue. Transfer stations typically

         12  partner with third-party truckers to haul the

         13  material to remote sites, and who is the

         14  responsibility going to fall to and make sure that

         15  any final draft of the legislation has some kind of

         16  due diligence standard to -- you know, if we've done

         17  our job to comply with the wishes of the City, then

         18  you know, we should have some kind of due diligence

         19  standard for some kind of protections.

         20                 And the last point that I'll just

         21  underscore again is the coordination issue between

         22  the USEPA program and the local New York City

         23  program, and that the construct of it probably works

         24  much better on a closed loop system that are

         25  servicing just the City. But once you overlay that
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          2  vision on the way this would work for the way waste

          3  moves throughout the Mid-Atlantic and the Northeast,

          4  it creates concerns for us at the operational level.

          5                 We'll work with you. We have

          6  technical people, we'll provide whatever kind of

          7  expertise we can and assistance. We'll come back

          8  with the numbers to do further cost estimate of some

          9  of these kinds of unknowns, become better defined,

         10  and, you know, we're just very supportive of the

         11  legislation, we want to be a partner in this

         12  process, to help the legislation move forward.

         13                 Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you.

         15                 Thank you, Mr. Changaris. Even before

         16  you came to testify today I had been made aware of

         17  some of the concerns on the part of your industry

         18  regarding the legislation, in this case 416.

         19                 MR. CHANGARIS: Right, 416.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: So, I was very

         21  glad to be able to hear you today and to get the

         22  benefit of your written comments, which of course

         23  you will get all due consideration, and also we're

         24  going to be meeting with you and your

         25  representatives and your members in everything that

                                                            160

          1  ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AND EDUCATION

          2  we craft and everything that we do, you know, it has

          3  to be doable, it has to make sense, it has to be

          4  practical.

          5                 We can't figure out, like the

          6  practicality without you essentially, because you

          7  are the ones who are going to have to do it.

          8                 So, I recognize the partnership that

          9  has to exist in order for us to get through our

         10  shared goal, which is decreased emissions, and

         11  better service and so you have my commitment that

         12  we'll work very closely with you and your

         13  representatives to make sure that any steps we take

         14  regarding 416 are, you know, doable, and can be

         15  attained by your good membership.

         16                 We do appreciate your coming down

         17  from, I guess Massachusetts.

         18                 MR. CHANGARIS: Yes.

         19                 Just one little note. This is a

         20  learning experience for everybody. I'm very excited

         21  to have peering into some of the experiences the

         22  Department has had with the alternative fuel

         23  vehicles.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Yes.

         25                 MR. CHANGARIS: So, we have already
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          2  tried to establish some dialogue there to take a

          3  harder look at that and share some of that

          4  information with my membership so they can, as they

          5  start to replace inventory and rolling stock, they

          6  can start looking at these kind of options. And

          7  maybe there will be opportunities to tap into some

          8  of this developing CNG infrastructure.

          9                 So, we're very anxious to spread that

         10  word, to get it in front of my member companies,

         11  and, you know, hopefully they'll be able to pick up

         12  the ball and run with it.

         13                 Again, thank you very much for your

         14  time.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Fine. This is

         16  going to be a good partnership that we're going to

         17  engage in, and I appreciate your coming down here.

         18                 I'm going to I guess call the next

         19  panel, and then I'm just going to pull you aside,

         20  Mr. Changaris for a private moment for a second.

         21                 Our next panel will be Tom Lewis of

         22  Grayline, and Richard, can't make out the last name,

         23  also of Grayline. Okay?

         24                 Thank you. Sorry for the

         25  interruption. It's a pleasure to have you with us
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          2  here today.

          3                 Counsel to the Committee will

          4  administer the oath, and then we can proceed.

          5                 (Witnesses sworn.)

          6                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you. Thank

          7  you for being here. Will both gentlemen be

          8  testifying?

          9                 MR. LEWIS: No. Mr. Vihonski is our

         10  Maintenance Director, and he's available here to

         11  keep me out of trouble on the main side, if that

         12  occasion should arise.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: What I'll do is

         14  I'll ask you to state your name for the record, and

         15  you could commence with your written testimony,

         16  which I have right here.

         17                 MR. LEWIS: My name is Tom Lewis.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay. You've got

         19  to speak right into the microphone.

         20                 MR. LEWIS: Mr. Chairman and Council

         21  Members, my name is Tom Lewis and I'm the President

         22  of Grayline New York Tours, which is one of the

         23  largest transportation sightseeing companies in New

         24  York City.

         25                 Grayline and 12 other transportation
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          2  operations in New York and New Jersey are owned by

          3  Coach USA. I appreciate the invitation to render

          4  comments on the proposed legislation 417.

          5                 Coach USA applauds the efforts of the

          6  Committee on Environmental Protection and others to

          7  search for new ways to ensure that the delivery of

          8  transportation services in New York City is

          9  sustainable and will have as little an impact as

         10  possible on the quality, air quality and

         11  environment.

         12                 Our comments really concern the cost

         13  of these efforts that are to be borne by this

         14  industry and to encourage that we search for

         15  workable solutions that do not result in the cost of

         16  implementation that will be passed along from

         17  becoming too great a burden on the tourist and

         18  visitors for this City.

         19                 Our comments on ultra low sulfur

         20  diesel fuel echo some of the concerns already

         21  apparent in the proposed legislation, the reality is

         22  is that for some time the availability of ultra low

         23  sulfur fuel may be scarce, and regardless of

         24  availability the fuel cost will be higher than

         25  regular diesel.
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          2                 Hopefully the cost will go down and

          3  availability will increase over time.

          4                 Implementing this new fuel can result

          5  in higher costs for facility and equipment

          6  modifications as well.

          7                 Although the legislation only applies

          8  to buses that are receiving or renewing their

          9  license to operate in the City, operators will soon

         10  be faced with managing a significant logistical

         11  issues operating two different fuel types on one

         12  property.

         13                 The capital expenditures to provide

         14  for different fuel types will add to the cost of

         15  operations in a meaningful way. We would ask that

         16  you consider a gradual introduction of this fuel

         17  type over a longer period of time so the cost may be

         18  absorbed into the business.

         19                 In the alternative, if the proposed

         20  implementation is followed, then we ask you consider

         21  a subsidy or rebate program for some limited time

         22  for operators that switch their entire fleet, not

         23  just the buses coming up for license renewal to the

         24  new fuel.

         25                 Regarding the provisions outlined,
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          2  the installation of best available technologies to

          3  reduce the emissions of pollutants, we recognize and

          4  applaud the goals to reduce particulate matter from

          5  the emissions of diesel engines. The effectiveness

          6  of bolting on or modifying older buses with emission

          7  decreasing equipment is unknown and will divert

          8  precious capital away from newer equipment.

          9                 Instead of modifying older buses,

         10  discretion in the legislation should be aimed to

         11  allowing operators rotate their bus fleets with

         12  newer models, to use their capital to purchase newer

         13  buses with better technologies, instead of forcing

         14  costly and ineffective modifications to older buses.

         15                 New buses have more advanced systems

         16  for engine management, cleaner burning engines,

         17  lighter weight and materials and are overall much

         18  more fuel efficient.

         19                 Please allow discretion for the

         20  Commissioner to allow waivers on older buses nearing

         21  the end of their lifecycle to operators that are

         22  buying newer equipment.

         23                 If best technologies may include

         24  particulate matter filters, the deployment on older

         25  fleets is especially troublesome.
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          2                 Manufacturers are not likely to have

          3  much interest in producing particulate matter

          4  filters for older models. Therefore, operators may

          5  have limited choices, or no choice at all for

          6  particulate products.

          7                 In addition, the products may or may

          8  not be effective on older buses.

          9                 Again, capital should be spent in

         10  purchasing newer equipment.

         11                 In summary, a phase-in of sulfur fuel

         12  as it becomes more available and flexibility in

         13  deploying best technologies will allow operators in

         14  this industry to effectively manage and embrace

         15  those improvements.

         16                 This would allow companies to absorb

         17  the increased cost over time and not necessitate

         18  clean fuel surcharges or similar charges to

         19  tourists, or limit operators from providing the

         20  level of service currently offered to the visitors

         21  to the City.

         22                 In the alternative we would ask for a

         23  subsidy, if you are going to mandate a compacted

         24  time frame to implement the new fuel and to make

         25  changes to existing equipment and facilities. A
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          2  rebate to those lawful users funded from violators'

          3  fines would be another approach.

          4                 As a final comment, the goal of

          5  reducing emissions and providing a better and

          6  sustainable environment will only be accomplished if

          7  all those participating are in compliance.

          8                 Please take measures to provide an

          9  equal enforcement against all size operators.

         10                 Thank you for the opportunity to

         11  share some of our initial thoughts and concerns on

         12  the proposed legislation.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you. Thank

         14  you, Mr. Lewis. Thank you for being here with us.

         15  And I guess if you think about a lot of the -- it's

         16  like the gateway to the City for a lot of our

         17  visitors, right?

         18                 MR. LEWIS: Absolutely.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: You know, they

         20  step onto one of your coaches and then they, that's

         21  how they, you know, view New York. So, we thank you

         22  for being our sort of on-road ambassador

         23  so-to-speak, for all of the visitors that come here.

         24                 Certainly some of the comments that

         25  you make here will be certainly taken to heart.
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          2                 Also, I envision that before we can

          3  proceed with this particular piece of legislation,

          4  you know, we would have to do that in concert with

          5  you to get, you know, further details on something

          6  that might be workable for you. So, this is day one

          7  here. We've got a proposal, it's, you know, on the

          8  table, and this is just the very beginning of how we

          9  think about how we can craft something that would

         10  work for us, work for you and work for the people

         11  that we both serve.

         12                 And the Counsel to the Committee,

         13  Donna DeCostanzo, has all of your contact

         14  information, and as we further ponder moving forward

         15  on this legislation, you will be a big part of that

         16  process.

         17                 I just do want to ask about how many

         18  coaches you have here that operate in the City, and

         19  how many hours do they operate? Do you have some

         20  figures as to that?

         21                 MR. LEWIS: Well, we have several

         22  different fleet types. We have open top double

         23  deckers, we have approximately 60 of those that

         24  provide tours, and they start generally around nine

         25  in the morning and go to ten or eleven at night, but
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          2  the numbers are significantly reduced after 5:00 in

          3  the afternoon.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Right.

          5                 MR. LEWIS: We have a much smaller

          6  night tour.

          7                 And we have about 20 other vehicles

          8  that we operate during the day for various different

          9  types of tours.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Right.

         11                 MR. LEWIS: Trollies, and motor

         12  coaches.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Also, in your

         14  statement you indicate that we should take measures

         15  to provide for equal enforcement against all size

         16  operators.

         17                 MR. LEWIS: Well, I think what our

         18  feelings are is that --

         19                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Could you

         20  further elaborate on that?

         21                 MR. LEWIS: Yes. As a Grayline and a

         22  Coach USA company, who are very, very visible, due

         23  to the many operations we have, including commuter

         24  and other types of operations, and where the City

         25  has limited enforcement capabilities, it sometimes
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          2  seems very easy to go after the most visible target

          3  and others that are in non-compliance are never

          4  brought to task.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Right.

          6                 MR. LEWIS: So, while we recognize

          7  that that's a problem for the City, enforcement

          8  always is an issue, but sometimes we feel like we

          9  get the lion's share of the enforcement.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Well, it's

         11  certainly good to be noticed.

         12                 MR. LEWIS: Yes.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Fairness is

         14  something we should all strive for, so your point is

         15  well taken. But I thank you for coming here today,

         16  and I give you my personal commitment that as we

         17  proceed on this piece of legislation, you'll be an

         18  integral part of the process.

         19                 MR. LEWIS: Right. Thank you. We look

         20  forward to that.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you.

         22                 We have Peter Slocum, from the

         23  American Cancer Society. Craig Wilson of the New

         24  York League of Conservation Voters. And Bob Muldoon,

         25  of the Sierra Club.
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          2                 Okay, gentlemen, thank you for being

          3  here.

          4                 Donna will do the honors and then we

          5  can take your statements.

          6                 MS. DeCOSTANZO: Please raise your

          7  right hand.

          8                 In the testimony that you're about to

          9  give, do you swear or affirm to tell the truth, the

         10  whole truth and nothing but the truth?

         11                 (Witnesses sworn.)

         12                 MS. DeCOSTANZO: Thank you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay, Mr.

         14  Solcum, why don't you step right up. You just have

         15  to state your name for the record.

         16                 MR. SLOCUM: Is that on?

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Yes. Speaking

         18  right into it is the best way.

         19                 MR. SLOCUM: Okay.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay, great.

         21                 MR. SLOCUM: Thank you very much for

         22  the opportunity to testify. My name is Peter Slocum,

         23  I'm the Advocacy Vice President for the American

         24  Cancer Society, Eastern Division.

         25                 We strongly support legislation to
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          2  reduce toxic pollution from high sulfur diesel fuel

          3  in New York City. Let me very briefly explain why.

          4                 As a science- and evidence-based

          5  organization, the Cancer Society advocates limits on

          6  exposure to pollutants only when they are shown to

          7  cause increased cancer risk. The science of cancer

          8  risk assessment can be a slow, cautious and even

          9  frustrating business sometimes, but we believe that

         10  it is critical to be cautious so that we can speak

         11  with a clear, scientific message that individuals,

         12  public officials such as yourselves, and the

         13  community at large can have confidence in.

         14                 I'm here today in support of this

         15  legislation because we do have scientific evidence

         16  linking lung cancer to the fine particulate matter

         17  that is formed by combustion of high sulfur diesel

         18  fuel oil.

         19                 ACS believes that significantly

         20  lowering sulfur content in those fuels will reduce

         21  the risk of lung cancer for New Yorkers. In a study

         22  published in the Journal of American Medical

         23  Association last year, a scientific team, including

         24  ACS scientists, reported on its assessment of the

         25  relationship between long-term exposure to fine
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          2  particulate air pollution and lung cancer mortality,

          3  along with other causes of death.

          4                 After controlling for a number of

          5  other possible compounding factors, the scientists

          6  concluded, "elevated fine particulate air pollution

          7  exposures were associated with significant increases

          8  in lung cancer mortality.

          9                 This study used air pollution data

         10  for Metropolitan areas of the United States and

         11  cause of death data collected by the American Cancer

         12  Society.

         13                 I'll skip other details of it, but I

         14  just wanted to point out that it's a massive study,

         15  including health records on over a million people

         16  around the entire country. So, it's not a little

         17  mini snapshot over a couple of years, it's a major

         18  national study.

         19                 Let me point out here that lung

         20  cancer is the number one cancer killer for both men

         21  and women, which many people don't realize, with

         22  more than 160,000 deaths projected in 2004, more

         23  than 3,000 of those deaths will occur in New York

         24  City, more than one-quarter of all cancer deaths

         25  that we expect to see in New York City this year.
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          2  Therefore, it is a primary health problem.

          3                 We all know that tobacco is a primary

          4  risk factor for lung cancer, however, given the

          5  enormous toll that lung cancer takes, the relatively

          6  high rate of rapid death after diagnosis, and the

          7  strong evidence linking fine particulate matter to

          8  increased risk, the cancer society believes that our

          9  society as a whole should hasten to take advantage

         10  of the cleaner fuel alternatives that will reduce

         11  cancer risk.

         12                 This is proven technology that is

         13  available to us now, as you've heard throughout the

         14  day.

         15                 In the last two years this City has

         16  led the battle against lung cancer. Your courageous

         17  stand on the Clean Indoor Air Act is being copied

         18  around the world. The Cancer Society urges you to

         19  build upon that proud record with a strong, clean

         20  outdoor legislation as well.

         21                 Thank you very much.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you. Thank

         23  you very much.

         24                 And Craig.

         25                 MR. WILSON: Good afternoon. My name
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          2  is Craig Wilson. I am the Director and I am the

          3  Director of New York City Policy and Advocacy for

          4  the New York League of Conservation Voters.

          5                 On behalf of the League, I'm pleased

          6  to be here today to offer our full support for all

          7  of the intros before the Committee. Collectively, if

          8  passed, these bills will represent a significant

          9  step forward for air quality in New York City, and

         10  the step is surely needed, as we have heard from

         11  many of the other people that testified previously.

         12  I'm going to skip through this, a little bit of my

         13  testimony, prepared remarks, but definitely like to

         14  reiterate that ozone and particulate matter are of

         15  significant concern to us.

         16                 Beyond what the actual pollutants can

         17  do to the health of humans, it's important to

         18  understand what else it means. It means that one

         19  million people in New York City are suffering from

         20  asthma, 300,000 of whom are children. It means for

         21  the year 2000, that total cost of asthma was in

         22  excess of $242 billion, and it means more and more

         23  children are being hospitalized due to asthma, as

         24  the Mayor just reported in his Management Report.

         25                 In short, it means we have a public
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          2  health concern of academic proportions.

          3                 Fortunately, the City is beginning to

          4  deal with the problem, as with your good work and

          5  the Speaker's and Councilman Gerson's work on Local

          6  Law 77, but it's important to take this another step

          7  forward, raise the bar once again and modernize

          8  Local Law 6 of 1991.

          9                 In this law, new car purchases will

         10  be required to be as clean as possible. The existing

         11  school buses will be required to use emission

         12  controls and half of new garbage trucks will be

         13  required to use clean fuel technology.

         14                 If passed into law, these measures

         15  will demonstrate that the City Council is committed

         16  to cleaning up the nearly 27,000 vehicles owned by

         17  the City and in addressing what is a major health

         18  concern for all of New Yorkers.

         19                 Recognizing the burden of the air

         20  quality of New York City, we, again, fully support

         21  Intros 415 -- excuse me -- 414, 415, 416, 417 and

         22  428, and our New York City Score Card Advisory

         23  Committee has determined that these pieces of

         24  legislation will be considered for our annual score

         25  card.
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          2                 Additionally, we urge the Mayor to

          3  join in lending his support. Mayor Bloomberg

          4  provided New Yorkers with a great public service by

          5  clearing the pollution out of our City's restaurants

          6  and bars, and now it is time for him to do the same

          7  for our streets and parks.

          8                 Thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you. Thank

         10  you, Craig.

         11                 Hi, Bob.

         12                 MR. MULDOON: Thank you, Chairman.

         13                 Good afternoon. My name is Bob

         14  Muldoon, an Associate Regional Representative with

         15  the National Sierra Club Office in New York City.

         16                 I'm speaking today on behalf of the

         17  New York City Group.

         18                 The Sierra Club is one of the oldest

         19  and largest grassroot environmental organizations in

         20  the country, with over 750,000 members nationwide,

         21  and over 15,000 members in New York City.

         22                 The Sierra Club supports the bills

         23  being considered today with minor but important

         24  amendments. We recommend that the bills, where

         25  appropriate, require the Mayor's Management Report

                                                            178

          1  ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AND EDUCATION

          2  to break down fleet data according to department

          3  model, year manufactured, and type of fuel used.

          4                 This will help both you, and members

          5  of the public evaluate the City's progress without

          6  having to undergo a FOIL process.

          7                 We applaud the City Council for

          8  moving ahead with this package of bills to require

          9  cleaner vehicles be used by City-owned and

         10  City-regulated fleets.

         11                 We urgently need this legislation to

         12  address the problem of global warming and the health

         13  issues related to New York City air quality.

         14                 Cars, SUVs and other light trucks

         15  emit 20 percent of the Nation's carbon dioxide

         16  pollution, a major source of global warming.

         17                 Despite the denial practiced by the

         18  Bush Administration for the past three years, global

         19  warming is a real and serious threat to the health

         20  and safety of New Yorkers.

         21                 This past June, Columbia University's

         22  New York Climate Health -- Climate and Health

         23  Project, reported on their three-year ongoing

         24  investigation of local health impacts to climate

         25  change scenarios in the region.
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          2                 The report laid out potential trends

          3  in ground level ozone, temperature increase, sea

          4  level rise and beach erosion.

          5                 The project found that by the 2050s,

          6  summer heat-related mortality in the region could

          7  more than double, as compared to a 1990 summer; that

          8  the sea level in the region could rise by a half

          9  foot to two feet; and rates of beach erosion could

         10  increase by three to six times.

         11                 This is a serious problem, especially

         12  with regard to the potential for storm surge, and a

         13  result in flooding.

         14                 Given that much of the infrastructure

         15  in New York City is at or near sea level, including

         16  entrances to subways or tunnels, global warming is

         17  an immediate threat to our region and to our nation.

         18                 The air quality improvement promised

         19  by cleaner fuel vehicles is critical for public

         20  health.

         21                 New York City has an asthma epidemic,

         22  with about a million people suffering from asthma

         23  and asthma-related illnesses.

         24                 New York City is a severe

         25  non-attainment area for ground-level ozone and
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          2  partial non-attainment area for particulate matter.

          3  Auto and truck exhaust are major contributors.

          4                 By setting a higher standard for

          5  cleaner vehicles the City will lead the way for

          6  businesses, institutions and individuals, as well as

          7  other cities in the country.

          8                 The Sierra Club supports the goals of

          9  these bills to rapidly reduce emissions from

         10  vehicles in City-owned and City-regulated fleets. We

         11  feel that the fastest means to achieve this goal, is

         12  through greater fuel efficiency.

         13                 Hybrid technology, which combines a

         14  gas and electric engine offers significant benefits

         15  for emission reductions, cost savings, noise

         16  reduction and lowering our dependence on foreign

         17  oil.

         18                 Even in the case of diesel-powered

         19  vehicles, we are seeing promising developments in

         20  the use of hybrid technology with ultra low sulfur

         21  diesel fuel, and best available control technology.

         22                 By combining a gas and electric

         23  engine, and capturing energy normally lost in

         24  braking and coasting, hybrid vehicles are

         25  dramatically increasing gas mileage. The Toyota
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          2  Prius has an EPA rating of 60 miles per gallon in

          3  the City and the best EPA rating for low emissions

          4  of any midsize car.

          5                 Hybrids dramatically reduce emissions

          6  while cutting fuel costs and reducing our reliance

          7  on foreign oil.

          8                 And it does all of this without the

          9  need for a large investment in infrastructure for

         10  special maintenance.

         11                 Hybrid cars run on gas like any

         12  standard car and the battery never needs recharging.

         13  The battery and hybrid technology have manufacturing

         14  warranties of eight years or 100,000 miles.

         15                 We can envision the New York City

         16  fleet becoming almost entire hybrid in the next ten

         17  years. The number of hybrid models on the road is

         18  growing rapidly. We will soon go from three hybrid

         19  models at the beginning of 2004 to seven hybrid

         20  models by 2005.

         21                 New York City has become a major

         22  purchaser of hybrids, and yet they still remain a

         23  small percentage of the overall fleet. According to

         24  the data the Sierra Club obtained, the City has 645

         25  hybrids in the light duty fleet but they only make
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          2  up five percent of the City's total light duty

          3  fleet.

          4                 With the increasing number of hybrid

          5  models coming out, we see opportunities to introduce

          6  hybrids in all City agencies in the coming years.

          7                 In terms of heavy duty fleets, hybrid

          8  technology used in buses is quickly being developed

          9  and put into use on a large scale.

         10                 The MTA currently has 55 hybrid

         11  electric buses and will increase that number to 325

         12  by the end of 2005.

         13                 The City of Seattle has ordered 235

         14  hybrid electric buses as well.

         15                 Studies on emissions from hybrid

         16  electric buses are being pursued by the California

         17  Air Resources Board and early reports are very

         18  promising.

         19                 In an early evaluation of its hybrid

         20  fleet, the New York City Transit reported

         21  significant emission reductions and improving

         22  reliability with hybrid electric buses.

         23                 In conclusion, we support the

         24  legislation before the Committee, and urge the

         25  Committee to closely evaluate the advantages of a
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          2  fuel efficiency strategy through hybrid electric

          3  technology applied to all fleets.

          4                 Thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you. Thank

          6  you. Thank you, Bob. And when we succeed in getting

          7  these bills negotiated and getting them passed, it

          8  will be due in no small measure to the advocacy that

          9  the three of your organizations have brought to the

         10  table, and we greatly appreciate your support in

         11  helping us get some of this really good work done.

         12                 A particular voice of thanks to the

         13  American Cancer Society. You know, our father is

         14  suffering from cancer now and the family has a whole

         15  new level of appreciation for what your organization

         16  does for so many.

         17                 So, thank you all, and God bless you.

         18                 MR. SLOCUM: We appreciate your

         19  leadership.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay.

         21                 MR. SLOCUM: Thank you.

         22                 MR. MULDOON: Thank you.

         23                 MR. WILSON: Thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay, the next

         25  panel, John Rath something of KeySpan. And Garnet
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          2  Glover of Clean Energy.

          3                 Thank you. Thank you, both, for

          4  coming, and giving us the benefit of your views.

          5                 Counsel to the Committee will swear

          6  you in and then we can get going.

          7                 MS. DeCOSTANZO: Please raise your

          8  right hand.

          9                 In the testimony that you're about to

         10  give, do you swear or affirm to tell the truth, the

         11  whole truth and nothing but the truth?

         12                 (Witnesses sworn.)

         13                 MS. DeCOSTANZO: Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay, in

         15  whatever order you wish. State your name for the

         16  record and proceed with your statement.

         17                 MR. GLOVER: Garnet Glover for Clean

         18  Energy.

         19                 Chairman Gennaro and members of the

         20  Committee, my name is Garnet Glover. I'm the General

         21  Manager of Eastern US Sales Operations for Clean

         22  Energy, headquartered in Seal Beach, California. And

         23  we are the largest supplier of natural gas as a

         24  transportation fuel in North America with more than

         25  160 CNG and liquified natural gas fueling stations
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          2  and operations.

          3                 Clean Energy founded over a decade

          4  ago has demonstrated that proper business operations

          5  and environmentally safeguards can indeed co-exist.

          6                 I appreciate the opportunity to share

          7  experiences and thoughts under the vital leadership

          8  decision requiring the Department of Sanitation to

          9  use clean fueled vehicles.

         10                 Citizens of New York face a daily

         11  pollution crisis that threatens their health and

         12  security and City agencies continue to rely on 85

         13  percent foreign oil imports, the highest in the

         14  nation.

         15                 The New York City metropolitan area

         16  is designated as a severe 17 non-attainment area for

         17  ozone by the EPA, continues to have the highest rate

         18  of asthma mortality in the nation, and the traffic

         19  noise is one of the most persistent automobile

         20  irritants to all New Yorkers and tourists.

         21                 We believe at this time it's critical

         22  that the Council continues to demonstrate the

         23  leadership necessary to make the Department of

         24  Sanitation to change to a largely domestic clean

         25  fuel natural gas that provides a clear solution to
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          2  all the issues just mentioned phasing New York City

          3  citizens.

          4                 It's important for you to know that

          5  you're not alone in this quest to save the citizens

          6  of New York. Other public policy makers across the

          7  nation are making a transition to natural gas as a

          8  transportation fuel for refuse collection trucks,

          9  street sweepers, transit and other heavy duty

         10  vehicles.

         11                 In California alone over 1,500

         12  natural gas refuse fleets fuel operate daily

         13  offering the public significant reduction in

         14  emissions, improving public health, providing energy

         15  security benefits and less noise in the communities

         16  which they operate.

         17                 In part, this has happened because

         18  the South Coast Air Quality Management District

         19  adopted a similar public policy in June of 2000.

         20                 However, this policy required the

         21  public and private fleets to shift to 100 percent

         22  natural gas and is included in your packets.

         23                 I can assure you that the refuse

         24  operators did not want to make this change in

         25  California. But the elected representatives
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          2  comprising the South Coast Air Quality Management

          3  District Board unanimously demonstrated critical

          4  leadership and didn't give in to the same

          5  misinformed arguments that you have heard today or

          6  will receive from the Department of Sanitation as

          7  written testimony.

          8                 But that is your job to protect the

          9  citizens of New York and take a broader view of the

         10  health and security issues currently facing New York

         11  City.

         12                 You will need to listen, but not

         13  surrender to the arguments by Department of

         14  Sanitation, which have been used across the nation

         15  whenever large fleets are asked to change their

         16  operations.

         17                 Please remember that these arguments

         18  are not new and that other public policy makers have

         19  found solutions to ensure that natural gas, the

         20  cleanest fuel for transportation, was implemented to

         21  save their communities.

         22                 You will hear the arguments of the

         23  outlandish incremental cost for a natural gas refuse

         24  truck. Department of Sanitation mentioned that it

         25  was 70,000. Well, in other parts, the United States
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          2  - Texas, California, Colorado, it's 20 to 30,000.

          3  Part of that is because of the different chassis

          4  that they use, different tanks.

          5                 One of the things that the Department

          6  of Sanitation said was that the chassis needs to be

          7  extended to fit the tanks and how this impacts the

          8  turning radius. Well, there actually are chassis

          9  suppliers that are integrating the tank into the

         10  chassis at a lower cost, and that is a solution that

         11  we talked to the Department of Sanitation, and they

         12  could go out and look at that type of technology,

         13  instead of relying on the bad design they currently

         14  have with Mack trucks.

         15                 Frankly, with New York City's buying

         16  power, they should be able to reduce the incremental

         17  cost of refuse trucks once they commit to purchase

         18  vehicles every year.

         19                 You also heard about the lack of

         20  infrastructure and the high cost to operate fueling

         21  stations. And I guess that's why we're here, that's

         22  what we do.

         23                 Natural gas infrastructure providers,

         24  like Clean Energy, have been very successful in

         25  meeting the fueling needs of refuse companies in the
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          2  LA basin to support the South Coast public policy.

          3  We do this by designing, building, operating

          4  refueling stations, and using our own capital and

          5  grant money to help offset the cost to the City.

          6                 This is the same business model that

          7  could be applied to New York City. Since most of the

          8  Department of Sanitation fleet is fueled at

          9  centralized locations, Clean Energy can work, and is

         10  currently working, with Department of Sanitation, to

         11  develop some type of infrastructure plan to meet the

         12  broad introduction of natural gas trucks to their

         13  fleet.

         14                 Fundamentally Clean Energy is willing

         15  to invest in a network of CNG fueling stations to

         16  support the fleet.

         17                 You have also heard today that ultra

         18  low sulfur diesel is good enough to reduce emissions

         19  and operating costs with the Department of

         20  Sanitation.

         21                 Engine manufacturers are very clear

         22  that natural gas technology has matured and can

         23  result in maintenance and cost competitive, and is

         24  cost competitive to diesel technologies.

         25                 They also say that low sulfur diesel,
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          2  and ultra low sulfur diesel are not now, or likely

          3  never be, as clean as natural gas.

          4                 The diesel recipe for 2007 includes

          5  complex after treatment traps, which you've heard

          6  about; better fuel, which you've also heard about,

          7  but both are significantly more expensive.

          8                 What you haven't heard is how these

          9  traps have no significant impact on NOx reduction.

         10                 I would also like to reiterate,

         11  because of the duty cycle in the Sanitation trucks,

         12  that the PM traps sometimes do not work, as Rich

         13  Kassel pointed out.

         14                 The 2007, 2010 EPA standards increase

         15  the cost to operate a heavy duty diesel engine,

         16  while the natural gas cost will be relatively

         17  constant.

         18                 Diesel trucks have been rejected by

         19  numerous public policy makers, such as yourself,

         20  because they are dirty, noisy, the natural gas, and

         21  they provide zero foreign oil deplacement. And I

         22  just can't emphasize that enough, that that's

         23  something that New York City and New York State as a

         24  whole needs to focus on is how they can just begin

         25  to displace foreign oil.
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          2                 Like I said, the potential benefits

          3  for natural gas have been recognized by many other

          4  public policies like this Council.

          5                 The Department of Sanitation truck

          6  fleet, the implementation of natural gas, 50 percent

          7  of the total fleet would result in a reduction of

          8  between 238 and 358 tons of NOx pollution per year,

          9  and between 15.76 and 23.6 tons of toxic particulate

         10  emissions per year.

         11                 The Department of Sanitation NGV

         12  fleet would displace between 11 and 16.5 million

         13  gallons of diesel fuel annually.

         14                 In conclusion, to show our commitment

         15  to the City and Department of Sanitation, I would

         16  like to leave you with this thought: The City and

         17  the Department of Sanitation will commit to

         18  initially have at least 50 refuse trucks at a CNG

         19  refueling station and commit to continued sequential

         20  growth of that fleet, with a long-term fueling

         21  contract, Clean Energy will commit up to $1 million

         22  per location in capital to defray the incremental

         23  cost of vehicles or to design, build and operate

         24  each CNG refueling station.

         25                 This is a proven model. We're a
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          2  profitable company. We've done this in California,

          3  and we can do it here. On behalf of Clean Energy, I

          4  appreciate the opportunity to provide our views and

          5  experiences on these critical issues. It's clear

          6  that New York City must take steps to lessen its

          7  dependency on foreign oil, and natural gas refuse

          8  trucks could help significantly reduce dependency on

          9  foreign oil.

         10                 It's also clear that New York City

         11  must reduce their level of noise and air pollution,

         12  and natural gas vehicles are the cleanest vehicles

         13  commercially available for refuse trucks.

         14                 The Council can find comfort that

         15  other elected officials have embraced such policy,

         16  however, make no mistake, your leadership and

         17  support of this bill sends an important signal

         18  throughout New York and the nation.

         19                 In fact, I'd like to suggest that the

         20  Council consider an even stronger position providing

         21  a ramp up period that would eventually require

         22  Department of Sanitation to replace 100 percent of

         23  all new purchases with the cleanest transportation

         24  fuel available, natural gas.

         25                 Thank you for your time and
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          2  consideration on this important matter.

          3                 I would just like to add one more

          4  comment on the fueling. Currently we fuel over 400

          5  buses every night for the MVTA, fueling

          6  approximately 60 gallons for each truck, and we do

          7  it in four minutes.

          8                 We can fuel refuse trucks in four

          9  minutes, five minutes, six minutes, 30 minutes, it's

         10  just sizing the equipment. So, we can do that, and I

         11  just also would like to say that we support all the

         12  bills. We would like to see the CNG vehicles ranked

         13  a little higher, but we welcome this opportunity to

         14  talk to you and work with you.

         15                 We've done a lot of work with

         16  different public agencies and we welcome this

         17  opportunity.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you. Thank

         19  you for coming. And I'll make a statement or comment

         20  once the gentleman from KeySpan makes his statement.

         21                 MR. RATHBUN: Thank you, Councilman

         22  Gennaro. My name is John Rathbun. I'm the Manager of

         23  Technical Solutions for KeySpan Energy Delivery, one

         24  of the largest distributors of natural gas in the

         25  country and the largest in the northeast.
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          2                 I want to thank you and the other

          3  Council members for the opportunity of KeySpan to

          4  speak on these important issues, and on behalf of

          5  KeySpan, I'd like to express our support for the

          6  changes to Local Law 6, specifically Intro. Bill

          7  414.

          8                 KeySpan believes that increasing the

          9  number of natural gas powered light, medium and

         10  heavy duty vehicles operated in the City will save

         11  money on fuel, significantly improve the quality of

         12  our air, and reduce our dependence on petroleum

         13  products.

         14                 Historically the cost of natural gas

         15  is incomparable to or less than gasoline and diesel

         16  fuels, on a per gallon equivalent basis nationwide.

         17  Natural gas is also less expensive than low sulfur

         18  diesel and biodiesel fuels.

         19                 The US Environmental Protection

         20  Agency estimates that its new low sulfur diesel fuel

         21  standards will increase the cost of producing and

         22  distributing diesel fuel by 4.5 to 5 cents per

         23  gallon nationwide, and in the northeast that cost

         24  could be even higher, where ultra low sulfur diesel

         25  costs approximately five cents to 17 cents per
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          2  gallon than conventional diesel fuel.

          3                 Nearly 90 percent of the natural gas

          4  consumed in the United States is from domestic

          5  sources, compared to less than 50 percent from oil.

          6                 Energy security in today's world must

          7  be a high priority. Right now over 80 percent of the

          8  transportation fuel in New York City comes from

          9  foreign sources. Moreover, the production of natural

         10  gas avoids the pollution risks associated

         11  petroleum-based liquid fuel, including crude oil

         12  spills, toxic pollution from refineries, and leaks

         13  from underground tanks into groundwater.

         14                 We think that there are clear cost

         15  and health advantages to replacing diesel- and

         16  gasoline-fueled vehicles with natural gas.

         17  Obviously, one concern in making this transition is

         18  the existence of a natural gas fueling

         19  infrastructure. Let me assure you that much of this

         20  infrastructure is already in place and there are

         21  means in which, as Mr. Glover has suggested, other

         22  ways in which to get additional infrastructuring.

         23                 Fueling systems for natural gas are

         24  connected to the same underground network of pipes

         25  that safely and reliably bring natural gas to all
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          2  our homes, offices and businesses. With more than

          3  100 years experience, KeySpan has the skills and the

          4  resources to work with the City agencies to expand

          5  the infrastructure as needed.

          6                 KeySpan has for many years supported

          7  the national natural-gas vehicle industry, and

          8  especially the deployment of natural gas vehicles

          9  here in New York City. We've worked with federal and

         10  local agencies and legislators, automobile

         11  manufacturers, and private fleet operators to

         12  encourage the use of natural gas vehicles. We lead

         13  by example - more than 1,300 of our vehicles in our

         14  fleet are powered by natural gas.

         15                 As part of our effort to promote the

         16  use of natural gas vehicles, KeySpan has designed

         17  and installed a wide variety of fueling stations and

         18  worked with government and private entities,

         19  including the City of New York, the Port Authority,

         20  the Metropolitan Transit Authority, to build natural

         21  gas fueling stations in New York City and on Long

         22  Island.

         23                 At this time, the eight stations

         24  KeySpan operates in New York City provide compressed

         25  natural gas to KeySpan's fleet of vehicles, as well
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          2  as to privately- and publicly-owned vehicles.

          3                 In 2003, KeySpan stations dispensed

          4  over 870,000 gasoline gallon equivalents to New York

          5  City buses and other vehicles. This includes 811,000

          6  gallons of diesel that were displaced at buses at

          7  KeySpan's Triborough Coach Facility.

          8                 We also pumped more than 22,000

          9  diesel gallon equivalents to New York City

         10  Department of Sanitation trucks at our Greenpoint

         11  facility.

         12                 KeySpan is completing capacity and

         13  pressure upgrades at its Canarsie and Greenpoint

         14  facilities, which will significantly increase the

         15  ability of both stations to support outside fleets.

         16                 We're able to quickly and efficiently

         17  -- we will be able to quickly and efficiently fuel

         18  hundreds of trucks and heavy-duty vehicles at these

         19  facilities in the near future.

         20                 KeySpan recently took steps to

         21  provide round-the-clock service at all but one of

         22  its stations in New York City to also make it easier

         23  for CNG customers to refuel.

         24                 KeySpan recently completed the

         25  installation of 150cfm fueling station at New York
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          2  City's DOT location on Flatbush Avenue in Marine

          3  Park.

          4                 I should also mention KeySpan's

          5  willingness to participate in innovative programs

          6  that have the potential to reduce America's

          7  dependence on fuels, while also improving air

          8  quality and bringing renewable aspects into the

          9  project.

         10                 In California in a program they took

         11  Sanitation trucks that used the landfill gas to fuel

         12  as well. We could pursue that possibility of

         13  implementing a similar program here, which would

         14  also support the City's efforts for energy

         15  sustainability.

         16                 Fleets can make a cost-effective

         17  transition to natural gas by taking advantage of

         18  funding sources for alternative-fuel vehicle

         19  programs, including CMAC, NYSERDA, and USDOE State

         20  Energy Programs, as well as private fleets utilizing

         21  the New York State tax incentives.

         22                 The exhaust from petroleum-fueled

         23  vehicles poses serious health risks, and costs, for

         24  the citizens of New York City. It is equally clear

         25  that there are healthier, cost effective
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          2  alternatives to gasoline and diesel fuel. By

          3  replacing diesel trucks with healthier modes of

          4  transportation, such as vehicles powered by natural

          5  gas, we can significantly improve the quality of our

          6  air. Doing so would also be good for our nation's

          7  energy security and our health.

          8                 At a recent New York City Clean

          9  Cities Coalition meeting, a member of NIMTEX

         10  (phonetic) stated that New York City air basin has

         11  failed to meet their air quality improvement

         12  targets. And although positive steps have been taken

         13  to clean up City's fleets, it's clear not enough has

         14  been done. And natural gas is inherently a cleaner

         15  fuel and a domestic fuel.

         16                 When you weigh all the factors and

         17  costs associated with our dependence on foreign

         18  fuel, it's imperative that as a nation and as a City

         19  we take steps to curtail our dependency on foreign

         20  fuel. It will take the efforts of both the private

         21  and public sector, and I applaud the City Council

         22  for taking steps which will improve our air quality,

         23  increase the use of domestic fuel sources.

         24                 Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you. Thank
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          2  you, both. I'm a big supporter of natural gas and

          3  it's widespread use for all of the reasons that you

          4  so ably articulated. I know that Mr. Glover, you met

          5  with staff to the Committee, we appreciate hearing

          6  more from you --

          7                 MR. GLOVER: Yes, I'm going to follow

          8  up.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: -- On the things

         10  that you have to bring to the City.

         11                 And John, I want you to say hi to Tom

         12  --

         13                 MR. RATHBUN: DeJasu (phonetic).

         14                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: -- DeJasu

         15  (phonetic). I trip over his name sometimes. But

         16  please give him my best.

         17                 MR. RATHBUN: Okay, thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: With regard to,

         19  I can't read my counsel's writing sometimes. With

         20  regard to supply in the region, the millennium

         21  pipeline, could you give us some insight on that.

         22                 MR. RATHBUN: Yes. Right now the

         23  amount of gas being used in the transportation

         24  sector represents a very small percentage of the

         25  overall throughput for KeySpan. We've got adequate
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          2  supplies and adequate pipelines coming into the

          3  area, and, in fact, we're working to bring a third

          4  supply that would bring gas from the Sable Island

          5  basin off the coast of Massachusetts that would

          6  bring gas into this area. So, we feel that

          7  increasing the volumes that we're talking about for

          8  the sanitation and other vehicles, won't have an

          9  impact on our system.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Great. Great.

         11  Okay. Thank you, both. W appreciate you being here,

         12  and we look forward to hearing more from you as we

         13  go forward.

         14                 MR. GLOVER: Thank you.

         15                 MR. RATHBUN: Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay, the next

         17  panel, Juliet Burdelski of INFORM, and Jason Babbie

         18  of NYPIRG. To be followed by Jeff Elmer.

         19                 Okay, thanks for coming. Donna is

         20  going to swear you in, then we can proceed.

         21                 MS. DeCOSTANZO: Please raise your

         22  right hand.

         23                 In the testimony that you're about to

         24  give, do you swear or affirm to tell the truth, the

         25  whole truth and nothing but the truth?
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          2                 (Witnesses sworn.)

          3                 MS. DeCOSTANZO: Thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay, Juliet.

          5  You're not going to read the whole thing, are you?

          6                 MS. BURDELSKI: No.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay. I got

          8  worried for a second.

          9                 Okay, if you could just state your

         10  name for the record and proceed, that would be

         11  great.

         12                 MS. BURDELSKI: Good afternoon. I'm

         13  Juliet Burdelski, Project Consultant for INFORM's

         14  Sustainable Transportation Program. INFORM is a

         15  national non-profit organization that identifies

         16  practical ways of doing business that are also

         17  environmentally sustainable.

         18                 I'm here today primarily to talk

         19  about Intro. 414. In 2003 our organization INFORM

         20  completed a comprehensive study of CNG use in the

         21  refuse truck market, and based on our research and

         22  over ten years of experience in researching

         23  alternative fuel vehicle technologies, we know that

         24  the increased use of CNG refuse trucks makes sense

         25  for New York City and here's why:
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          2                 First of all, refuse trucks are the

          3  right vehicles to target for use of CNG. CNG refuse

          4  trucks emit much less pollution than diesel refuse

          5  trucks.

          6                 Our analysis of 19 fleets nationwide

          7  from around the country that collected emission data

          8  found their natural gas power trucks emitted 67 to

          9  94 percent less particulate matter, 32 to 73 percent

         10  less NOx and 69 to 83 percent less non-methane

         11  hydrocarbons than their existing diesel-powered

         12  trucks.

         13                 Based on the new EPA certification

         14  level, new natural gas refuse trucks today emit 50

         15  percent less NOx than even the most advanced diesel

         16  trucks.

         17                 Natural gas vehicles are also 98

         18  percent quieter than diesel vehicles, a significant

         19  benefit for refuse trucks when operating in

         20  residential neighborhoods.

         21                 Many makes and models of natural gas

         22  refuse trucks are available, including natural gas

         23  engines from Cummins-Westport and John Deere,

         24  designed into vehicles made by Crane Carrier, Mack,

         25  Volvo/Autocar and many others which with large scale

                                                            204

          1  ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AND EDUCATION

          2  purchases the Department of Sanitation should be

          3  able to bring their prices for natural gas vehicles,

          4  at least on par, at competitive levels with the

          5  newest diesel engine.

          6                 Again, as Rich Kassel indicated, we

          7  have some concerns with the increase of use of ultra

          8  low sulfur diesel exclusively in this vehicle

          9  sector, because we have found that the newest diesel

         10  trucks equipped with the advance pollution control

         11  equipment, has not demonstrated the emission levels

         12  of natural gas vehicles.

         13                 How much cleaner these vehicles will

         14  be in the future is not clear. This is because the

         15  refuse trucks we know operate at slower speeds, have

         16  more frequent stops and starts than most other

         17  vehicles.

         18                 This operation pattern is not

         19  affected by the natural gas. However, with the

         20  diesel after-market control treatments, it is a

         21  concern.

         22                 Second, my main point is other

         23  jurisdictions in the country and throughout the

         24  world have proven that refuse trucks are a good

         25  application for natural gas technology.
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          2                 Today over 1,500 natural gas powered

          3  refuse trucks are already in service in 35 cities

          4  and towns in the US, 500 more trucks are already on

          5  order this year nationwide. This is double the

          6  number just 18 months ago.

          7                 Natural gas refuse trucks are also in

          8  operation throughout the world, in places like

          9  Paris, France, which just ordered 78 natural gas

         10  trucks, and 300 more plan for purchase in 2006.

         11                 Thirdly, we know that mandating a

         12  percentage of the fleet is the right way to

         13  jumpstart a natural gas vehicle program. Local Law 6

         14  of 1991 contain mandates that have been successful

         15  in converting a significant portion of the DOT

         16  private bus fleet to CNG.

         17                 The Local Law 6 mandates has resulted

         18  in the purchase of 354 CNG powered transit buses by

         19  the City Department of Transportation private

         20  fleets. Out of a fleet of 1,291 buses this

         21  represents 28 percent of the fleet which now runs on

         22  natural gas.

         23                 Now that the DOT fleet is being

         24  turned over to the MTA, the Department of Sanitation

         25  fleet becomes the City's largest on-road
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          2  diesel-powered fleet. Currently only one percent of

          3  the Department of Sanitation refuse trucks, that's

          4  only 26 vehicles out of a total of over 2,500 refuse

          5  trucks operates on compressed natural gas, and we

          6  have been told that the Department of Sanitation has

          7  no plans to expand its natural gas refuse truck

          8  fleet.

          9                 Finally, it is the right time to be

         10  purchasing natural gas refuse trucks. There is

         11  existing funding out there to do it.

         12                 We've been told that $72 million of

         13  new funding will be available to the City to

         14  purchase new natural gas vehicles and refueling

         15  infrastructure as a part of the new federal

         16  transportation appropriations bill over the next

         17  four years.

         18                 Funding is already available for

         19  private and municipal fleets to use compressed

         20  natural gas. That's why we also feel that private

         21  fleets may be a viable target for natural gas

         22  vehicle use as well under bill 416.

         23                 As was discussed, the New York,

         24  Connecticut, New Jersey metropolitan region is in

         25  violation of USEPA's NOx standard, and must develop
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          2  an attainment plan by October 2005. Deployment in

          3  New York City of clean fuel vehicles is one of only

          4  three strategies in addition to traffic

          5  signalization and ride-sharing that the region has

          6  for reducing significant levels of NOx from the

          7  transportation sector.

          8                 No other City-owned fleet, besides

          9  Transit buses, has the potential to significantly

         10  reduce NOx levels.

         11                 Failure to develop this plan may

         12  result in the loss of $4 billion. That's $4 billion

         13  in State and federal funds for transportation

         14  projects in New York State alone.

         15                 This makes a plan that can be counted

         16  on to reduce NOx in significant quantities crucial.

         17                 We know that a successful gas vehicle

         18  program requires refueling infrastructure and

         19  planning. This we know. A review of existing and

         20  plan natural gas stations just in three areas, in

         21  Brooklyn, Canarsie and the new station Department of

         22  Sanitation is building in Woodside Avenue in Queens,

         23  we show that the Department of Sanitation today

         24  could purchase at least 200 new natural gas vehicles

         25  without further investment and infrastructure, so
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          2  they could do more today without adding those costs.

          3                 And then on top of that, a mandate

          4  ensuring that the vehicles will be there, gives

          5  refueling infrastructure builders the confidence to

          6  invest in new CNG stations.

          7                 Again, we encourage the City of New

          8  York to pass Intro. 414, and also recommend the

          9  adding the option of compressed natural gas, Intro.

         10  416, that would cover private contractors.

         11                 Again, thank you for the opportunity

         12  to speak today, and we look forward to answering any

         13  questions either today or following the hearing.

         14  Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you,

         16  Juliet.

         17                 Jason.

         18                 MR. BABBIE: Good afternoon. My name

         19  is Jason Babbie. I'm the Environmental Policy

         20  Analyst for the New York Public Interest Research

         21  Group, NYPIRG state's largest environmental consumer

         22  organization with its headquarters here in Lower

         23  Manhattan.

         24                 I would like to thank the Chairman

         25  for the opportunity to speak on the full package of
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          2  bills, Intro. 414, 415, 416, 417 and 428.

          3                 I have pretty brief written

          4  testimony, but I'm going to make my verbal even

          5  briefer. You've sat through many, many hours of

          6  testimony.

          7                 You've heard on the technology end of

          8  what's doable and some on the environmental end of

          9  why we need it. I want to sort of underscore that.

         10                 New York City, as you're well aware,

         11  has a very big smog and soot problem. In fact,

         12  NYPIRG is releasing a Clear The Air Report today

         13  called, "Danger In The Air: Unhealthy Levels of

         14  Pollution in 2003," which found Manhattan and New

         15  York City had a very serious problem.

         16                 In 2003 the New York City area ranked

         17  fourth for major cities with bad air because of

         18  particulate matter, and seventh among major cities

         19  for ozone smog.

         20                 There were 21 days last year where

         21  EPA determined the air was unhealthy to breath. And

         22  two, when it said it was unhealthy to breathe,

         23  because of ozone smog.

         24                 Obviously certain populations are

         25  more susceptible than others. The young, the
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          2  elderly, asthmatics, are on top of the list. Power

          3  plants and vehicles are the two main sources of this

          4  pollution, and this obviously addresses diesel

          5  vehicles, which are particularly problematic,

          6  because they produce far more harmful particulate

          7  pollution than gasoline engines.

          8                 In another report that was released

          9  in June of 2004 called "Dirty Air, Dirty Power:

         10  Mortality and Health Damage Due To Air Pollution in

         11  Power Plants," showed that power plant pollution

         12  alone for ozone and soot caused 1,000 premature

         13  deaths, 2,000 heart attacks, 1,000 cases of lung

         14  cancer, 5,000 asthma attacks in New York City area

         15  residents alone.

         16                 Obviously pollution from vehicles is

         17  adding onto that and it's very much in their street

         18  level. This package of legislation, the great first

         19  step in addressing these very serious concerns, the

         20  public health is obviously the primary, our primary

         21  concern.

         22                 Also, with 414 and trying to tackle

         23  carbon dioxide emissions from New York City's fleet

         24  is a great way for the City to be setting an

         25  example. We're obviously not seeing leadership on
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          2  the federal level on global warming, and there is

          3  some lumbering leadership, or slowly moving

          4  leadership on the State level. It's time for the

          5  nation's largest and top City to really show them

          6  all, you know, the best way to go. And thank you for

          7  the opportunity to testify here today.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you,

          9  Jason. Well put. Well put. We thank you for all of

         10  your hard work, and all of your consistent work and

         11  your great partnership effort, partnership with this

         12  Committee, we greatly appreciate that, and we're

         13  going to need your help on this one. So we thank

         14  you. We thank you for that.

         15                 Juliet, a pleasure to have folks from

         16  INFORM involved. And we know how helpful you've been

         17  in your long advocacy on CNG, going back to Canon

         18  and all that. Is he still hanging out with you guys?

         19  Okay. So, please give my best to Joanna and all of

         20  the folks at INFORM. Okay. Appreciate having you

         21  here with us. Thank you.

         22                 And Jeff, Jeff Elmer.

         23                 MR. ELMER: Say when.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Jeff, thanks for

         25  coming. You get our --
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          2                 MR. ELMER: Best for last.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: You get our

          4  patience award.

          5                 MR. ELMER: Easier to sit in the back

          6  of the room than in the front.

          7                 Donna will do the honors and then we

          8  can proceed.

          9                 MS. DeCOSTANZO: Please raise your

         10  right hand.

         11                 In the testimony that you're about to

         12  give, do you swear or affirm to tell the truth, the

         13  whole truth and nothing but the truth?

         14                 MR. ELMER: Yes.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you. Thank

         16  you.

         17                 MR. ELMER: Okay.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: And we do call

         19  you forward. But you really wanted that best to last

         20  award.

         21                 MR. ELMER: I wanted the last slot.

         22  This is where I wanted to be today.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay. Give us

         24  your best shot.

         25                 MR. ELMER: I'm sure that there's
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          2  nothing I can say that hasn't been said by somebody

          3  in all these hours, but the General Contractors

          4  Association, as you know, represents the heavy

          5  construction industry. We're very pleased to have

          6  the opportunity to work with the City Council, the

          7  Administration, DEP and the leading environmental

          8  groups on this important effort to reduce air

          9  pollutants, as we worked with you guys last year.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Right.

         11                 MR. ELMER: Our members and employees

         12  are more impacted by pollution than anyone else, and

         13  minimizing diesel emissions is a very important goal

         14  for all of us.

         15                 We commend the Committee for

         16  continuing the efforts to address the issue of air

         17  pollution in the five boroughs, but there are some

         18  important issues we think should be considered

         19  before new bills are finalized and enacted.

         20                 We also think there may be some other

         21  measures the Council could take that would result in

         22  even greater diesel emissions reductions.

         23                 During construction jobs, contractors

         24  must dispose of excess concrete waste materials,

         25  debris, asphalt millings and other items. Many of
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          2  these jobs are done on behalf of City agencies, and

          3  it's not clear to us whether this proposed law

          4  includes the trucks and equipment used to haul away

          5  and dispose of this waste, since waste and

          6  recyclable handling is usually part of the overall

          7  contract for the construction project, and is

          8  usually not done under a separate contract with the

          9  City, and we think this should be clarified before

         10  the legislation moves forward.

         11                 Before enacting this law, the Council

         12  should also be aware of the true cost of a Citywide

         13  commitment to ultra low sulfur diesel.

         14                 I apologize. I think I lost part of

         15  my place over here.

         16                 Anyway, the contractors who are

         17  currently using ultra low sulfur diesel in this

         18  marketplace tell us that it costs up to 50 cents per

         19  gallon more than regular diesel, and this expense,

         20  of course, gets passed on to taxpayers. And at this

         21  point in time, Sprague, my friend Steve over here,

         22  is the only distributor of ultra low sulfur diesel

         23  that's really active in the City area. They have

         24  real competition in this marketplace.

         25                 The proposed retrofits are also
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          2  costly, and this expense also will be passed on to

          3  consumers in businesses in the five boroughs.

          4                 Equally important, the Council has to

          5  be aware of the practical considerations when

          6  thinking about this law, and I'm now talking about

          7  Local Law 416, the proposed law that would affect

          8  the waste and recycling industries.

          9                 There is a chain of custody for waste

         10  generated at City construction sites. In most cases,

         11  contractors working for a City agency will dispose

         12  of their own waste, or excess concrete, or fill

         13  materials or recyclables, or they'll subcontract

         14  with a carting company scrap dealer to pick up the

         15  debris generated from a construction site.

         16                 These are often small companies with

         17  just a few trucks or a mix of clients. These carters

         18  and recyclers will then haul their waste to transfer

         19  stations and recycling plants that handle the waste

         20  from a variety of customers.

         21                 Many of these transfer stations are

         22  small. Waste handling equipment at these transfer

         23  stations is used to compact the waste materials for

         24  transport.

         25                 Usually the stuff is then picked up
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          2  by the long-haul truckers based in other states to

          3  dispose of the waste in landfills in places like

          4  Virginia. Concrete recyclable commodities go to

          5  mills overseas or here, and concrete and fill

          6  material is usually reused locally.

          7                 It's simply not realistic to expect

          8  the contractors working for the City of New York to

          9  monitor whether the truckers at the construction

         10  site, the waste handlers at the transfer station,

         11  and the truckers who take their waste out of state,

         12  have retrofitted their engines and are using ultra

         13  low sulfur diesel.

         14                 Furthermore, it's not practical to

         15  expect all these companies to equip their trucks and

         16  off-road equipment with additional pollution

         17  prevention devices, and use ultra low sulfur diesel

         18  in order to comply with the mandates that it's only

         19  applicable to the agencies of the City of New York.

         20                 The independent truckers that are

         21  based in places like Virginia, may not be able to

         22  purchase ultra low sulfur diesel in those places.

         23  The supply is limited in many places around the

         24  country. All the private transfer stations that

         25  handle waste generated from a variety of sources,
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          2  it's my belief that if this law is enacted and

          3  enforced as it stands today, as written, the vast

          4  majority of trucking companies and transfer stations

          5  would simply refuse to handle solid waste and

          6  recyclable materials generated by City agencies and

          7  their contractors rather than comply.

          8                 Every person, company, institution

          9  and construction site in New York City generates

         10  waste so there's more than enough business to go

         11  around, even without the waste generated by City

         12  agencies.

         13                 If the Council still desires to pass

         14  a version of this law, Intro. 416, we have some

         15  recommendations for your consideration, and I'll try

         16  to be brief.

         17                 First and foremost, it can't be the

         18  responsibility of the contractor to ensure

         19  compliance by subcontractors, haulers, transfer

         20  stations and truckers.

         21                 Second, the law should be phased in

         22  over a reasonable period of time, as was Local Law

         23  77.

         24                 The low sulfur mandate can and should

         25  begin relatively quickly. You get a substantial bang
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          2  for your buck by simply requiring the switch. The

          3  retrofit requirement should be phased in over a long

          4  period of time.

          5                 The Commissioner of DEP, as we

          6  already know, is going to need far more than 90 days

          7  to promulgate reasonable rules as some type of

          8  retrofit technology that's appropriate and the

          9  emissions targets to be attained.

         10                 One compromise might be to require

         11  the retrofit after June of 2006, when the first of

         12  DEP requirements for 15 parts per million standard

         13  goes into -- for on-road vehicles goes into effect.

         14                 One more important item. If the

         15  Council passes the version of this bill, please

         16  include a requirement that DEP form an advisory

         17  board to Council and make recommendations to the

         18  Commissioner as to the best available technology for

         19  retrofitting the engines.

         20                 The Committee would include

         21  representatives from the waste industry, the

         22  construction industry, the truckers, environmental

         23  groups, equipment dealers.

         24                 This provision was not included in

         25  the final version of Local Law 77. And as a result
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          2  of that, after meeting with us just once, the DEP

          3  promulgated rules earlier this year that were

          4  problematic at best and totally unacceptable to the

          5  other City agencies and the construction industry.

          6                 The Local Law 77 rules are still not

          7  fully in place today. Let's not make the same

          8  mistake twice. Let's make sure that in this version

          9  of the bill that there's a formal advisory role for

         10  the industries affected by this legislation.

         11                 A final note. There are still some

         12  other non-road engines that spew a lot of pollution

         13  that are still not covered by any proposed

         14  legislation on the table today.

         15                 In Lower Manhattan, for instance,

         16  there is still the server farms, the primary engines

         17  for office buildings, back-up generators at area

         18  hospitals, utilities and municipal facilities, such

         19  as sewage treatment plants, and One Police Plaza.

         20                 When the back-up generators are

         21  tested weekly, they literally blackout the sky with

         22  dirty smoke and soot.

         23                 To further cut the emissions, we

         24  think the City Council should include these non-road

         25  engines in future legislation, as was promised last
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          2  year. This could dramatically improve air quality

          3  and help us all breathe a little bit easier.

          4                 On that note, I thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you, Jeff.

          6  We appreciate it. You went through it quickly, but

          7  we could hear everything that you said.

          8                 I also took to heart your comments

          9  about the advisory committee, and like the rule

         10  making, because that's really where the rubber hits

         11  the road, if I could ponder something.

         12                 MR. ELMER: The devil is in the

         13  details.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: And it's

         15  critical that we don't drop the ball at that stage,

         16  because, you know, that's such a critical aspect of

         17  this. If we're not considering all of the

         18  stakeholders in rule making, we're going to run into

         19  problems.

         20                 MR. ELMER: Okay.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: So we appreciate

         22  all of your good remarks and your ongoing

         23  partnership as we go forward.

         24                 Yes, and all of your great help on

         25  Local Law 77, which was a terrific -- it was just a
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          2  great collaboration.

          3                 MR. ELMER: Thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: And we do

          5  appreciate that.

          6                 MR. ELMER: Okay.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: So, Jeff,

          8  thanks. And give our best -- oh, and I have to say

          9  that we have written testimony that was submitted

         10  for the record by Peter Smith, President of NYSERDA,

         11  and by Engine Manufacturers Association, and also a

         12  statement by Lillian Roberts, Director of DC 37. And

         13  give our best to Frank. And thanks a lot, and with

         14  no other witnesses to be heard, this hearing is

         15  adjourned.

         16                 (Hearing concluded at 2:45 p.m.)
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